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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE” AND “GEM”,
RESPECTIVELY)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors”) of Icon Culture
Global Company Limited (the “Company’, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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Company Information (continued)

NEER ()

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Rooms 1007-1012 10/F.
K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road
North Point, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong laws
Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

As to the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC’) laws
Tahota (Shenzhen) Law Firm

REGISTERED OFFICE

Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman
KY1-9009, Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

601, R&F YINGXIN BUILDING
NO. 28 HUAXIA RD.

Zhujiang New Town

Tianhe District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province, the PRC
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

1701, 17/F, Wai Fung Plaza,
664 Nathan Road, Mongkok,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman
KY1-9009, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
21038, 21/F, 148 Electric Road
North Point, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of China

Agricultural Bank of China
CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited
COMPANY’S WEBSITE
http://www.iconspace.com/
LISTING INFORMATION
Place of Listing

GEM of the Stock Exchange
Stock Code

8500

Board Lot

10,000 Shares
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

2024 2023 Change
20244 20234F 8
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
ARBTRT AR®ETT %
(restated)
(F&E7)
Revenue Yo za 21,948 25424 (13.7%)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(48) N/A
(2,155) 4,164 TiE A
Loss for the year attributable to  ZN /A &) # 25 A% B B/ F A
equity shareholders of the E18
Company (17,814) (84,647) 79.0%

Revenue for 2024 (RMB’000)
20242 (AR®TT)

PR, marketing campaigns
and other services
DA~ 1TEEE
REABRY
7,202

32.8% \

Online media
advertising
services

LK
EER

3,843
17.5%
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Traditional offline
media advertising
services
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Revenue for 2023(RMB’000)
2023F Wam (AREETF L)

Public relation (“PR”),
marketing campaigns
and other services

Traditional offline
media advertising
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INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2024, China’'s development faces a grim situation of great
external pressure and numerous internal difficulties. The Chinese
economy is on the whole stable and making steady progress.
Public sector consumption and investment support the Chinese
economy, promote the release of consumption potential in the
domestic market, and replace old with new policies to help the
consumer market continue to recover, and continue to recover
consumption potential. The growth rate of service consumption
is faster than that of commodity consumption, the rapid recovery
of catering and cultural tourism consumption, the continuous
upgrading of consumption structure, and the new urbanization,
green and digital development are also helping unleash the
potential of domestic aggregate demand. The Chinese economy
has an important foundation and favorable conditions to cope
with the impact of external uncertainties and achieve sustained
growth. In 2024, the annual GDP growth 4.9%, compared with
the year-on-year GDP growth of 5.2% in 2023, China’s economy in
2024 is stably reversing.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

EREHE ()

In 2024, China's economy will recover steadily, and the advertising
market will show strong adaptability and resilience based on
changes in the macro environment. While the economy is
recovering well, advertisers are looking forward to a higher
certainty and a clearer direction for future development.
According to the CCTV Market Research (CTR) research report,
advertisers pay high attention to the external environment, but
the influence is weak, and they are more able to control their own
business conditions, so advertisers are through active internal
measures to achieve resilient development. (1) The market scale
of brand marketing industry continues to grow. According to the
First Leopard Research Institute, in 2024, China’s overall brand
marketing consulting market size is about 54.58 billion yuan,
an increase of 6.21% compared with 2023; (2) Brand building
progresses from barbaric growth to content construction stage.
With the increasing emphasis of advertisers on their own brand
building, as well as the accelerated penetration of the Internet
and social media, the diversification and personalized trend
of consumer demand, brand building is gradually rational,
driving advertisers to pay more attention to brand building; (3)
Technology upgrade helps brand marketing model change. With
the implementation of "new quality productivity”, nearly 80% of
advertisers are expected to apply AIGC, and the penetration rate of
AIGC in marketing activities in 2024 increased by 9.3% compared
with 2023, reaching 78.9%. In the overall brand marketing
industry, the mode of pure human creation and delivery has
gradually developed from the past to the mode of “human +AIGC"
combination. Achieve productivity innovation.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an integrated multimedia advertising and marketing
service provider based in Guangzhou, the PRC, providing
advertising and marketing solutions to our brand customers.
Services we provide include (i) traditional offline media, including
Out-of-home ("“OOH") and indoor media platforms; (ii) online
media, including web portals, e-commerce platforms and social
seeding platforms; and (iii) integrated multimedia platforms,
including creative design, public relations, campaigns and
other services. We focus on offering our clients services such as
developing marketing and advertising strategies, identifying and
sourcing the most appropriate advertising resources and delivery
formats, and providing integrated marketing and full operation
in order to maximise the effectiveness of brand and product
promotion for our clients, while at the same time, to facilitate our
clients to realise a complete closed-loop promotion from brand
awareness, marketing effectiveness to product sales volume and
digital empowerment.

2024 is a year full of opportunities, as the overall economic
environment continues to innovate with productivity, providing
our group with more business choices. As of the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2024 (the “Year”), the Group achieved a revenue
of approximately RMB21.9 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 13.7% compared to 2023. This year, we achieved
a net loss of approximately RMB17.8 million (2023: net loss of
approximately RMB84.6 million). The increase in net income is
mainly due to the extent of the loss has narrowed compared to
2023.

Chairman’s Statement (continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

EREHE ()

In the current market situation, customer marketing budgets are
increasingly inclined towards performance-based advertising,
and traditional media advertising marketing services are being
impacted; In this context, the company has firmly committed
to the direction of transformation and continued to expand
into the Internet and new marketing services. Based on a
deep understanding of live streaming e-commerce and new
media operations, the company has successfully achieved a
new breakthrough in business development. By continuously
innovating business forms, the company’s business scale has
significantly increased. The company has always insisted on serving
customers with quality and expanding its reputation by virtue of its
good reputation. Now, it has reached a full case cooperation with
many scale customers. In terms of Internet marketing, precision
advertising, brand building and event execution, the company
has won high recognition from customers with its professional
strength. Its good reputation has been widely spread in the
industry. The specific cooperation is as follows:

In Internet marketing, the company carefully adjusts and
optimizes the customer’s official website and related
information, so that the customer’s ranking in the natural
search engine is improved, and a large number of users
are attracted to click and browse the customer’s website.
For customers to bring more potential customer resources,
but also through the company’s professional operation, the
successful realization of Internet marketing, help customers
stand out in the competitive market environment, to
achieve business expansion and breakthrough.

ii. In advertising, the company adopts multi-dimensional
strategy, conducts in-depth research on market conditions,
understands the characteristics of customers’ products, uses
big data technology to analyze the key data of the target
group’s browsing in related products, and makes in-depth
analysis, and carries out product advertising through the
target group'’s favorite media channels. At the same time,
the platform’s targeted delivery function is used. Accurately
reach the target audience from multiple dimensions such
as geography and behavior, and greatly improve the
advertising effect and conversion rate.
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In brand building and activity execution, the company
deeply explores the core value of customers’ brands,
combines market research and its own advantages, and
uses social media, offline and online advertising and
other channels to output a unified image around brand
positioning; In the execution of the activity, pay attention to
the details of the activity, accurately control the preferences
of the target audience before the execution of the activity
to ensure smooth experience. After the end of the activity,
timely review and optimize the follow-up activities to
achieve a double harvest of brand building and the effect
of the activity.

This year, the company established a strategic partnership with
the state-owned media “China Industry News” to create the
“Cultural Tourism Development Research Center” (referred to as
“Zhonggong Cultural Tourism”), expanding the development
space of the industrial cultural tourism industry. In addition, the
company has won honors such as “2024 New Quality Productivity
Organization Governance Benchmark Case” and “Top 100 China

Digital Economy Industrial Parks".

Chairman’s Statement (continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

EREHE ()

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2025, with the steady recovery of the macro
market, the recovery of consumption will accelerate significantly.
Under the strong support of the central financial policy, the
company has fully prepared to strengthen cash management,
optimize capital allocation, and improve cash operation efficiency;
In-depth implementation of the market user portrait, control the
advantages and disadvantages of diversified channels, to provide
customers with multi-angle and all-round demand solutions,
improve the company’s market position and achieve revenue
growth; Learn the smart production mode, strengthen the
application of new productivity such as AIGC, deeply integrate
customer needs, improve production efficiency, and ensure the
strong momentum of sustainable development of the company.
Specific strategies cover the following aspects:

Strengthen core capabilities to achieve fine management
of customer needs. The company will deeply integrate
into the user market, comprehensively analyze market
data, accurately insight into market trends, and provide
customers with more professional and detailed advertising
strategy advice. Relying on the company’s deep advertising
cognition, help customers innovate marketing models,
promote the return of product value, and effectively
improve customer performance. The success of customers
will further feed back the company’s brand image, attract
more high-quality customer resources, and improve the
company’s overall income level.

ii. Implement multiple channel layout, personalized to solve
customer needs. The company will be based on the
existing advertising channel resources, accurately identify
the characteristics of each channel, according to the actual
needs of different customers, to build a diversified channel
delivery strategy. Deeply assist customers to analyze each
channel and user characteristics, widely listen to the voice
of customers, channels and users, actively integrate online
and offline resources, from the actual consumer, to provide
customers with accurate personalized solutions, effectively
meet user needs, and comprehensively enhance the
product competitiveness of customer brands.
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iil. Strengthen AIGC technology learning and application,
enhance the company’s creativity. The company will
continue to increase its investment in learning AIGC
technology and apply it widely in business processes
to significantly improve production efficiency for
standardization needs. By strengthening the external
information processing ability, timely response to the
dynamic changes in user mentality, cognition and
behavior, to provide customers with more targeted and
rich marketing content. In this way, the content marketing
strategy can be effectively implemented to help customers
achieve brand differentiation, deepen the emotional
connection with consumers, and enhance users’ brand
loyalty to customers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to strive to provide
comprehensive marketing solutions to our customers and adopt
a prudent and proactive business approach in the hope of
generating satisfactory returns and profits for the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”). | would like to take this
opportunity to express my deepest gratitude to all Shareholders,
customers and business partners for their trust and support, and to
the directors, management and all staffs for their loyal service and
dedication.

Mr. Chen Zongxian
Chairman
20 May 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREF WD

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
During the Year, the Group’s revenue amounted to RMB21.9

million, representing a decreased of 13.7% (2023: RMB25.4 million).
Revenue disaggregated by major service lines is set as below:

Bt 75 1o R
W =
RAFE  AEENRAEESARE29

BEJTT BA137% (2023F : AR®254
BET) - WHLZ T ERBENDHIWT

2024 2023 Change 2024 2023
20245 20235 & 20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000 % % %
AR®TR AR®ETR

Traditional offline media advertising 24T 4¢ T 188 & & IR 75
services 10,903 16,915 -355 49.7 66.5
Online media advertising services 43 _F 188 4 IR 7% 3,843 5,601 314 17.5 220

PR, marketing campaigns and other ‘A~ & BB R E
services PR7% 7,202 2,908 1477 32.8 15
Total A 21,948 25424 137 100.0 100.0

Traditional offline media advertising EHRETHEES

The Group's traditional offline media advertising services include
the provision of advertising service in public transportation station
and hubs (including airports, high speed railways, subways and
buses, etc), flat panels and LCD/LED displays in shopping malls,
commercial buildings and housing estates.

As the development of macro-economic slowed down, a majority
of brand customers cut their marketing budget during the Year.
Therefore, the revenue of traditional offline media advertising
services has decreased by 35.5% compared to 2023 to RMB10.9
million.
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Online media advertising services

Revenue from online media advertising services mainly consisted
of services that placed advertisements on multiple online
platforms, while revenue from this segment for the year mainly
consisted of social media seeding services.

In this fiscal year, the revenue from online media advertising
services decreased by RMB1.8 million to RMB3.8 million compared
to 2023, a decrease of 31.4%. The decrease is mainly due to the
company’s expansion of its large customer resources, which have
high demands for offline activities, resulting in a reduction in
online media advertising services.

PR, marketing campaigns and other services

Public relations, marketing activities, and other services include
developing strategies, devising advertising solutions, coordinating
with media platforms, and organizing and executing marketing
activities. The revenue of this division increased by RMB4.3 million
from RMB2.9 million in 2023 to RMB7.2 million in 2024.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales for this year is approximately RMB24.1 million
(2023: RMB21.3 million). The increase was mainly resulted from the
increase in cost of marketing campaigns and other services.
Gross profit

The gross loss for this year is RMB2.2 million (2023: gross profit of

RMB4.2 million). Gross loss margin amounted to approximately
9.8% for the Year (2023: gross profit margin of 16.4%).

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENRED (&)

Other revenue

The other income for this year is approximately RMBO0.2 million
(2023: RMBO0.6 million). Other revenue for the Year mainly consisted
of government grants of approximately RMB0.02 million (2023:
RMBO.4 million).

Selling expenses

The sales expenses for this year are approximately RMB2.2 million
(2023: RMB4.3 million).

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses for this year are approximately RMB9.1
million (2023: RMB8.6 million).

Finance costs

The financial expenses for this year are approximately RMBO.2
million (2023: RMBO0.9 million). Financial expenses mainly include
interest expenses of approximately RMBO0.1 million (2023: RMBO0.7
million) on short-term bank loans of the Group.

Income tax

The Group recorded an income tax benefit of approximately
RMBO million for the current year (2023: income tax expenses of
approximately RMB6.9 million). The Group has not recognized
deferred tax assets for cumulative tax losses and cumulative
expected credit losses on trade and other receivables until they
are used to offset future taxable profits (if any) within the next five
years.

(Loss)/Profit for the Year attributable to equity Shareholders
of the Company

The loss attributable to equity shareholders of our company for
the year is RMB17.8 million (2023: loss of RMB84.6 million). The
decrease was mainly because the Group decreased provision of
credit loss allowance in trade and other receivables.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The working capital and other capital needs of our group are
mainly met through cash and bank loans generated from our
operations.

As of December 31, 2024, the net current assets of the Group
were approximately RMB34.2 million (as of December 31, 2023:
net current liabilities of RMB14.3 million), and its liquidity as of
December 31, 2024 (calculated by the current ratio, i.e. current
assets/current liabilities) was 2.4 times (as of December 31, 2023:
0.6 times). Cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
RMB4.1 million (as of December 31, 2023: approximately RMB13.7
million).

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had an outstanding fixed
interest bank loan of RMB4.5 million (as of December 31, 2023:
RMB5.0 million). Therefore, the leverage ratio of the Group
(calculated by dividing bank loans by total equity) is 12.9% (as of
December 31, 2023: 35.0% (as restated)) (i.e. bank loans divided by
total equity).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

This year, there has been a change in the capital structure of our
group. Issue of new shares of 36,000,000 under placing were
issued during the year and issue of new shares under rights issue
of 216,000,000 were issued during the year. The share capital of
the Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company owns 432,000,000 issued
shares (the “Shares”).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment.

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENRED (&)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Saved as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group has pledged accounts
receivable with a book value of RMB12.1 million (2023: RMB5.6
million) as collateral for the Group’s bank borrowings of RMB4.5
million (2023: RMB5.0 million). Except for the above-mentioned,
the Group has not mortgaged any of its assets.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Individual companies within the Group has limited foreign
currency risk as most of the transactions are denominated in the
same currency as the functional currency of the operations in
which they relate. As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of its foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES, JOINT VENTURES AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investments, material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures
and capital assets during the Year.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group currently has no other plan for significant of each
investments and capital assets.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk management measures and risk control and review.
The management is entrusted with duties to identify, analyze,
evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate risks associated with
any activity, function or process within its scope of responsibility
and authority. It endeavours to evaluate and compare the level of
risk against predetermined acceptable level of risk. For risk control
and monitoring, it involves making decisions regarding which
risks are acceptable and how to address those that are not. The
management will develop contingency plans for possible loss
scenarios. Incidents and other situations involving loss or near-loss
will be investigated and properly documented as part of the effort
to manage risks.

Exposure to business risk arises in the normal course of the Group's
business, the business risk the Group may encounter had been
described below:

the Group may not be able to retain or renew the existing
supply of advertising resources or obtain new advertising
resources for the customers, which may lead to loss of
customers and businesses;

i, the expansion from traditional advertising to online
advertising may face tremendous competition;

iil. the customers may delay the settlement of the accounts
receivable, which may result in a certain credit risk;

iv. the customers may decrease its advertising budget due to
the economy slow-down; and

V. the resignation of key persons.

DIVIDEND

The board of the Directors (the “Board”) has resolved not to
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year (2023:
nil).

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
EEENREDN (E)

AREAREREXEEE

AEERKITEABEREARERE
REENETE -

[ By i B

EkeE R B BERRER - RS
R EIRE M ERIES REE - B
EEETHEERBRERENBEANBHA
DM R BY - B REEEAE
B BEESERR T HERBRAR - KB
ity N5 HL B2 38 T A 3% 5 R i 7K S L B
2K e ptERES MEEME  HF
R W e [ [ ] 4 2 K ane] R OR N AR X
R EHIREK - BIREHStE AR R
BRI ERS AR -EREERRTIE
M—8n BEEPRBRAETERX
M ER R EMIERELHE N Z BTFE -

AR E A R0 ST AR E L S KR
$i5aR AEERE N EBER
SR T
AR BTG EERBREF RGN
REER - R BEP BRI
REFR - AT TLSRES R
GEST

i WESKEEMHELESHNERAE
EASPN: S

il F P A RERE IR 45 B IR PTAY R IR X
femiER —EREERR ;

iv.  HEREENE BEPAEERLE
HHRE K

V. EBAEBHMT-

BB

gxe((BEEg2)) DR TEZ MK
FEMRIRKRE (2023F : F) o

2024FFH RALXAIBRREBRERAR 19



Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EERGAEEEBEESR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Liang Wei (%), aged 53, is an executive Director,
chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive Officer’) and the
compliance officer. She joined the Group in June 2017 and is
mainly responsible for the overall strategy implementation,
business development and management of the operations of
the Group. She was appointed as a Director on 31 May 2019 and
re-designated as an executive Director on the same day. She is
currently a director of Icon Media.

Ms. Liang has over 24 years of experience in business
management. From January 1992 to March 1996, she served as
a programmer in China Shipbuilding Industry Corporation 714
Institute* (B fE A EE TR B QA F -+ —MAFFTFT) , where
she was responsible for the construction and maintenance of the
company’s database. From October 1995 to December 2003, she
worked at the strategic marketing department of Yonyou Software
Co., Ltd* (AR B4R BBR A A]). From April 2006 to October
2016, she served as the senior vice president of Visionchina Media
Group Co, Ltd* (ZER FHEE B HFR A 7)) (previously known as
Visionchina Digital Mobile Television Co., Ltd* (ZEAREIFE K& E
/AR A A])), which was a company controlled by Visionchina
Media Inc, a company listed on NASDAQ (NASDAQ ticker: VISN)
and from December 2007 to April 2017, where she was responsible
for the formulation of development strategy, establishment of
sales management system and policies, market analysis, product
promotion, and supervising advertising sales activities in major
sales region. From October 2016 to March 2017, she served as
the vice president of Shanghai Conservation Advertising Co., Ltd.*
(BEETHEESBR AT, where she was responsible for the
formulation of project management system and managing costs
and revenue.

Ms. Liang obtained a master's degree in international business
administration from the University of Northumbria at Newcastle,
United Kingdom in November 2005. She has obtained a
certification of specially invited jury of 2019 Creative International
Innovation Festival and jury of 2020 Effie Awards Greater China.
Ms. Liang was an awarded Person of the Year of E-marketing in the
iResearch Marketing Awards 2020.

¥ Foridentification purpose only
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Liang has not held any directorship
in any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Mr. Liu Biao (ZI4Z), aged 45, is an executive Director. He joined
the Group in July 2009 and is mainly responsible for the overall
business development and sales management of the Group. He
was appointed as a Director on 31 May 2019 and re-designated as
an executive Director on the same day. He is currently a director of
Icon Media.

Mr. Liu has 23 years of experience in sales and business
management in the media industry. From June 2000 to December
2006, he served as sales manager at Guangzhou Aishidai
Advertising Co., Ltd* (BEM T X R ES AR A 7]), where
his duties were developing and implementing efficient sales
network and maintaining customer relationships. From August
2007 to January 2008, he served as the planning manager at Ego
Information Technology Group Co,, Ltd* (N FE & {5 B Bl %
£ B ER A A, where he was responsible for the planning,
organisation and implementation of marketing activities, product
development, analysing sales and market development.

Mr. Liu obtained his diploma in chain management from
Guangzhou Jinrong Specialist College* (& /& Bl Z & 2% ), the
PRC in July 2004.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Liu has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Mr. Yao Tong (#k#8) , aged 35, is an executive Director and
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”). He joined the Group
in January 2024 and is mainly responsible for investment
management of the Group. He obtained a bachelor degree in
management from Beihai college of Beihang University. Previously,
he held senior position in an investment company in China and
was an executive director of Wuxi Life International Holdings
Groups Limited (stock code: 8148) for the period from 7 December
2020 to 27 May 2021. Currently, he is the deputy general manager
of an international trading company in China and is working as a
manager in Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (stock
code: 204). Mr. Yao has experience in investment and international
trading sectors.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

ESNeREEEEEEN (E)

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Yao has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Ms. Li Chi Ying (2K &), aged 55, was appointed as an
executive Director on 9 August 2024 and is mainly responsible for
the business development of the Group. She is currently serving
as the external relations minister of the Dalian Representative
Office of the Shanghai Cooperation Economic and Trade Exchange
Center. Ms. Li has experience in the field of international trade.
She has unique insights into the development of Chinese private
enterprises, internal business management and cultural creation.

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Li has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or/have
been listed on/any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Zongxian (R SR &) , aged 33, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 25 October 2024 and is providing
business advice to the Group. He graduated from the School of
Business, Guizhou University of Finance and Economics*, majoring
in human resources management, with a bachelor’s degree
in management. Mr. Chen has extensive experience in human
resources management and corporate management, served as
director of several companies.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Chen has not held any directorship
in any other public companies the securities of which are or/have
been listed on/any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (FEZ#) , aged 52, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 11 December 2019. She
is responsible for supervising the Group's compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent judgment and
advice to the Group.

¥ Foridentification purpose only
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Ms. Tam has nearly 29 years of experience in the accounting and
finance field. From August 1994 to October 1997, she was an
accountant at DraftWorldwide Ltd, where she was responsible for
managing financial matters. From October 1997 to May 1999, she
also worked as an accountant at Baker Norton Asia Ltd, where she
was mainly responsible for financial matters. From June 1999 to
November 2000, she was a senior accountant at World Pioneer
Ltd, where she was responsible for setting up the accounting
system and managing the accounting functions including
preparation of financial forecasts and management reports, and
performing analysis. From November 2000 to March 2001, she
was the financial accountant and subsequently from March 2001
to October 2003, she served as the finance and administration
manager at Infoserve Technology Hong Kong Ltd, where she was
responsible for the management of finance, administration and
human resources matters. From August 2004 to March 2007, she
was the finance manager and subsequently the group finance
manager at Heal Force Development Limited, where she was
responsible for compliance and management of the group finance
department. From April 2007 to September 2013, she was the
head of compliance and corporate affairs of NetDragon Websoft
(Hong Kong) Limited and the company secretary and authorised
representative of NetDragon Websoft Holdings Limited (previously
known as NetDragon Websoft Inc.), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0777). From October
2013 to February 2014, she was the vice president of management
centre of 91 Wireless Websoft Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Baidu Inc., a company listed on NASDAQ (NASDAQ ticker:
BIDU), where she was responsible for supervising and managing
the finance, legal, human resources, internal control, government
relationship and administration departments. From September
2014 to March 2018, she was an independent non-executive
director and chairlady of the audit committee and member of
the nomination committee of Zhejiang Tengy Environmental
Technology Co., Ltd.,, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1527). On 8 November 2022,
Ms. Tam was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of Meihao Medical Group Co., Ltd (stock code: 1947), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Tam
is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 2002 and a fellow of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2006.

EERGREEEREEN (B

BRTREF LY AR T20F &
B o PA1994F8 A 21997108  MIE(TIR
KMEREERAGINEA BEE
BB ET ° PNM997F10A E1999F5 8
1% JN¥E {FBaker Norton Asia LtdA & TR
FTEAEUBKEE - 199956 H £2000
F11H - HWorld Pioneer LIdIE TSR E
Rl BERUEHEARLER S
B RIEREPBEAREERE I
HEITOHT ° FR20005F 11 A =20014F3 8 » 1§
RELEEAREREBEER A AIEEE
S & st H % MW2001438 £2003%F10A
BEIPBELRITHREE AEEEYHE -
THEHEANDERET - H2004F8A =
200738 BEEHNRERER ARG
KRR HpREITEENBKERE a8
SEFBEHERKER - R2007F4H
E013F98 HIEEWPEETEER LA
WERRARIEBEME  WHEEME
MERIERBR AR (AIEAREREREER
RNE) (—RABRFTER ETHAF] (R
MAREE : 0777)) IR BRI M E RIREREK °
PR20135F 10 E2014F 2 F » R #4548
BERAT (BERMDBRAF (—ER
mEmET EE AR (RETE RS SR -
BDU)) MIZ BB AR EAEEHRLE
wE BEEBEREEME A AN
R - AEZES) - BSBEEAERITERE - B
2014F9 A 22018538 + AV I R RIR
BRERHER AT (—ERERZFER
ETERR (BMHARSR : 1527)) EEEBL
FHRITEES BERZESEIEERERE
BEME - M202F11A8H - EX &
ZEREHEEESERR AR (—HERE
REATER EMHRE (BRMHAKR - 1947))
MBS IENITES - BT H2002F4H
B AEBSSETM AT B KH20065F11
ARKBRTARSTMAENEFEE -

2024FFH RALXAIBRREBRERAR 23



Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

ESNeREEEEEEN (E)

Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor's degree in business accounting from
University of Lincolnshire and Humberside, United Kingdom in
April 2000, and a master's degree in educational counselling from
The Education University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Tam has not held any directorship
in any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Mr. Tian Tao (HH}E), aged 67, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 December 2019. He is responsible
for supervising the Group’s compliance, corporate governance
matters and providing independent judgment and advice to the
Group.

From February 1999 to November 2015, Mr. Tian was the vice
general manager of CVSCTNS Research Co Ltd (R 48 T 35 1 3%
RE D B R A &) . From November 2015 to June 2017, he was the
president of Zhongguang Xincheng Information Technology Co.,
Ltd* (R B E#E BRI AR B R A F]) . From July 2017 to
August 2018, he was the president of the Beijing office of Nielsen-
CCData Media Research Services Co., Ltd* (JE B Zx 498t 1 &5
BERE AR A AL R 9 A F]). Since September 2018, he has
been serving as the president of Zhongguang Rongxin Media
Consulting (Beijing) Co., Ltd* (R EBEENFHH (LR) BR
A@]). On 12 October 2022, Mr. Tian has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Many Idea Cloud Holdings
Limited (stock code: 6696), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Tian has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Mr. Liu Lihan (8|3 &), aged 66, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 December 2023. He
is responsible for supervising the Group's compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent judgment and
advice to the Group. He holds a Master degree in Economics from
Nankai University. He has held senior positions in various banks
and financial institutions in China before and is the president of
an investment management company. Mr. Liu has a wealth of
experience in financial and investment sectors. From September
2015 to February 2016, Mr. Liu was an executive director of Asia
Television Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 707), a company listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). From March 2021 to July 2021, Mr. Liu was
an independent non-executive director of Capital Realm Financial
Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code: 204) and was re-designated
to non-executive Director from July 2021 to October 2023.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Liu has not held any directorship in
any other public companies the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Liang Wei is considered as senior management because she
is a chief executive officer of the Group.

Mr. Liu Biao is regarded as a senior management member for
serving as the General Manager of Overall Marketing of the Group.

Mr. Zhao Chongbin, 46 years old, joined the Group as the Chief
Financial Officer in April 2019. Mr. Zhao is mainly responsible for
matters related to listed companies, risk management, financial
coordination, internal control of the company and internal
auditing.

Mr. Zhao began his career as a financial manager at Guangzhou
Quanxun Electronic Communication Products Sales Co,, Ltd. in July
2003. Later, from April 2007 to September 2010, he served as the
accounting supervisor of the SSC Finance Department at Saatchi
& Saatchi International Advertising (a member of the Publicis
Group). From October 2010 to April 2019, served as the Deputy
Chief Financial Officer of Jingwei Action (@ member of the WPP
Group), responsible for financial accounting and reporting, internal
control and compliance. Mr. Zhao has over 20 years of experience
in finance, risk management and internal control, as well as rich
working experience in the advertising industry.

¥ Foridentification purpose only
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

The Board presents this Report of the Directors together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in provision of integrated
multimedia advertising and marketing solution services based
in Guangzhou, the PRC and offer advertising and marketing
solutions covering (i) traditional offline media including both
OOH and indoor advertising platforms; (i) online media; and (iii)
creative design, PR, marketing campaigns and other services to
the customers comprising brand owners, state-owned entities in
the PRC, advertising agencies and government authorities. The
integrated multimedia advertising and marketing solution service
primarily focused on the formulation of advertising strategies for
the customers, identifying and sourcing the most appropriate
advertising resources and delivery formats, and providing
integrated marketing and full operation in order to maximise the
effectiveness of brand and product promotion for our clients, while
at the same time, to facilitate our clients to realise a complete
closed-loop promotion from brand awareness, marketing
effectiveness to product sales volume and digital empowerment.

An analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the Year
is set out in the section headed “"Chairman’s Statement” in this
annual report and Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations and relationships with employees
will be disclosed in the section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s businesses and other relevant
information, are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section. Such discussion forms part of this “Report of the
Directors”.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets
and liabilities of the Group for 2020 to 2024, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
244 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company and
details of the shares issued during the Year are set out in Note 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is committed to operate in a sustainable manner
while balancing the interests of its various stakeholders including
customers, suppliers and employees. The Group recognises
employees as one of the valuable assets of the Group and the
Group strictly complies with the labour laws and regulations
in Hong Kong and PRC and regularly reviews the existing staff
benefits for improvement.

The Group provides good quality services to the customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish cordial and long-term business relationship with the
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and develops
healthy relationship with the suppliers.

Further details are set out in the "Management Discussion and
Analysis” section and the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EseRs (@)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and is committed to becoming an environmentally—
friendly corporation. Details of the environmental, social and
governance policies and performance during the Year are
disclosed in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of
this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risks of non-compliance
with such requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable enquiries,
the Group has complied in all material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no material
breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations
by the Group.

The Group also complies, no material breach of, or
non-compliance, with the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong (the “SFQ") for the disclosure of information
and corporate governance.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”)
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture as of the date of this
annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
as set out on pages 46 to 49 of this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
Year.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2023: nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had approximate
RMB19,547,000 of reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the Cayman Islands Companies Law.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for 45.4% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to 17.8%. Purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 72.9% of the total
purchases for the Year and purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 32.3%.

The Directors confirm that none of the Directors, their respective
close associates or any Shareholder (who or which to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Shares as
at the date of this annual report), has or had any interest in any of
the five largest suppliers or customers for the Year.

Report of the Directors (continued)

EEERE(E)

IRE

EEe0RETERRN AT EHKE
A% B (20238 : &) o

A 1 7 TR A A

RAREE  KRABNHEEDFIEHT
RER A M IR M T2 -

20245128318 BRIEHRSBEE A FA
STE AR AEHHARE19547,0007T &Y
Al Dk E A o

FERFRHEER

AEE MAEBRAARFZHEEMAK
FENELERESA% MEPEARARR
ZHELL B17.8% AR EE T K E
BAZBEEAFERERTE2% M
PR EAREE CBEELE A323% -

FERR  NAEE  BEEE RS
2 ) S T S A S 1R BR (H 8 5B PR
A A 1R B DRI 0506k 1) B
] B A4 5 3 %0 o A 82
(i -

2024FFH RALXAIBRREBRERAR 29



Report of the Directors (continued)

EseRs (@)

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 36 employees (2023:
43). They are all located in Guangzhou, the PRC. The number
of employees employed by the Group varies from time to
time depending on need. To capture the growth of the online
advertising, the Group has recruited additional employees who
have the expertise in online advertising services. In addition,
members of the senior management team had exerted efforts on
the development of the Group’s online advertising services.

Employees’ remuneration is determined based on their
responsibilities, qualifications, performance, experience and
seniority. The Group's standard remuneration package may include
salary, discretionary bonus, benefits in kind and incentive. The
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed.

Compensation of key executives of the Group is reviewed by
the Company’s remuneration committee which is based on the
Group's performance and the executives’ respective contributions
to the Group.

The remuneration of Directors and members of senior
management is determined based on the duties, responsibilities,
experience, skills and time commitment, as well as the
performance of the Group.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the
Group participates in a defined contribution basic pension
insurance in the social insurance system established and managed
by government organisations. The Group’s PRC subsidiary
contributes funds which are calculated on certain percentages of
the employee salary as agreed by the local municipal government
to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
There is no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
to reduce the existing level of contribution.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 11
December 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set
out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.
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The total remuneration cost (including directors” emoluments)
incurred by the Group for the Year was RMB8.6 million (2023:
RMB10.0 million).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or existed during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group for
the Year are disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save for the transactions under the KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services New Framework Agreement, the Guangzhou
KINGOLD Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement, the New
Strategic Cooperative Agreement and the Amended New
Strategic Cooperative Agreement (as defined below), which
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions as
further discussed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, the other related party transactions under
Note 24 were either fully exempt from reporting, announcement
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules or did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, the Group had no other connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that all related party transactions during
the Year were conducted after arm’s length negotiations, fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms and were not more
favourable to those offered by the Group to other independent
third parties for transactions of similar nature.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Non-Exempted Continuing Connected Transactions
(”CCT")

(1)

32

Provision of advertising services by the Group to
KINGOLD and its subsidiaries (together, “KINGOLD
Group”)

The Group has been providing media advertising services
to KINGOLD Group as part of its usual course of business
since December 2014 and throughout the Track Record
Period (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated
30 December 2019) (the “Prospectus”).

KINGOLD, a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC, is a majority controlled company indirectly
held by Mr. Chau, father of Mr. Chow who is a substantial
Shareholder and were former executive Director and former
Chairman of the Board as of the date of this annual report.
As such, each of the members of KINGOLD Group is an
associate of Mr. Chow and thus a connected person of
the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Mr. Chow is also one of the directors of KINGOLD.

The scope of services includes but not limited to, sourcing
of advertising resources, placement of advertisements,
strategic planning, graphic designs, news editorial and
content advertorial in relation to brand promotion of
hotels, restaurants, residential and commercial properties
developed by KINGOLD Group. Such advertisements were
placed on various online platforms and media resources
such as LCD flat-panel displays and frame displays located
at elevators and lobbies in commercial buildings owned by
independent third parties and shopping malls, commercial
buildings and housing estates owned by KINGOLD Group.
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On 16 December 2019, the Group entered into an
advertising services framework agreement (the "KINGOLD
Group Advertising Services Framework Agreement’)
with KINGOLD (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) for
a term commenced from the Listing Date and ended on
31 December 2022 (subject to early termination pursuant
to the terms of the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services
Framework Agreement). Pursuant to the KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services Framework Agreement, the Group
will provide multimedia advertising services, including
but not limited to media advertising services, advertising
materials production services and event organisation and
planning services (the “KINGOLD Advertising Services”)
to KINGOLD Group.

The KINGOLD Group Advertising Services Framework
Agreement is a framework agreement which provides the
mechanism for the provision of the KINGOLD Advertising
Services described therein. Separate agreements will be
entered into between both parties to provide for the terms
and conditions of the specific transactions in accordance
with the principal terms set out in the KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services Framework Agreement.

As the term of the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services
Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2022,
the Company entered into a KINGOLD Group Advertising
Services Framework Agreement ("KINGOLD Group
Advertising Services New Framework Agreement’) on
28 December 2022 for a term of three years from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services New
Framework Agreement, the Group shall provide KINGOLD
and its subsidiaries with multimedia advertising services,
including but not limited to media advertising services,
advertising materials production services and event
organization and planning services. Having considered the
historical fees payable by KINGOLD Group, the annual caps
in respect of the provision of the advertising services under
the KINGOLD Group Advertising Services New Framework
Agreement for each of the years ending 31 December 2023,
2024 and 2025 will not exceed RMB4.5 million.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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(2)

34

The aggregate amount of service fees payable by KINGOLD
Group to the Group in respect of the provision of the
KINGOLD Advertising Services for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB1,700,000.

Provision of advertising spaces by Guangzhou
KINGOLD to the Group

On 16 December 2019, the Company entered into an
advertising spaces framework agreement (“Guangzhou
KINGOLD Adyvertising Spaces Framework Agreement”)
with Guangzhou KINGOLD Property Co., Ltd* (J& M &
ZY ¥ G A 7)) (‘Guangzhou KINGOLD") for a term
commenced from the Listing Date and ended on 31
December 2022. Pursuant to the Guangzhou KINGOLD
Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement, Guangzhou
KINGOLD would provide the Company with platforms
and spaces such as shopping malls, commercial buildings,
housing estates and golf club owned by KINGOLD
Group. The transactions under the Guangzhou KINGOLD
Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement constituted de
minimis continuing connected transactions under Rule
20.74(1)(c) of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the term of the Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising Spaces
Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2022, the
Company entered into a Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising
Spaces Framework Agreement ("Guangzhou KINGOLD
Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement’) on 28
December 2022 for a term of three years from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025.
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Pursuant to the Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising Spaces
Framework Agreement, Guangzhou KINGOLD shall provide
the Group with platforms and spaces such as shopping
malls, commercial buildings, housing estates and golf club
owned by KINGOLD and its subsidiaries for the Group
to provide advertising services to the customers of the
Group. Having considered the historical fees charged by
Guangzhou KINGOLD, the annual caps in relation to the
transaction amount payable by the Group for the provision
of the advertising spaces by Guangzhou KINGOLD under
the Guangzhou KINGOLD Advertising Spaces Framework
Agreement for each of the years ending 31 December 2023,
2024 and 2025 will not exceed RMB4.0 million.

Guangzhou KINGOLD is a company established under the
laws of the PRC with limited liability. Guangzhou KINGOLD
is held as to approximately 59.1%, 24.5% and 16.4% by
Imperial Springs Centre for Health Management* (£ &P
B FR A4 an 2 B B 32 B IR 2 A]) ("Imperial Springs”),
KINGOLD and Hong Kong Kingson Investment Limited,
respectively. Imperial Springs is held as to approximately
50.05% and 49.95% by KINGOLD and Ningbo Meishan Free
Trade Port Huishan Investment Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)* (Z2 )8 1§ LU (R F1 78 & E & &
EEERLFE (BIRE®)), respectively. Hong Kong
Kingson Investment Limited is a company wholly owned by
the parents of Mr. Chow. Hence, Guangzhou KINGOLD is a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The aggregate amount of fee payable to Guangzhou
KINGOLD in respect of the provision of the advertising
spaces for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB2,220,000.
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Provision of advertising services to Tianhong Group

On 10 June 2022, Guangzhou Icon Culture Media
Investment Co,, Ltd* (BM XA XL EHEREBR R
A1) (“lecon Media”) entered into a strategic cooperative
agreement (“Strategic Cooperative Agreement”’) with
Guangzhou Tianhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*
(B& N K54 55 #h 22 7 % B R 2 7)) (‘Tianhong Real
Estate’) and Guangzhou Tianhuihui Real Estate Co., Ltd*
(BN XFEME E % AR Q7)) (‘Guangzhou Tianhuihui’,
together with Tianhong Real Estate, the “Tianhong Real
Estate Group”), pursuant to which Icon Media would
provide advertising services to Tianhong Real Estate Group
for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.

As the term of the Strategic Cooperative Agreement expired
on 31 December 2022, on 28 December 2022, Icon Media
entered into a new strategic cooperative agreement (‘New
Strategic Cooperative Agreement”) with Tianhong
Real Estate Group for a term of three years from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025. On 28 June 2023, Guangzhou
Tianhong Group Co., Ltd* (BM KXAAE B B R R 7))
("Guangzhou Tianhong’) and Icon Media entered
into an amended new strategic cooperative agreement
("Amended New Strategic Cooperative Agreement”)
for the purpose of extending the provision of advertising
services to other subsidiaries of Guangzhou Tianhong
(including Tianhong Real Estate Group). On the same date,
Tianhong Real Estate, Guangzhou Tianhuihui and Icon
Media entered into a termination Agreement to terminate
the New Strategic Cooperative Agreement. Pursuant to
the Amended New Strategic Cooperative Agreement, Icon
Media shall provide the advertising services, including but
not limited to, media advertising services, public relations,
marketing campaigns and other services, to Guangzhou
Tianhong and its subsidiaries. The annual caps in respect
of the provision of the advertising services by the Group
under the Amended New Strategic Cooperative Agreement
for each of the years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and
2025 will not exceed RMB3.5 million.
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The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2024
includes the aggregate transaction amount in respect
of the advertising services provided by the Group to the
Tianhong Real Estate Group under the Amended New
Strategic Cooperative Agreement.

The aggregate amount of fee payable by Guangzhou
Tianhong to the Group in respect of the provision of
advertising services under the Amended New Strategic
Cooperative Agreement amounted to approximately
RMB686,000 this year.

Tianhong Real Estate and Guangzhou Tianhuihui are
subsidiaries of Guangzhou Tianhong, which is in turn wholly
owned by Mr. Chow. Guangzhou Tianhong, Tianhong
Real Estate and Guangzhou Tianhuihui are companies
established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability. Tianhong Real Estate is indirectly wholly-owned
by Mr. Chow. Guangzhou Tianhuihui is held by Tianhong
Real Estate and KINGOLD as to 70% and 309%, respectively.
Accordingly, Tianhong Real Estate, Guangzhou Tianhuihui
and Guangzhou Tianhong are connected persons of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

For details on the terms of the KINGOLD Group Advertising
Services New Framework Agreement, the Guangzhou
KINGOLD Advertising Spaces Framework Agreement, the
Amended New Strategic Cooperative Agreement, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 28 June
2023.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed such transactions have been entered into: (1)
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
and (2) on normal or better commercial terms; and (3)
according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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Confirmation of the auditor

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited, the Company’s independent
auditor (the “Auditor”) was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “Auditor’s Letter”). Fan, Chan
& Co. Limited has issued its unqualified letter containing
its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Conclusion of the Auditor’s assurance report on continuing
connected transactions:

a. nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that
causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by
the Company's board of directors;

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to the
Auditor’s attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group;

C. nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that
causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of
the continuing connected transactions set out in
the above list of continuing connected transactions,
nothing has come to the Auditor's attention that
causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual
cap as set by the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date
of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yao Tong (Chairman was appointed on 8 January 2025 and
resigned on 19 May 2025)

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Former Chairman) (resigned on 8 January 2025)

Ms. Liang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Liu Biao

Ms. Li Chi Ying (appointed on 9 August 2024)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Chen Zongxian (appointed NED on 25 October 2024 and
Chairman on 23 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia
Mr. Tian Tao
Mr. Liu Lihan

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out in the section headed "Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 20 to 25 of this annual report.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation.

Moreover, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director shall hold office only until the next first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.

Accordingly, Ms. Liang Wei, Mr Liu Biao, Ms. Li Chi Ying, Mr. Chen
Zongxian and Mr. Tian Tao, Directors will retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force for the Year. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance coverage for its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other remuneration are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibility and performance and
the results of the Group as well as the recommendations of the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”).
Further details of Director's remuneration and the five highest-paid
individuals are set out in Note 7 and Note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 196 to 199 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Details of retirement benefits plans of the Group as at 31
December 2024, if any, are set out in Note 5(b) to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity associated with him or her has or had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any
time during the Year.
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COMPETING INTEREST

During the Year, and up to the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors, or the controlling Shareholders or substantial
Shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company
or their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group and which requires disclosure pursuant
to Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” below, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or the Company’s subsidiary or holding
company or a subsidiary of the Company’s holding company a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during
the Year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had issued or
granted any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar
rights or exercise any conversion or subscription rights under any
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares
capital, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
the Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules were as follows:

EENRESTRAERKSD  HE
R REEENEER AR

2024128318 - ARBIEE R &RETT
BABRARBKEAEEE (E&RE
% N ERE KB SEXVED) Z IR A - MRS
MEEETEESQRIEZSF K IBE KM
SEXVERE7 K8 IR E A ME AR A) M B
RAT(BREBEESRBEGRINEBIK
XA VES AR BB () #E m POK
B)MEEEARE  JORBEESRBAE
16151 2535216 ZB R 8% WA s G BT st & 52 i A
R RORA + ROBIEGEM_E T8 Al 58546
ES/EEER R TEIREAMNEARRF
NSRS A BT

Number of Approximate

Ordinary percentage of

Shares held shareholding (%)

Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 3)
BRFR

FrsEEREE B2 (%)

E=ns B ERtE (Krat1) (K1523)
Mr. Chow (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 45,000,000 Shares (L) 10.42%
Bk (Hat2) REHEE R 45,000,0008% A& 12 (L) 10.42%
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Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares.

2. Shining Icon is wholly-owned by Mr. Chow who was a former
chairman and former executive director. Therefore, Mr. Chow
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Shining Icon
pursuant to SFO.

3. The calculation is based on the total number of 432,000,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Director nor the chief executives of the Company has any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or () to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by the Directors as referred to in
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Report of the Directors (continued)

EEERE(E)

Wit
1. FRILERBRNDOEFE -

2. Shining lconBB B £ 2 EHE - AR
FHERAATES A AEER
B S K ATE & HI 4 4R A FA Shining Icon
RENRDFHEBRES

3. I TH AR IR 202412 A31 B A B B 1TR%
7 48 #7432,000,000M st E B H -

Br ESCRTIRERE SN - 20245 12H318 -
MEINESEIAQRAESTHRAER
RAB AR EE (E&ERESH K
R GI EXVED) BIRR (D - FERARR 1D Sk (B4
BB QIREE S KBS GO EXVED
FIRSDEABEAME AR A KRBT
(BIEREBEFESFRBEGRIIE B B IGXE
WEEXRARENTAERSIAR) B
s RRE  HOIRIEEF LS G
FIFA BN LGP E e M Mg =
MR A 8(0)R IEGEM £ T 58 B 88546 %
SO/EEER HUTIREEMERNA R
BT R)Eem RA R ©

2024FFH RALXAIBRREBRERAR 43



Report of the Directors (continued)

EEEHRE(E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (not being
Directors or chief executives of the Company) had, or were
deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to
be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

FTERRRKRG HEAROKRERE
PR

R2024% 128318 - M FA T QEFEARR
RIZEERZEITERAR) RARRIRG &
HERNDFHREXFEBEEREES
MHEAE R BIEXVER E2R3n B 2 A
[A) 2N A B) e Bt A2 P Y8R MO 4 2 oK B Bk
AR ARDNBIRIEESH K HEKGIZE336
IFFE 2 X ZLMAMERSAR

Number of Approximate

Ordinary percentage of

Shares held shareholding (%)

Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 3)
BAOFR

FEEEREE B 7t (%)

EEE8 B MY (K1az1) (K1:#3)

Shining Icon (Note 2) Beneficial Owner 45,000,000 Shares (L) 10.42%

Shining Icon (#17#2) EmEAA 45,000,0008% J& 15 (L) 10.42%

Capital Realm Financial Beneficial owner 115,085,000 Shares (L) 26.64%
Holdings Limited (Note 3) EmEA A 115,085,000A% A% 15 (L) 26.64%

BEARAEEEBR AR
(B7:%3)

Focus Wonder Limited Beneficial owner 33,750,000 Shares (L) 7.81%
(Note 4) EmEAA 33,750,000/ f& 17 (L) 7.81%

Focus Wonder Limited (#7/3%4)

China Hui Shang Enterpriser Beneficial owner 40,000,000 Shares (L) 9.26%
Association International BEnlEA A 40,000,0008% A% 19 (L) 9.26%
Group Limited (Note 5)

PEFEHPERBEHE
SBBRRAR (H25)

Master Connection Limited Beneficial owner 13,500,000 Shares (L) 3.13%
(Note 4) EmEAA 13,500,0008% B 17 (L) 3.13%

Master Connection Limited
(Krat4)

Maofu Trade Co., Limited Beneficial owner 31,383,000 Shares (L) 7.26%
(Note 6) EmEA A 31,383,0008% A% 15 (L) 7.26%

EKEESBRAR (Kits)

Baocheng Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 56,334,000 Shares (L) 13.04%
(Note 7) EmEAA 56,334,0008% A% 15 (L) 13.04%

Baocheng Holdings Limited
(K1at7)
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The letter “L" denotes a long position in the Shares.

Shining Icon is wholly-owned by Mr. Chow who was a former
chairman and former executive director. Therefore, Mr. Chow
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Shining Icon
pursuant to SFO.

Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited is listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 204).

Both of Focus Wonder Limited and Master Connection Limited
are wholly-owned by Guo Tong International Holdings Limited
(“Guo Tong"). Therefore, Guo Tong is deemed to be interested
in the 47,250,000 Shares held by Focus Wonder Limited and
Master Connection Limited by virtue of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 5 July 2024, Guo Tong is an investment holding company
held as to 72% and 28% by /SR Bl F B FTEXBHERH B R A
&) (Hainan Guoping Digital Industry Technology Co., Ltd*) and 2§
YT ANERFEAREIR AR A A (Shenzhen Qianhai Guoping
Capital Management Co., Ltd.*), respectively.

China Hui Shang Enterpriser Association International Group
Limited is wholly-owned by Zhang Qiaoyun (3RT5 &) .

Maofu Trade Co,, Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wang Lei (£ 7).
Baocheng Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Huitongyun

International Holding Group Limited which is 99% owned by
Sichuan Huitong Cloud Enterprise Management Group Co., Ltd.

The calculation is based on the total number of 432,000,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person, other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, had any interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme has been conditionally adopted on
11 December 2019. No options had been granted, agreed to be
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as
follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to Eligible Participants (as defined in
below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to provide the Eligible Participants
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the
view to achieving the following objectives:

() motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;

(if) attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group; and/or

(i) for such purposes as the Board may approve from time to
time.
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Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as
it may think fit, grant any of the Eligible Participants, as defined
below, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance
with paragraph headed “Subscription price of shares” below for
such number of Shares as it may determine in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the independent non-executive Directors) from time to time
on the basis of his contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) shall include any
full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors) of the Group and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents, advisers and related entities who, in the sole opinion of the
Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Group.

Maximum number of shares

18,000,000, that is, the maximum number of Shares issuable upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
as from 11 December 2019 (excluding, for this purpose, Shares
issuable upon exercise of options which have been granted
but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in
issue as at the Listing Date which is 180,000,000 Shares.

No options have been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme. The number of options available for grant under
the Share Option Scheme was 18,000,000 as at 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024, respectively. As at the date of this annual
report, the total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme was 18,000,000, representing approximately
4.17% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this annual report.
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Maximum number of Shares comprised in options to
any one individual

1% of the Shares in issue as of the date of grant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant.

Period within which the securities must be taken up
under an option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

Period within which an option may be exercised

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as our Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

There is no such requirement imposed by the Share Option
Scheme, provided that the Directors, may impose such
requirement upon grant of the option on which the option is
deemed to be granted and accepted.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
options

The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Subscription price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock

Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the option, which must be a business day;
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(if) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the
option. For the purpose of calculating the subscription
price, where the Company has been listed on the Stock
Exchange for less than five business days, the issue price
of the Shares on the Stock Exchange shall be used as the
closing price for any business day fall within the period
before listing.

Remaining Life of the Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the Listing Date (i.e. 14 January 2020) and will
expire on 13 January 2030.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, there is no change in the
information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

(if)

(i)
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

On 9 November 2023, KPMG resigned as the auditor of the
Company and Fan, Chan & Co. Limited (‘Fan Chan”) has been
appointed as the new auditor of the Company to fill the causal
vacancy following the resignation of KPMG and will hold office
until the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
For details, please refer to the Company's announcement dated 9
November 2023.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
and for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited
by Fan Chan and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for each of the two years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 were audited by KPMG. A resolution will be submitted
to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company to
reappoint Fan Chan as auditor of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group has no significant events after reporting period.
On behalf of the Board

Mr. Chen Zongxian

Chairman
Hong Kong, 20 May 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures to promote
and ensure accountability. The Company’s corporate governance
practices are based on principles and code provisions as set out
in the section headed “Part 2 — Principles of good corporate
governance, code provisions and recommended best practices” of
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules (“Corporate Governance Code’) . During the
Year, the Company's corporate governance practices have been
complied with and it will continue to comply with the Corporate
Governance Code.

THE BOARD
Board of Directors

The Board currently comprises eight members, consisting of
four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yao Tong (Chairman was appointed on 8 January 2025 and
resigned on 19 May 2025)

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (Chairman) (resigned on 8 January 2025)

Ms. Liang Wei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Liu Biao

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Chen Zongxian (appointed NED on 25 October 2024 and
Chairman on 23 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia
Mr. Tian Tao
Mr. Liu Lihan

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed "Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 20 to 25 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed, there is no other financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships among the members of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Chow
and Mr. Yao were Chairman and Mr. Chen Zongxian acts as the
Chairman and Ms. Liang Wei acted as the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman performs the management of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer performs the day-to-day management
of the Group's businesses. Clear division of their respective roles
and responsibilities is in place and set out in writing to ensure a
balance of power and authority.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board will meet regularly and schedule to meet at least four
times every year at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance
with the Corporate Governance Code. Apart from regular Board
meetings, the Chairman will also hold meeting annually with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.

At least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting will be normally given
to all Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The Board's procedures comply with the
Articles of Association as well as the relevant rules and regulations.

Board minutes of each Board meeting and minutes of the
meetings of the committees shall be prepared in sufficient details
for the matters considered and resolved. Draft and final versions
of minutes shall be sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively, within a reasonable time after the meetings
were held.

The company secretary of the Company or the secretary to
the board committees is responsible for taking and/or keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and various committees’ meetings
in sufficient detail and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and AFEE KESFHFEFTeexsLKRE

general meetings during the Year is set out in the table below: KeEHFRERTE :
Attendance at
Attendance/ general meeting/
Name of Directors Number of meeting Number of meeting
HEERRE S HERRAKERE
EEpnE BRRY RERE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Yao Tong 5/5 0/1
whimok &
Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (resigned on 8 January 2025) 2/6 1/1
BT E %k (R2025% 1 H8H BET)
Ms. Liang Wei 6/6 1/
RHEL
Mr. Liu Biao 6/6 1/1
BIF Lt
Ms. Li Chi Ying (appointed on 9 August 2024) 3/3 0/0
B+ (Ro024F8HIH EZ(T)
Non-Executive Director
FHITES
Mr. Chen Zongxian (appointed on 25 October 2024) 1/1 0/0
PR RS (R2024F 10525 H EZT)
Independent non-executive Directors
BYEHTES
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia 6/6 1/1
BEMZ
Mr. Tian Tao 6/6 1/1
HEE4
Mr. Liu Lihan 6/6 1/1
BISTERE
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has met the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one
of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers each of them to be independent.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company
and is responsible for overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board makes decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. The executive Directors oversee the daily
operations of the Group, while our independent non-executive
Directors bring independent judgment to the decision making
process of the Board, taking into account the advice of the senior
management of the Group.

The Group's senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group's business, carrying out the business
decisions of the Group, and is responsible for overseeing the
general operation, business development, finance, marketing, and
operations as well as other essential management functions of the
Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), Remuneration
Committee (the "Remuneration Committee’) and the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of
these committees are established with defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 11 December
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with code
provision D.3.3 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors
members, namely Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia, Mr. Tian Tao and
Mr. Liu Lihan. Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia, is the chairperson of the
Audit Committee.

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing, in draft form,
the annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly
reports and providing advice and comments to the Board. In
this regard, members of the Audit Committee will liaise with the
Board, the senior management, the reporting accountants and
auditor. The Audit Committee will also consider any significant
or usual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in such
reports and accounts and give consideration to any matter that
have been raised by the accounting staff, compliance officer or
auditor. Members of the Audit Committee are also responsible for
reviewing the Company’s financial reporting process and internal
control system.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and
among other things, reviewed the interim and annual results
and the Group's accounting policies and practices, the GEM
Listing Rules and statutory compliance, annual audit plan, risk
management and internal control systems and financial reporting
matters. The attendance record of each committee member at the
meetings is set out below:

Name of committee members

ZEEHENS

AEEERZLZEGBRRITZREE I
(EhaE) EMTPBHEFEEEUARARN
SENEHRERER  GEMETHRA KX
EEARBR FEREE - RARE
BRASIEFHERGUARMBEREET -
BEEEBENEMNSRLFREERIIWT

Attendance at meeting/
Number of meeting

HESBAB BTERRE

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia (Chairperson)
BEMZt (£/E)

Mr. Tian Tao

HEE4

Mr. Liu Lihan

BISERE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management,
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Year. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the
audited consolidated financial statements have complied with the
applicable accounting standards and the requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on
11 December 2019. The Remuneration Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Tam
Hon Shan Celia, Mr. Tian Tao and Mr. Liu Lihan, and an executive
Director, namely Mr. Yao Tong. Mr. Liu Lihan is the chairperson
of the Remuneration Committee. Written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code have been adopted.
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Amongst other things, the primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to determine the specific remuneration packages
of all executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment, and make recommendations to
the Board of the remuneration of independent non-executive
Directors.

During the Year, four Remuneration Committee meeting was
held and, among other things, reviewed the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management, assessed the performance of the executive Directors
and the senior management, reviewed the remuneration package
of the executive Directors and the senior management, made
recommendation to the Board on their remuneration (including
remuneration of the non-executive Directors) and reviewed the
share scheme under the GEM Listing Rules. The attendance record
of each committee member at the meeting is set out below:

Name of committee members

ZEEHENS
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Attendance at meeting/
Number of meeting

HESBAB BTERRE

Mr. Liu Lihan (Chairperson)
BISESE (E/E)

Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia
BEM

Mr. Tian Tao

HEE4

Mr. Yao Tong

ok 5 A

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director of the
Company for the Year are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

4/4
4/4

4/4

3/3
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2024FFH RALXAIBRREBRERAR 57



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

EEERKRE (F)

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HKD)

s E G8n)

REZRFMWERI DN REEEK
BHEsIn T

Number of persons

AE

Nil to 1,000,000
= 2 1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 11
December 2019. The Nomination Committee consists of four
members, namely Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia, Mr Liu Lihan, Mr. Yao
Tong and Mr. Tian Tao. Mr. Yao Tong, our Chairman and executive
Director, is the chairperson of the Nomination Committee. Written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code have been adopted.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors and
succession planning for the Directors.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
evaluates skills, knowledge and experience required by the Board,
and identifies if there are any special requirements for the vacancy.
The Nomination Committee identifies appropriate candidates and
convenes Nomination Committee meeting to discuss and vote in
respect of the nominated Directors, and recommends candidates
for Directors to the Board.

The Nomination Committee considers candidates with individual
skills, experience and professional knowledge that can best assist
and facilitate the effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination
Committee takes the policy on Board diversity of the Company
into consideration when it considers the balance of composition
of the Board as a whole.
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During the Year, four Nomination Committee meeting was
held and, among other things, reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, reviewed the Board diversity
made recommendation on the re-election of retiring Directors. The
attendance record of each committee member at the meeting is
set out below:

Name of committee members

ZEEREHSR
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Attendance at meeting/Number of meeting

HESEBERB BITERERE

Mr. Yao Tong (Chairperson)

EmEE (£E)

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To (resigned on 8 January 2025)
BT3B & (R2025F1 AH BET)

Mr. Tam Hon Shan Celia

BEM

Mr. Liu Lihan

BISERE

Mr. Tian Tao

REE4E

Board Diversity Policy and Measurable Objectives

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve and
maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the
Board that are relevant to the Company’s business growth.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of Board
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and
industry experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and experiences,
including business management, strategic development,
media and advertising, sales management and administration
experiences. The Company is also committed to adopting similar
approach to promote diversity of the management (including
but not limited to the senior management) of the Company
to enhance the effectiveness of corporate governance. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board and reviews the Board Diversity Policy from time to time
to ensure the effectiveness.

3/3
0/4
4/4
4/4

3/3
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Implementation and Monitoring

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board's composition, size
and structure under diversified perspectives, and monitors the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy annually.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board's composition under
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Designation B 18F ED ¥ %

YITRER
REERRBFRNEFRESTIE

w2 AR R RS
X B Z TTAEBR Z 1T o

VTEREES

RAFHRBEP EFCEZTLELEBZ
MR T

Gender 4 Bl Male 1%
Agegroup ARl
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
ED . Executive Director = HWITESR
NED Non-executive Director JEH = EHITES
INED Independent Non-executive Director B IEME BUIERMITES

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group
has complied with the Board Diversity Policy and has achieved
board gender diversity.

Workforce Level

The Group maintained a good balance on gender diversity by
achieving a gender balance across different levels of the Group.
The Group is an integrated multimedia advertising and marketing
solutions service provider which has no specific barrier for specific
gender.

The details of workforce composition of the Group is disclosed

under the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this
annual report.
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Independence

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the Board. The
governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board including the criteria of the size,
structure and composition of the Board and Board Committees,
Board Diversity Policy, Directors’ compensation, availability of
information and access to senior management, Board decision
making mechanism as well as access to independent professional
advice. The Nomination Committee also strictly adheres to the
Nomination Policy and the independence assessment criteria as
set out in the GEM Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and
appointment of INEDs.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, which
include (a) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management;
(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and directors; and (e) to review
the issuer's compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report. The Board
would review the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample
continuing professional development for the Directors for a sound
and effective internal control system and corporate governance.
In this regard, the Group has always encouraged our Directors to
attend relevant training courses to receive the latest news and
knowledge regarding corporate governance.

During the Year, the Group has provided all Directors training
material on the updates of the GEM Listing Rules concerning
good corporate governance practices. The Group will, if necessary,
provide timely and regular training material to the Directors to
ensure that they keep abreast with the current requirements under
the GEM Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 548 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company's listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results. Having been made a specific
enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the Model Code during the Year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditor’s Responsibility and Remuneration

The Company appointed Fan, Chan & Co. Limited as the Auditor
for the Year. A statement issued by Fan, Chan & Co. Limited about
their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated financial
statements is included in the independent auditor's report on
pages 128 to 142.

Details of the fees paid or payable in respect of the audit and non-
audit services provided by Fan, Chan & Co. Limited for the Year are
set out in the table below:
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Audit services EiT R
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control measures
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

To safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group,
the Company has maintained an internal control system covering
corporate governance, risk management, quality control, financial
reporting, as well as those relating to the Company's ESG
performance and reporting. To ensure continuous compliance of
all applicable laws and regulations, the Group has taken and will
take the following measures:

A. The Board will review the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control (including ESG function) on an
annual basis to ensure compliance with applicable laws and
regulations and will ensure that on-going improvements
will be made to the internal control system; and

B. The Audit Committee has been established to review the
internal control system and procedures for compliance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board, through the Audit Committee and in consultation
with the External Advisory Firm (as defined below), has conducted
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control system for the Year, and considered the
Group's risk management and internal control system as adequate
and effective.
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Pursuant to Code Provision D.2.5., the Company is required to
have an internal audit function. The Company no longer has
an internal audit function as of 31 December 2023. The Audit
Committee and the Board has reviewed and discussed the need
for an internal audit function, and consider that in light of the
size and complexity of the Group’s operations and the costs of
maintaining an internal audit department, the functions of the
internal audit function of the Group are better served by engaging
an external service provider. Hence, the Group has engaged a
professional advisory firm (the “External Advisory Firm”) to
perform the role of reviewing the Group's internal control by
performing annual reviews on the Group's internal control system,
and reporting to and advising the Audit Committee and the
Board on its effectiveness (the “Current IC Arrangement’). The
Board considers the Current IC Arrangement to be adequate for
managing the Group’s internal control risks. The Board will review
the need for an internal audit function on an annual basis.

Linkage Between Corporate Governance and
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)

The Group has developed a core governance framework to ensure
the alignment of ESG governance with its strategic growth while
advocating ESG integration into its business operations. The Board
holds overall responsibility for the Group's ESG strategies, ensuring
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control mechanisms, with the assistance of the ESG Working
Group.

In order to assist the Board in implementing ESG initiatives and
ensuring the establishment of an appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal monitoring system, the Group
has set up the ESG Working Group, which is composed of
representatives from various functional departments, to report
to the Board regularly and fully implement the Group’s ESG
strategies and related actions. The ESG Working Group also
makes recommendations to the Board regarding its management
approach, strategies, and setting ESG-related goals and targets in
relation to the Group's business.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company:

is aware of its obligations under the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules and is required, as soon as reasonably
practicable after any inside information has come to its
knowledge, to disclose the information to the public;

decides and implements monitoring procedures regarding
dissemination of inside information; and

communicates with relevant persons about corporate
information disclosure practices with respective training.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Pun Lap (“Mr. Choi") was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 12 January 2024. During the Year, Mr. Choi undertook
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. Mr. Choi
holds a bachelor degree in business accounting and a master
degree in Chinese business law. Mr. Choi is currently serving as the
company secretary of a company listed in the GEM of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Choi is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and he possesses the requisite
qualification and experience as required under Rule 5.14 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (the
“EGM”) by the Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Directors
may, whenever they think fit, convene an EGM. An EGM shall also
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders’
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Directors or the Company Secretary for
the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Directors
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Directors fail to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at a General Meeting

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong of the Company at 17/F, Room 1701, Wai Fung Plaza, 664
Nathan Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong, specifying the
shareholding information of the Shareholder, his/her contact
details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at general
meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business at 17/F, Room 1701, Wai Fung Plaza, 664 Nathan
Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong .
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COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have
equal and timely access to information about the Company in
order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner and allow them to engage actively with the
Company. Information will be communicated to the Shareholders
through the Company’s website, corporate email, financial reports,
AGMs and other EGMs that may be convened as well as all the
published disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’ communication policy during the Year and
concluded that it is effective because all the Directors attended
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 June
2024 either by person or by means of electronic facilities to
communicate with the shareholders of the Company. In addition,
all corporate communications and regulatory announcements
were published by the Company on its website and the website of
the Stock Exchange in a timely manner.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Directors shall decide and recommend the amount of
dividends (or decide not to recommend any dividend) based on
the earnings, cash flows, financial condition, capital requirements,
future plans of the Group and any other conditions that the
Directors deem relevant at such time. The foregoing, including the
dividend distribution record, should not be viewed as a reference
or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be declared
or paid by the Company in the future. There is no guarantee
or representation or indication that the Directors must or will
recommend and that the Group must or will pay dividends or
declare and pay dividends at all.

The declaration, payment and amount of any future dividends
are subject to the discretion of the Board depending on the
earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and the provisions
governing the declaration and distribution as contained in the
Articles of Association, applicable laws and other relevant factors.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

Icon Culture Global Company Limited (the “Company’, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we”) is an integrated
multimedia advertising and marketing solution service provider
based in Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and offer advertising and marketing solutions to our customers.
Services we provide include: (i) traditional offline media, including
out-of-home and indoor advertising platforms; (ii) online media
advertising services; and (iii) public relations, marketing campaigns
and other services.

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report ("ESG Report”’)
summarises the environmental, social, and governance ("ESG")
initiatives, plans, and performances of the Group and demonstrates
its commitment to sustainable development.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has developed a core governance framework to ensure
the alignment of ESG governance with its strategic growth while
advocating ESG integration into its business operations. The
structure of the Group's corporate social responsibility is divided
into two components, namely the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
and the Environmental, Social and Governance Working Group (the
"ESG Working Group”).

The Board holds overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategies, ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management. The Board is responsible for overseeing all
ESG-related matters, including the identification, evaluation,
and management of sustainability risks and opportunities,
with the assistance of the ESG Working Group. Based on the
recommendations from the ESG Working Group, the Board
manages the Group's ESG performance, approaches, priorities, and
strategies on an ongoing basis, including setting ESG-related goals
and targets and reviewing the progress made towards achieving
those goals and targets. The Board discusses and reviews progress
made against ESG-related goals and targets at least once annually
with the assistance of the ESG Working Group, and ensures the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management systems and internal
control mechanisms.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
R - HERERBRE (E)

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (Continued)

In order to assist the Board in implementing ESG initiatives and
ensuring the establishment of an appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal monitoring system, the Group
has set up the ESG Working Group, which is composed of
representatives from various functional departments, to report
to the Board regularly and fully implement the Group’s ESG
strategies and related actions. The ESG Working Group also
makes recommendations to the Board regarding its management
approach, strategies, and setting ESG-related goals and targets
in relation to the Group’s business. In addition, the ESG Working
Group examines and evaluates the performance of different ESG
aspects of the Group, such as environment, health and safety,
labour standards, and product responsibilities, on an annual basis.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The reporting scope of this ESG Report is discussed and confirmed
by the Group’s senior management. This ESG Report covers the
operating activities that are considered material by the Group,
including traditional offline media advertising services, online
media advertising services, public relations, marketing campaigns,
and other service segments of lcon Media. Icon Media is the
Group's wholly-owned subsidiary with two offices in Guangzhou,
where its business activities representing the majority of the
Group’s total revenue.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in compliance with all
applicable provisions set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix C2 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Information relating to the Group's corporate governance structure
and practices has been set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

REPORTING FRAMEWORK (Continued)
Reporting Principles

The content of this ESG Report follows the reporting principles of
the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: This ESG Report is structured based on the materiality
of respective issues, resulting from the materiality assessment. The
result of the materiality assessment was reviewed and confirmed
by the Board and the ESG Working Group. For further details,
please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and
“Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide and discloses key performance indicators
("KPIs") in a quantitative manner. Information regarding the
standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation
references, and sources of key conversion factors used for KPIs is
stated wherever appropriate.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the Group's disclosure and
statistical methods are consistent with the previous financial year,
which is the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (“2023"),
for meaningful comparison. If there is a change that may affect
comparisons with previous reports, the Group will add explanatory
notes to the relevant sections of this report.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges, and
measures taken by the Group during the financial year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Year” or “2024").
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board is pleased to present the Group's ESG Report for 2024.
As an annual summary of the Group’s sustainable development,
the ESG Report fully demonstrates how the Group attaches great
importance to sustainable development, discloses the Group's
performance in all aspects of sustainable development, shows
our vision and commitment to sustainable development, and at
the same time provides us the opportunity to understand the
expectations and demands of its key stakeholders regarding the
Group’s sustainable development.

Committed to incorporating corporate social responsibilities
into its business operations, the Board accepts full responsibility
for the sustainability of the Group, including formulating
strategies, overseeing its ESG performance and relevant risks, and
approving the ESG Report. The Board also regularly reviews the
effectiveness of the risk management systems and internal control
mechanisms, assures the Group remains compliant with regulatory
requirements, operates on a sustainable basis in the long term,
and continuously strives to enhance its economic, environmental,
social, and community commitments.

Meanwhile, the Group has also established an ESG Working
Group, which has clear terms of reference that set out the
powers delegated to it by the Board to demonstrate the
Group’s commitment to sustainability with transparency and
accountability. The management and ESG Working Group are
primarily responsible for identifying and evaluating the Group's
ESG risks and the effectiveness of internal control mechanisms.
During the Year, the ESG Report and ESG-related issues are
reviewed and confirmed.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

BOARD STATEMENT (Continued)

Sustainability is integrated into all aspects of our business and
operations. The Group is doing its part through implementing
the Group's ESG strategies in areas such as green operation,
quality, technological innovation, employees and employment,
users, business ethics, the value chain, and social contribution.
In particular, to further decarbonisation efforts, the Group has
put forward four environmental targets in the areas of energy,
waste, and greenhouse gas ("GHG") management in 2021. The
environmental targets were approved by the Board, and the
progress will be reviewed by the ESG Working Group annually.

Moreover, the Group seeks to develop a climate-resilient portfolio
through collaborative efforts in addition to improving the overall
sustainability of the environment. During the Year, the Group has
included climate reporting with reference to the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures recommendations to report
climate-related risks and challenges and help us improve in this
critical area.

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express our
gratitude to all stakeholders for their continued care and support
for the sustainable development of the Group. Looking forward,
the Group will continue to strengthen its communication with
stakeholders and improve relevant ESG strategies to further
enhance the Group's performance in terms of environmental and
social aspects, thereby meeting the requirements of regulators and
investors for sustainable development and creating long-term and
sustainable value for shareholders and stakeholders of the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their views related
to its business and ESG issues. In order to understand and
address stakeholders’ concerns, the Group maintains close
communications with its key stakeholders, including but not
limited to shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers and
subcontractors, government and regulatory authorities, as well as
communities and the public. In formulating operational strategies
and ESG measures, the Group considers stakeholders” expectations
by utilising various engagement methods and communication
channels, as shown below:

Stakeholder Key Communication Channels
#HE FEEBBRE

KhE2H
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Expectations
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Announcements and circulars
Financial reports
Shareholders” meetings

Shareholders

Company website
Advertorials
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EEEUX
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Customers Customer hotline

Telephone and face-to-face meetings
Tenders

Bidding sessions

Contracts
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Satisfactory financial results
Corporate sustainability
Complying with relevant laws and
regulations
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Product and service responsibility
Customer information protection

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued) BEHpESHEE)

Stakeholder Key Communication Channels Expectations

R ] FTEBBRRE A

Employees Correspondences and suggestion box Health and safety
Annual performance appraisal Equal opportunities
Training, seminars and briefing sessions Remuneration and benefits
Department and company meetings/ Career development
conferences

] mANE R fRERZ %
FREMEZ FERE
2l A ERENTE B Ko ke A
HIRAANE EEE BERER

Suppliers and
subcontractors

HEEKRSEHE

Government and
regulatory
authorities

B REE#E

Communities and
the public

HERAR

Business correspondences
Procurement contracts and letters of
undertaking

Performance appraisals

EVRERS
REB A #) SRR K
RMERX

Compliance inspections
Conferences and seminars
Specialised visits and consultations

BRRE
RS
HEF Mt

Press releases and news
Company website

Community activities

Industry associations

Sales industry case competitions
1 s K

NGIE b

HEES

TEBE
EHTEERLE

Fair competition
Cooperation with mutual benefits

AR ES
BIERR

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

Tax payment in accordance with laws

Business ethics

B TRBAERER
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BERER

Giving back to society
Environmental protection
Complying with relevant laws and
regulations
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group endeavours to actively listen to and collaborate with its
stakeholders to ensure that their opinions can be voiced through
proper communication channels. In the long run, the stakeholders’
contributions will aid the Group in improving potentially
overlooked ESG performances and sustaining the success of the
Group's business in the challenging market.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Stakeholder engagement and communications are crucial in
understanding the expectations and priorities of the Group's
stakeholders. With the assistance of the ESG Working Group,
the Group identified a list of material ESG issues for the Group,
based on its business, the ESG Reporting Guide, and the analysis
of industry peers. To prioritise the identified material ESG issues,
the Group conducted a materiality assessment survey during
the Year. Management, employees of different business units
and departments, as well as external stakeholders, were invited
to evaluate the significance of the identified ESG issues to the
stakeholders and the Group'’s business. Based on the results of the
survey, the Group compiled the materiality matrix. The results of
the materiality assessment were reviewed and validated by the
Group's ESG Working Group, and then approved by the Board.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (Continued) BEE M ()
Materiality Matrix
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During the Year, the Group confirmed that it has established RAFE  AEBHRACHEE Lak®E
appropriate and effective management policies and internal JAEERIZAEIBUNERBRER L AEE
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the disclosed TI/%” L WHERABRBEATTARE 48
contents are in compliance with the requirements of the ESG RERMEEIIOEE -

Reporting Guide.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and
suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect of the ESG
Report or the Group’s performances in sustainable development

by sending an email to info@iconspace.com.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.

78

Emissions

The Group adheres to the strategy of sustainable
development in its operations. The Group recognises
its environmental responsibilities in relation to its
business operations and incorporates environmental
considerations into its decision-making processes.
Therefore, the Group continues to focus on the
development of the environmental protection
mechanism and has formulated relevant policies,
regulations, and procedures to regulate the
generation of air pollutants, GHG, waste, and sewage
during operations. The Group has also adopted
relevant policies and procedures to protect and
improve the environment and promote sustainability
within our business.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
in relation to air and GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and the generation of hazardous
and non- hazardous waste that would have a
significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to the Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

Emissions (Continued)

Due to the Group's office-based business nature,
it does not have a significant impact on the
environment. The Group nevertheless continuously
improves existing policies and incorporates new
policies with the intention of mitigating potential
direct and indirect negative environmental impacts
arising from its business operations.

Air Emissions

The Group's emissions are mainly from petrol
consumed by transportation. Due to the Group's
business nature, the Group does not generate a
significant amount of exhaust gas emissions directly
during its operations. Nevertheless, the Group has
established policies relating to the reduction of air
emissions, including:

encourage employees to take public
transport during the business trip;

encourage employees to reduce unnecessary
overseas business trips, thus reducing indirect
carbon emissions;

maintain vehicles on a monthly basis to
effectively reduce fuel consumption, thereby
reducing carbon emissions and exhaust gas
emissions;

switch off the engine whenever the vehicle is
idling; and

purchase regular petrol for vehicles and
conduct annual inspections to ensure
vehicles are meeting relevant emission
standards.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. BIE (&)
A1. Emissions (Continued) A1, BERYD (&)

Air Emissions (Continued) EER B (&)
Summary of exhaust gas emissions performance: BERBEMEKRIEME -
Types of Exhaust Gas Unit 2024 2023
BERESR B 2024%F 2023%F
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) Kg 1.55 6.33
AALPINO,) /NI
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) Kg 0.02 0.09
&AL ¥(S0,) /NI
Particulate Matter (PM) Kg 0.11 047
FERLY(PM) YNIN
GHG Emissions BEREBEK

The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions
are direct emissions from the combustion of petrol
consumption (Scope 1), energy indirect emissions
from purchased electricity (Scope 2), and other
indirect emissions from paper waste disposal at
landfills (Scope 3). Committed to reducing GHG
emissions, the Group has set a target in 2021 to
reduce GHG emissions intensity (tCO,e/million
revenue (RMB) gradually by 2026, using 2021 as
the baseline year. To achieve this target, the Group
actively adopts various measures to reduce GHG

emissions, including:

actively adopt vehicular emission reduction
measures, which are described in the section
headed “Air Emissions” under this aspect;

actively adopt measures for energy
conservation, which are described in the
section headed “Energy Consumption” under

aspect A2; and
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

Emissions (Continued)

GHG Emissions (Continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

A. RE

A1.

actively adopt measures for waste reduction,
which are described in the section headed

"Waste Management” under this aspect.

During the Year, the Group's total GHG emissions
intensity was approximately 1.86 tCO,e/million
revenue (RMB) (2023: approximately 2.92 tCO,e/
million revenue (RMB)), a decrease of approximately
36% over 2023 due to an increase in revenue.
The Group is in the process of achieving its
aforementioned target and will continue to promote

measures to reduce GHG emissions in the future.

Summary of GHG emissions performance:

R - g RERRE ()

(%)
BEr (&)
BER B (8

TEHREREUR D B R 5
MR IRENABEEE
METE | — e

RAFE AEENBEREER
BN EE Y B 8o —E 1t
REE/ BE8RAARET)
(20234 : £92.92WE — S LR E
2/ BBRA(AREIT)) ' @
U ASE B0+ EE20234F 5k 4 4
36% c AEBIEEEIR Lt B
ERREBEEDP WK RKRE
BHERVBEERERRNE
iiiie

BERBHRREGRE

Indicator’ Unit 2024 2023
B B 20244 20234
Direct GHG Emissions (Scope 1) tCO,e 6.13 16.00
BEREREBEW (FEE) W —S(LIREE
Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2) tCO,e 50.79 57.32
BEAZEREBH R (HE2) WE—SLEE 2
Other Indirect Emissions (Scope 3) tCO,e 0.60 093
H fth i B2 HE A (85 [E13) WS LI E 2
Total GHG Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) tCO,e 57.52 74.25
BERBHHREE (8E1 - 2 &3) Wo_E{tRER
Total GHG Emissions Intensity® tCO,e/million 1.86 2.92

BERBREREERE

revenue (RMB)
mE — S 1L i
HE HBEWR
(AR T)

20244 F F R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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A.

82

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1l.

Emissions (Continued)

GHG Emissions (Continued)

Note(s):

GHG emission data is presented in terms of
carbon dioxide equivalent and are based on, but
not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards”
issued by the World Resources Institute and
the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange, the “Notice
on the Management of Enterprise Greenhouse
Gas Emission Reporting by Power Generation
Industry for 2023-2025" published by the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment of the PRC, and the
“Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC
Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5).

During the Year, the Group's revenue recorded
approximately RMB21.95 million (2023:
approximately RMB25.45 million). This data is also
used for calculating other intensity data.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1. Emissions (Continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

Al BEm ()

Discharges into Water

Due to the Group’s business nature, discharges into
water are insignificant. Since the sewage discharged
by the Group will be disposed of through the
municipal sewage pipe network to the regional
water purification plant, its water consumption
amount is considered the amount of sewage
discharged. As the sewage of the entire office
building was collected by the property management
company in a centralised manner, specific data
could not be obtained.

Waste Management

The Group adheres to the waste management
principles of the 4Rs, namely, “reduce, reuse, recycle,
and replace”, and strives to manage and handle all
wastes produced in its business activities properly.
The Group’s waste management practice has
complied with related environmental protection
laws and regulations.

Hazardous Waste Management

As the Group mainly focuses on providing integrated
multimedia advertising and marketing solution
services, the Group does not directly produce
a material amount of hazardous waste during
its operation. Despite the fact that no material
amount of hazardous waste was generated by the
Group during the Year, the Group has established
guidelines to govern the management and disposal
of hazardous waste. In case there is any hazardous
waste produced, the Group must engage a qualified
chemical waste collector to handle such waste and
comply with the relevant environmental rules and
regulations.

LIFIN:REZ95
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A1. Emissions (Continued)
Waste Management (Continued)

Non-hazardous Waste Management

Non-hazardous waste generated by an office-based
operation was mainly office paper. During the
Year, the Group did not produce a disproportional
amount of waste. Meanwhile, to minimise the
environmental impacts from non-hazardous waste
generated from its business operations, the Group
has set a target in 2021 to reduce non-hazardous
waste intensity (kg/million revenue (RMB)) gradually
by 2026 using 2021 as the baseline year. To achieve
this target, the Group continues to place great effort
into educating its employees on the importance
of reducing waste production and has adopted
the following environmentally friendly initiatives to

enhance its performance:

use duplex printing, recycle papers, and use
electronic means to reduce paper usage;

print or photocopy only the pages needed;

reuse office stationery, such as envelopes and

folders;

encourage employees to recycle equipment
such as computers and communication

devices;

utilise electronic means for daily office

communication;

implement waste classification according
to relevant local waste management

regulations; and

reuse materials for public relations activities.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1.

Emissions (Continued)

Waste Management (Continued)

Non-hazardous Waste Management (Continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

A. RE

A1.

During the Year, the Group’s total non-hazardous
waste intensity was approximately 4.03 kg/million
revenue (RMB) (2023: approximately 7.60 kg/million
revenue (RMB)), an decrease of approximately 47%
over 2023 due to a increase in revenue. The Group is
in the process of achieving its aforementioned target
and will continue to promote initiatives to reduce

waste production in the future.

Summary of non-hazardous waste discharge

R - g RERRE ()

(%)

Py ()
BERMEE (&)
EEZEREYEE ()

RAFE  NEBMHREEZRE
BEYHEREE L BIORT/
BERA(ARETT) (20234F :
7602 T,/ BERA (AR
70)) + R U ASE AN - BE2023
FERDL4T c KEBIEHEE
B BENBREES I
KRR EHE RV EEE
H RSB o

BEBREMFMERRME

performance:

Non-hazardous Waste Type Unit 2024 2023
BEREVWER B 20244 20234
Paper Kg 124.70 193.35
i S /N

Total Non-hazardous Waste Kg 124.70 193.35
BERZEVHEE NI

Total Non-hazardous Waste Intensity kg/million 4.03 7.60

BERRVEERE

revenue (RMB)
aF/
BEWE
(AR¥ )

20244 F F R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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A.

86

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2.

Use of Resources

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group
upholds and promotes the effective use of
resources. The Group actively promotes green
office practices and minimises the environmental
impacts of the Group. The Group also encourages its
employees to use their best endeavours to reduce
the use of resources, with a view to contributing to
the community and the environment. The Group
has adopted relevant policies to govern the use
of electricity and water, and will keep monitoring
the potential environmental impacts of its business
operations.

Energy Consumption

The energy consumed by the Group was mainly
electricity consumption for the operations and petrol
consumption for transportation.

Related policies and initiatives on energy
conservation have been developed to show the
Group's concern for energy efficiency. Striving to
conserve energy in the workplace, the Group has set
a target in 2021 to reduce the energy consumption
intensity (MWh/million revenue (RMB)) gradually
by 2026 using 2021 as the baseline year. In order to
achieve this target, all employees are required to
implement the adopted policies and measures for
energy utilisation. The relevant specific measures are
as follows:

consider energy-efficient products when
procuring and replacing equipment, such
as replacing incandescent lighting with LED
lighting;
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A.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2,

Use of Resources (Continued)
Energy Consumption (Continued)

turn off electrical appliances or switch them
to standby mode when they are not in use,
thus reducing the amount of electricity used;

turn off all unnecessary lighting, air
conditioning, and electrical appliances before
leaving the office;

strictly limit the use of air conditioners to
avoid electricity waste; and

improve equipment maintenance and
overhaul, and keep all electronic equipment
in best condition for efficient electricity use.

The Group also actively promotes an energy-efficient
office by committing to organising environmental
protection activities for employees every year to
raise their environmental awareness on responsible
energy consumption.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A.

88

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A. RIE (&)
A2. Use of Resources (Continued) A2. EREH (F)
Energy Consumption (Continued) IR H#E ()

During the Year, the Group’'s total energy
consumption intensity was approximately 3.06
MWh/million revenue (RMB) (2023: approximately
461) MWh/million revenue (RMB)), an decrease of
approximately 34% over 2023 due to a increase in
revenue. The Group is in the process of achieving
its aforementioned target and will continue to
raise employee awareness on responsible energy
consumption in the future.

Summary of energy consumption performance:

RARFE  NEEMREREE
HMEZEHNBKEE,/ &
BUWA(AREETT) (2023F - 49
461K B, B ERA (AR
70)) R UL A SE AN - ££2023
FERADH34% REBIEHEE
REMBENBREES T
NAKREERAEEHEET
BRI Z R -

RERHFERAME -

Type of Energy Unit 2024 2023
RERIE B 20244 20234
Direct Energy
- Petrol MWh 21.21 55.39
BN Jo FLBY
- A
Indirect Energy
- Electricity MWh 73.38 61.86
B BE IR E 8 JK FL B
- &'H
Total Energy Consumption MWh 94.59 117.25
RERHERE K BF
Total Energy Consumption Intensity MWh/million 3.06 4.61
revenue (RMB)
ERHERERE KEEE
ER-L.&
(AR¥ )
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2,

Use of Resources (Continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

A2. ERMEA ()

Water Consumption

Water usage was limited to water used by
employees at the office. Water consumption data
was not available since water usage was covered in
the tenancy fee.

The target for water efficiency is not presented,
as data gathering is not applicable. The Group
nevertheless encourages all employees to develop
the habit of conscious water conservation. The
Group has been enhancing its water conservation
promotion. Environmental messages are posted in
the pantry and washrooms to remind employees
to save water. The employees’ water conservation
awareness has increased with the above
water-saving measures.

Due to the Group's business nature, the Group did
not encounter any problems in sourcing water that
was fit for purpose.

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group does
not produce any final products nor does it have any
industrial facilities. Therefore, the Group does not
use a significant amount of packaging material in its
daily operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A.

20

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2.

Use of Resources (Continued)
Use of Packaging Material (Continued)

The Group focuses on the business impacts it has on
the environment and natural resources and pursues
the best practices for environmental protection. In
addition to complying with related environmental
laws and regulations and international standards
for proper natural environment preservation, the
Group has integrated the concept of environmental
protection and natural resource conservation into its
internal management and daily operations in order
to achieve the aim of environmental sustainability.
The group has established relevant policies to
identify the environmental factors that can be
controlled and may have a significant impact on the
Group’s activities, products or services.

Working Environment

The Group strives to provide employees with a
comfortable working environment to enhance work
efficiency. The Group maintains office discipline
and environmental hygiene, and ensures private
office space and common areas are neat and
tidy. The Group also encourages its employees to
reduce unnecessary use of electricity, water, and
paper whenever possible, minimizing the Group’s
consumption of natural resources. The Group’s
employees monitor the conditions of the workplace
from time to time, set up emergency plans in
advance for risk mitigation, adopt preventive and
control measures for problem and risk identification,
and deal with the identified problems and potential
risks in time so as to maintain a sound working
environment.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A3. Climate Change

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

A3. RIR&1t

Extreme weather events are becoming more
frequent and severe, while tackling climate change
has become a global consensus. The Group has
realised that climate change will affect its business
operations. Therefore, the Group has established
a robust set of policies and procedures to identify,
monitor, and manage climate-related issues. During
the Year, the Group has initiated a climate change
assessment to identify and mitigate the potential
risks that may arise from its business operations.
These risks mainly stem from the following
dimensions:

Transition Risks

It is expected that there will be more stringent
climate legislation and regulations to support the
global vision for decarbonisation. If the Group fails
to comply with the laws and regulations applicable
to its businesses from time to time, its business
operations may be affected. Negative publicity may
also arise due to failure to meet the compliance
requirements for climate change. The company's
related capital investment and compliance costs
thus increase. In response to the policy and legal
risks as well as the reputational risks, the Group
regularly monitors existing and emerging trends,
policies, and regulations relevant to climate and
is prepared to alert the top management where
necessary to avoid cost increments, non-compliance
fines, or reputational risks due to delayed response.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)
A3. Climate Change (Continued)

Transition Risks (Continued)

On the other hand, the Group's success depends on
its ability to maintain relationships with its existing
customers and attract new ones. If the Group cannot
adapt and respond timely and effectively to the
emerging market expectations for climate change
actions, it may not be able to compete with its
peers in the market. In light of that, the Group has
gradually incorporated sustainability into its business
operations by taking various measures aimed at
reducing its GHG emissions and impact on the

environment.

Physical Risks

Increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events, such as heavy rains and typhoons,
can disrupt operations by damaging the power grid
and communication infrastructures, hampering and
injuring employees on their way to or during work.
These events could disrupt supply chains, interrupt
business operations, and damage the Group's
assets. As a countermeasure, the group identifies
these risks, prioritises those with the most severe
consequences for taking precautionary measures
first, and investigates how a change in business
model might be possible to mitigate or avoid these

severe impacts on business operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Human resources serve as the foundation for the
continuous development of the Group. The Group's
success highly depends on its ability to attract,
cultivate, and retain employees. The Group adheres
to a people-oriented approach and standardises
labour employment management to respect and
protect the legitimate interests of every employee.
At the same time, the Group strives to ensure the
welfare and well-being of its employees, protect
their labour rights, and stimulate their enthusiasm
and creativity.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with labour laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
the Regulations on Work-Related Injury Insurance of
the People’s Republic of China.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 36
(as at 31 December 2023: 43) full-time employees, all
of whom were located in the PRC. The distribution
of employees by gender, age group, and employee
category was as follows:
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
BRI - HERER®RE (B])

B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. #g (&)

B1. Employment (Continued) B1. {&fE (&)

m Male
By Gender Hit
RiERIE 2
m Female
7
i m Age 30 or below
30RRLA T
m Age 31-40
By Age Group 31-405%
REEERRS
o Age 41-50
41-505%,

M Age 51 orabove
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B Senior Management
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RESERES BIEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

Employment (Continued)

Due to the Group’s business nature, there is

a high turnover of staff in the live-streaming

e-commerce business, and the Group has carried

out staff optimization this year in accordance with

its business development and market conditions.

During the Year, the Group's overall turnover rate’

was approximately 91.67% (2023: approximately
102.33%). The employee turnover rate by gender,

R - g RERRE ()

B1. &% (&)

HRAEBEMERTEE  HE
EEREBMNABRDEER
RN MAEBESFRREESE
BKRERAMISRBEBMN BT
ABEBIE -RAFE ~EHEH
BB B 7t K A B91.67% (2023
F o 4910233%) o IBIER - F
BR2E B R HIE B D A B B K

age group and geographical region was as follows: KR
Categories* 2024 2023
walt 20245 20235
Gender 4 Bl
- Male -5 69.57% 122.22%
— Female - 130.77% 88.00%
Age Group REwRAR & 5
— Age 30 or below - 30pR AT 185.71% 207.69%
- Age 31-40 - 312408% 111.76% 71.43%
- Age 41-50 - 41 E505% 9.09% 25.00%
- Age 51 or above - 51 A F 0.00% 0.0%
Geographical Region R EE 2
The PRC s 91.67% 102.33%
Note(s): Bt -
3. The overall employee turnover rate is calculated 3. BEEEE MK RIZHEH

by dividing the number of employees leaving
employment during the reporting period by the
number of employees at the end of the reporting
period (employees who left the Group during
probation period are not included).

The employee turnover rate by specific category is
calculated by dividing the number of employees
in the specified category leaving employment
during the reporting period by the number of
employees in the specified category at the end
of the reporting period (employees who left the
Group during probation period are not included).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B1. Employment (Continued)

Employment Practices Recruitment, Promotion,

and Dismissal

The Group has formulated a series of personnel
management policies to guide employees in actively
integrating personal pursuits into the long-term

development of the Group.

The Group strives to nurture potential candidates
who show passion for launching a career in
the advertising industry. Hence, the Group
has established a robust, transparent, and fair
recruitment process in accordance with its
"Recruitment Management System” to offer open
and equal opportunities free of gender, race, family
status, and age discrimination in order to recruit the

best talents.

To retain talent, the Group offers promotion and
development opportunities for outperforming
employees through an open and fair assessment
system so as to explore their potential capabilities,
develop their careers and meet the Group’s needs
for sustainable development. Formulating the
"Performance Appraisal Management Approach’,
the Group has developed a set of criteria and
reasonable KPIs for selecting outstanding employees
in the annual performance appraisal. The promotion
of employees will be evaluated according to the

appraisal results.

Besides, the Group strictly prohibits any kinds
of unfair or unreasonable dismissals to protect
the employee’s rights. Any termination of the
employment contract is based on reasonable, lawful

grounds and internal policies.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

Employment (Continued)

Employment Practices Recruitment, Promotion,
and Dismissal (Continued)

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group has established a fair and reasonable
remuneration system that offers a competitive
remuneration package to employees by
referencing market benchmarks in order to attract
high-calibre candidates. The standard remuneration
package for employees includes a base salary,
a performance bonus, overtime pay, a position
subsidy and related subsidies, and other bonuses.
Employees’ remuneration is determined based on
their responsibilities, qualifications, performance,
experience, and seniority. Employees are also offered
other benefits, such as medical insurance, and
granted leaves such as maternity leave, marriage
leave, compassionate leave, and bereavement
leave. The remuneration policy and the package of
employees are periodically reviewed.

The Group signs and executes labour contracts
with all employees in the PRC in accordance with
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China. In accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC, the Group participates in a
defined contribution basic pension insurance in the
social insurance system established and managed
by government organisations. The Group's PRC
subsidiary contributes funds which are calculated
on certain percentages of the employee salary
as agreed by the local municipal government to
the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees. These benefits are paid according to
relevant local regulations, which are paid monthly.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

Employment (Continued)

Employment Practices Recruitment, Promotion,
and Dismissal (Continued)

Remuneration and Benefits (Continued)

The Group also provides different benefits, such
as birthday presents, tea breaks, and employee
discounts at different restaurants, to boost the sense
of belonging of its employees.

In addition, the compensation for key executives
of the Group is reviewed by the Company’s
remuneration committee, which is based on the
Group's performance and the executives' respective
contributions to the Group. The remuneration of
the Board and members of senior management is
determined based on their duties, responsibilities,
experience, skills, time commitment, as well as the
Group's performance.

Diversity, Equal Opportunities, and Anti-discrimination

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group
recognises the value of a diverse and skilled
workforce and is committed to creating and
maintaining an inclusive and collaborative
workplace culture in which all can thrive. The Group
is dedicated to providing equal opportunity in all
aspects of employment and maintaining an inclusive
and collaborative workplace culture that is free from
discrimination, physical or verbal harassment against
any individual on the basis of race, religion, colour,
gender, physical or mental disability, age, and place
of origin, marital status, and sexual orientation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B1.

B2.

Employment (Continued)

Employment Practices Recruitment, Promotion,
and Dismissal (Continued)

Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group has formulated the “Employee
Attendance System” for determining the working
hours and rest periods for employees in accordance
with local employment laws and regulations. The
Group has implemented a five-day work scheme
and provides employees with statutory holidays and
welfare holidays. In addition, employees are entitled
to additional annual leave based on the cumulative
years of employment in the Group.

The Group encourages employees to maintain a
work-life balance and avoid unnecessary overtime.
The Group provides overtime allowances and
compensatory rest arrangements for employees.

Health and Safety

The Group highly prioritises the health and safety
of its employees. The Group commits to providing
employees with a healthy, safe, and comfortable
working environment and strives to eliminate
potential health and safety hazards at the workplace.
Although the health and safety measures that are
applicable to an office-based business operation
are limited, the Group is committed to safeguarding
the well-being of all employees. The Group
formulated the "Office Management Regulation” to
reduce employee-related safety risks and enhance
employees’ occupational health awareness.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B2.

Health and Safety (Continued)

During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with health and
safety-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases, and the Fire Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China.

During the Year, there were no work-related injuries
or lost days due to work-related injuries reported
in the Group. In addition, there had been no
work-related fatalities in any of the past three years,
including the Year.

Workplace Health and Safety

As stated in the "Office Management Regulations”
formulated by the Group, all employees are
obligated to promote health and safety at the
workplace. For instance, employees are reminded
to use office equipment safely and maintain a
smoke-free office.

Due to employees’ prolonged use of computers,
the Group has provided employees with desks
of suitable height and task chairs of adjustable
height and encourages them to pay attention to
their sitting posture, take breaks, and do stretching
exercises regularly, thus reducing occupational
strain. Employees are also reminded to take safety
precautions and use suitable tools when lifting
heavy goods or reaching items at a height.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B2.

B3.

Health and Safety (Continued)
Workplace Health and Safety (Continued)

As a precautionary measure against potential
environmental hazards, special working
arrangements during typhoons and rainstorms have
been specified by the Group to avoid any confusion
that might lead to safety issues. The Group has also
taken precautions against fire hazards, where fire
extinguishers are strategically placed and fire exits
are free from obstruction. At the same time, the
Group has also placed first-aid boxes around the

premises for both daily and emergency uses.
Development and Training
Training Management

Training and continuous development are
essential for the Group's staff to keep abreast
of the ever-changing trends in the industry.
Therefore, the Group takes a proactive approach
to providing employees with opportunities to
advance their careers. The Group provides relevant
on-the-job training for each employee to facilitate
their business skills. Through various training
programmes, employees are able to strengthen
their business-related professional knowledge and
management skills. The Group has established the
“Training Management System” to standardise the
management of employees’ training. The Group
also encourages its employees to apply for internal
and external training courses to refresh their prior
knowledge.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B3.
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Development and Training (Continued)

Training Management (Continued)

B. #H& (&)

During the Year, approximately 225.00%’ (2023:
approximately 86.05%) of its employees have
received training related to sales strategies and social
media operations, with an average training time of
approximately 3.92 hours® (2023: approximately 2.33
hours). The breakdown of percentage of employees
trained and average training hours completed per
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employee by gender and employee category was as BT -
follows:
2024 2023
2024F 20235
Percentage Average  Percentage Average
of trained training of trained training
employee hours employee hours
(%)’ (hours) (%) (hours)
XilES T3 XilEE T3
AR () KRN Bk %) BEOE)
Gender Male 14783 250 77.78 1.94
IR 2 Clid
Female 361.54 642 92.00 260
qkd
Employee Category Senior Management 400.00 5.00 20.00 1.60
REREMNZD BRERE
Management 33333 542 100.00 217
EBE
General staff 196.55 357 75.00 3.38
—RET



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B3.

Development and Training (Continued)

Training Management (Continued)

Note(s):

The percentage of trained employees is calculated
by dividing the total number of employees who
took part in training during the reporting period
by the total number of employees at the end
of the reporting period, including existing and
resigned employees.

The average training hours per employee is
calculated by dividing the total number of training
hours during the reporting period by the total
number of employees at the end of the reporting
period, including existing and resigned employees.

The percentage of trained employees by category
is calculated by dividing the number of employees
in the specified category who took part in training
during the reporting period by the total number
of employees in the specified category at the end
of the reporting period, including existing and
resigned employees.

The average training hours by category is
calculated by dividing the number of training
hours for employees in the specified category
during the reporting period by the number of
employees in the specified category at the end
of the reporting period, including existing and
resigned employees.

For new employees, the human resources

department will provide orientation training in

relation to the Group’s policies and guidelines.
The head and members of the department will be
responsible for providing on-the-job training to

new employees. The Group’s “Management System

Compilation”, which covers administration, human

resources, finance, and legal matters, is issued to

employees.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B3.

104

Development and Training (Continued)
Training Management (Continued)

On the subject of employees’ career prospects, if
vacancies or new positions are available, the Group
shall consider internal promotion or transfer, thus
encouraging the upward mobility of employees.

As mentioned in the section headed “Recruitment,
Promotion, and Dismissal” under aspect B1, the
Group regularly assesses employees’ performance.
The Group regularly reviews the effectiveness of the
training courses conducted by the management to
improve the quality of its training system. For those
employees whose performance has yet to reach a
satisfactory level, the Group shall provide training
tailored to strengthen their skills and knowledge.

In order to implement the Group’s development
strategy, promote corporate culture, create a good
corporate atmosphere, and cultivate and shape the
sense of honour and mission of all employees, the
Group has selected outstanding employees during
the Year. The selected outstanding employees were
awarded preferential promotion opportunities and
bonuses.

Regarding the development and training of the
Group's Directors, the Directors keep abreast of
regulatory developments and changes in order
to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Every newly appointed
member has received a formal, comprehensive, and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

B4.

Labour Standards

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

B4. & T %8|

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group strictly prohibits the recruitment of child
labour and forced labour. The Group has established
a well-defined recruitment process in accordance
with its “Recruitment Management System” that
examines the background of candidates and
a formal reporting procedure for handling any
exceptions. During the recruitment process, the
age of the applicant is verified against the identity
documents of the applicant in order to prevent
hiring any employees who are below legal working
age. In addition, the Group conducts regular reviews
and inspections to prevent any child labour or forced
labour in operation. Once the Group discovers any
case that fails to conform to the relevant labour laws,
regulations, or standards, the relevant employment
contract will be immediately terminated.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour— related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group, including
but not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the People’s
Republic of China.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

BS5.

Supply Chain Management

In the Group’s supply chain, environmental and
social risk management are highly valued. For
effective monitoring of procurement procedures
and cost control and to enhance management
transparency in procurement, the Group has
formulated a stringent and standardised “Supplier
Management System” and “Supplier Selection
Procedure”. During the procurement process, as
detailed in the Group’s “Procurement Management
System”, the procurement manager of the Group is
responsible for selecting and reviewing suppliers.
Apart from considering the offered price, the Group
also takes into account the supplier's background,
qualifications, management model, service quality,
financial health status, experience in similar services,
contract fulfilment, social and environmental
compliance, and follow-up services.

106 | lcon Culture Global Company Limited 2024 Annual Report

B. #H& (&)

B5. HfEREIE

AEBSEERBERERIRE
MteRBRER - AHREE
FRERER R AZERI RS
FEEEMNERAE AEECS
#l B R B LB (I ERS
ERGE) M(HEBTER
) I A KB CRBERS
EYFTEfil - EHRBAES - K
EENRELSEAERELSE
BH-ERG -BREBEREIN K
SENTEEHEERNESR &
®mOBEBEER RBEXR Y
AR ~ REELLBR 75 A 48 B
BITAEH HERREAHEK
R PRTE o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

BS5.

Supply Chain Management (Continued)
Sustainable Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to managing its supply
chain in a socially and environmentally responsible
manner and sourcing from approved suppliers
who meet the Group’s requirements. Relevant
policies and measures are established to monitor
the quality of the Group's suppliers as well as their
environmental and ethical performance.

To reduce its social and environmental risks along
the supply chain, the Group periodically evaluates
and monitors the performance of its suppliers to
ensure their compliance with laws and regulations
relating to environmental and social policies,
service standards, contract conditions, and quality
provisions. Any noncompliance with relevant
environmental and social laws and regulations
discovered by the designated personnel from the
Group during the assessment will be promptly
reported to the management. Corrective action plan
will be carried out to remediate the identified risk in
a timely manner.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

BS5.

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Sustainable Supply Chain Management
(Continued)

In addition, the Group pays close attention to
the environmental awareness of its suppliers and
promotes sound environmental performance
and governance practices amongst its business
partners and suppliers. The Group encourages its
business partners and suppliers to consider the
risks posed to their operations by climate change
and actively mitigate their environmental impacts
during supplier management meetings and
events. During the selection process, to promote
improvements in environmental performance,
suppliers are encouraged to consider and manage
their environmental and social issues in their
operations for priority consideration. The Group
maintains close communication with suppliers,
understands their supply and services, resolves
related supply and service issues, and makes
corresponding improvement measures. The Group
also shares sustainable operating practices and
disseminates environmental concepts, including
the latest knowledge on good employment and
environmental practices.

During the Year, the Group had a total of 96
suppliers (2023: 430 suppliers), all of which were
located in the PRC. All of them were engaged and
evaluated under the aforementioned practices.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility

The Group actively safeguards the quality of its
products with its internal control process. The
Group also maintains ongoing communication
with customers to understand their demands and
expectations and improve its service quality by
learning their levels of satisfaction.

In recognition of its outstanding service quality,
the Group has won many awards, including the
ADMEN Awards and ROI Festival in the year 2022,
was jointly awarded the honorary title of “South
China E-commerce Gold Label Award - Most
Growing Enterprise Award” by Guangzhou Municipal
Commerce Bureau and Guangzhou Electronic
Commerce Industry Association, and also elected as
Guangzhou Tianhe District Folk Artists Association
(Vice President Company), Vice President Company
of Guangzhou E-commerce Industry Association and
member of Guangdong Modern Service Federation.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with any laws
and regulations in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating
to products and services and methods of redress
that would have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests, the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

Moreover, during the Year, there were not any
products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety
and health reasons.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

Protection of IP Rights

Preventing potential copyright violations is critical
in the advertising industry. Before inserting a
copyrighted image on the Group’s product, the
Group ensures that consent from the relevant

copyright holder has been obtained.

Additionally, the Group respects IP rights and
is therefore committed to purchasing genuine
copyrighted products such as computer software
and firewalls. Fundamental guidelines are also
provided to the employees to ensure they do not
infringe upon any IP rights such as trademarks and
copyrights. Disciplinary or legal actions may be taken
against the employee should he/she be found to be

in breach of such rights.

Customer Services

Feedback from customers is welcomed as it is the
key to enhancing the Group’s service. Procedures
for handling feedback have been set up. Should
the Group receive any complaints, the Group will
act immediately to resolve the issue with effective
corrective actions. Due to the limitations of the
Group’s business, the Group could not recall the
services provided. During the Year, the Group's
did not receive any material written product or

service-related complaints.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Customer Privacy Protection

The Group recognises that protecting customers’
privacy is the key to its success, and as such, it is
always the Group's top priority. The Group’s "Office
Management Regulations”, “Visitor Management
Regulations”, “Confidentiality Agreements” and
“Brand Management Regulations” have been
implemented to govern the collection, usage, and
disclosure of personal data given to the Group from
individuals.

Moreover, the Group seeks to protect customers’
information and accounts by adopting “Information
System Management System”, “Data Backup
Management System”, “Live Streaming E-commerce
Center Information Management Rules” and the
following data security measures such as:

promptly and regularly update the operating
system and anti-virus software, thus fixing
security vulnerabilities;

regularly backup employees’ computers and
servers, thereby avoiding possible data loss
caused by hardware or software failures,
including data related to IP rights and
consumer data and privacy;

promptly notify management and conduct
inspections based on relevant protocols
when computers or servers show signs of
anomalies, so as to minimise potential risks of
data leakage;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Customer Privacy Protection (Continued)

conduct meetings with clients and visitors
in the conference room instead of the open
area in the office to avoid potential leaks of
client data or other private information;

prohibit the disclosure of the Group's
information relating to strategies, research,
technologies, financial matters, clients, and
other confidential information to unrelated
third parties or employees;

prohibit employees from reading each other’s
working information, computer, or personal
items without consent;

grant permission before entering the finance
office or server room with confidential
information;

require employees to keep information and
data related to IP rights and consumer data
and privacy confidential after resignation; and

configure proper networking and server
permissions to prevent unauthorised access
to customer data and private information.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B6.

B7.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Advertising and Labelling

The Group emphasises the importance of
appropriate advertising and compliance with
requirements relating to media advertisements.
The Group has formulated the “Sales Management
Practices” to ensure that the information on
its advertisements and labels does not contain
false, misleading, or incomplete information and
statements in order to protect the interests of
consumers from being deteriorated by improper
advertisement and label descriptions. The Group's
advertisements will be monitored by CSM Media
Research, the PRC’s largest market research
institution, to ensure their effectiveness.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to building a clean
and healthy corporate system while combating
corruption and other improper business practices.
The Group has adopted relevant policies, including
the “Insider Information Management System” and
“Conflict of Interest Management System”, that
outline relevant procedures to guide employees in
preventing possible violations of bribery, corruption
and conflicts of interest. The Group specifically
stipulates that employees must discharge their
duties with loyalty and integrity, and shall not abuse
their positions to seek any improper interests.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with related laws and
regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that would have a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to the Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Anti-
Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China.
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B7.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

B. SOCIAL (Continued)

B7.

Anti-corruption (Continued)

The Group has zero tolerance for any bribery,
corruption, or other behaviour violating work ethics.
The Group has formulated the “Professional Ethics
and Anti-Fraud Code of Conduct”. Employees are
expected to fulfil their duties with integrity and to
cease engaging in any activities that involve bribery,
extortion, fraud, or money laundering.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has established the “Complaints and
Whistle— blowing System”. The Group encourages all
employees to report on any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices, or irregularities. If an
employee discovers any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices or irregularities within
the Group, he/she can report it to the administrative
department or his/her senior. If the employee is
not satisfied with the response or does not want
the complaint handled by the administrative
department or his/her supervisor, he/she can report
it directly to the general manager. Reports and
complaints received will be handled in a prompt
and fair manner. The Group intends to protect the
whistle-blower from common concerns such as
confidentiality and potential retaliation. Therefore,
the employee who reports in good faith under
the whistle-blowing mechanism can be assured of
protection against unfair dismissal or victimisation,
even if the reports are subsequently proved to be
unsubstantiated.

If any corruption, bribery, blackmail, fraud, or money
laundering incidents are discovered, the Group will
take necessary legal actions to protect the rights
and interests of the Company and its stakeholders.
There were no concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees during the Year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

SOCIAL (Continued)

B7.

B8.

Anti-corruption (Continued)
Anti-corruption Training

Recognising that anti-corruption training is essential
for creating a healthy corporate culture, the
Group has provided relevant training to Directors
and employees, including senior management.
The Group has provided all employees with
anti-corruption and anti-fraud guidelines to help
them understand their roles and responsibilities
in anti-corruption as well as to cultivate good
professional ethics among its employees at all levels.
In addition, training materials are distributed to the
Directors, including comprehensive memorandum
on Directors’ responsibilities, covering topics such as
integrity and discipline, confidentiality, and conflict
of interest.

Community Investment

In pursuit of business development, the Group
spares no effort in contributing to the community.
The Group is committed to contributing to society
through continuous participation in community
services in order to fulfil the Group's corporate
social responsibility and have established relevant
community investment policies to better manage
the Group’s contribution to the community. The
Group also hopes to foster employees’ sense of
social responsibility, thus encouraging them to
participate in charitable activities during their work
and spare time to make greater contributions to the
community.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
R - HERERBRE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF THE §;%Ha* REZFERATCRE - 1

STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED EREBBEESDARTES
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Section/Declaration

BEIRERE =4 3

Governance Structure Introduction — The ESG Governance Structure
BRRE BT —RE L RERERE

Reporting Principles Reporting Framework

M =t R B WEEL

Reporting Boundary Scope of Reporting

P e 6 &) WS EE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

TEER EBEH- —K

BRENRBERERERES it 400 1
Aspect A1: Emissions
EEA1 : BER
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— PRI R EBAEREBRERBEER - MR HAHE BB
ﬁ BELEZERYNELSTH
a) K I
b) BFTHBITABEAZENHBEE LR
4l
BB FL -
KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Emissions — Air Emissions, GHG
data. Emissions, Discharges into Water,
Waste Management
B $ 48 IR IRAT HE i iE iR MR HE R - P — BRI AER
BHER - FUKEVBER - BEEY)
B
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

eRE>

R - g RERRE ()

BERBEXZMARATCERSE -+

ﬁ¢h%»ma%%“%)

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FEHE -EH - —
RERBRAEVIER it 400 1
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Emissions — GHG Emissions
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
AR R IRAY2 BE(EE) RepREZ (HE) ) RERBEH HRY — AEREBYN
BABESHE) B (4B ) 2 (A SE S s
7 - GFIERMBAHE) o
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Emissions — Waste Management

B8 4B IR 1RA1 3

KPI' A14

BB S R 1RA 4

KPI'A1.5

BB A IR RAL S

KPI' A1.6

BB AE IR IRAT6

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FTEXBEREEMES (UEAE) kK (WER)
ZE(WABEESEN  BERBE) -
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FREXREEEMMAE (UEAE) K (WEA)
ZE(WMASESEM - BEFZEFTE) °
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
RPN ER R R ARERELER
PR ERER & 27 B%: o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
MR ENESEENN L URHE
AP ET SRR B AR K R E RS L B AR PR
) 228 o

e — BEERWEE

Emissions — Waste Management

ey — EEEYER
Emissions — GHG Emissions

BERY) — R E R IX

Emissions — Waste Management

e — BEEYERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs Description
FEHKE -EH - —R
BEERBREXER it

BERBEXZMARATCERSE -+
ERERBERESDRBES (F)

Section/Declaration

B BH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : EREA

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including  Use of Resources
energy, water and other raw materials.
— PRI EE BREAER(BIERER  KREMRME) BIRER
HER o
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Use of Resources — Energy

(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

BB 45 R 1RAT WEARESNEE R/ REEER(WE - R
som) BREE (A TETERSE) REE (10
NEEEEM BEREHE) °

KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

BB AE B TRA2.2 BEKERTE(WABESEMN - BERE
E

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

B A IR 1RA23 R PrET M MR IRIE B s B R R RERE
LE B R P ERERE) 22 5K o

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in

sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.
B 4B BB IRA24 it SR EGE A KR L] BEAERE - LAKRET

I AR B RN AEREL B IR

PRERE) B

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per

unit produced.

BB 45 R 1RA2S X mATABEMENEE (EE) & ()

B BEESBUIEE -

Consumption

BIREM — ERER

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BRER —KE

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

BIREM — ERHER

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BRER —EKE

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

BIRER — BRMEHER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF §;§H§*A"%Fﬁﬁ FRABCGRE «
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED eREABREIESYREED (fﬁ)
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEEE - -EH - —&
RERBRAEVIER i 40 1

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEHA3 RERRXARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant The Environment and Natural
impacts on the environment and natural resources. Resources

—REE BEBTAHRRERRAERENEATE RRELKRAER
BB -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities ~ The Environment and
on the environment and natural resources and the Natural Resources — Working
actions taken to manage them. Environment

B B2 48 BB 1RA3 R EBETBHHRENRAERNERATE RENKAER — LERR

MRERREBGRTZENIT -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EEA4 . RIRE 1

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

— PRI EE E%%/”JH&EE%E@&T%EQ%@‘H/\FE?75 RAREb
B B KSR M 48 B = B A BUR
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related Climate Change

issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.
R G 45 IR IRA4 B RAREHBETAEETENEAR RIEEL
RIRMEEEE - REHTE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE 8 RERRE(E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF ERBMAEXRIERATCGRE - &
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED ERERBEESIABES (E)
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FEHKE -EH - —R
RERBREVIER it 400 1
Aspect B1: Employment
[EEB1 : E{E
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
— PRI ER BERHFMLmgE BREREA  TERSE - ERE
RE - FEHE  Znb  REGREEM
i LA Al
(@ B &
) BTFTHBETAFTERTENEREEZK
181051
HE R o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type Employment
(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
78§ 48 IR 1ZB1.1 IR EBEER (R BEERE) Fikld EBE
ARl B D H e B4R -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Employment
geographical region.
RAS2AE I 1R8I 2 MR FEAR LR ESHEBREE - ER
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description
FEHE EH —R
EENRBRENER it

]

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

E}%WA"%F)?%EE’AT@E K
ERERBERESDREES (&)

Section/Declaration

BB

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EEB2: RERARE

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and

Health and Safety

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.
— PRI EE BERREL2THEREIMREEEREBE RBRELS
ﬁﬁ%%i
a) R I
b) BFTHBEBITABEAXLENMEBERE LR
1
B EFL o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred Health and Safety

in each of the past three years including the

reporting year.

B84 A I 1RB2.1 BE-ZF (BRERFE)BFAITHHA REHR

Bt & -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BB 4E IR 1RB2.2 AITGHEEATIERS - RERZ S
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety — Workplace

measures adopted, and how they are implemented Health and Safety

and monitored.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

FEHKE -EH - —R
BEERBREXER

Description

i

ERBEXZMARDIACRE &

exrEs

BEESDABRRS| (F)

Section/Declaration

B BH

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : R K i%3|

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of

training activities.

Development and Training -
Training Management

— R FRRTEERITIEBRENMB LN  #E MG —BIIERE
BUR o g s E B o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender ~ Development and Training —

FA SR AR I IE1RB3.1
KPI B3.2

Bl B 45 e 138322

and employee category (e.g. senior management,

middle management).

BER R EEER (InE R EIEE

B)EomXilREB D

CRRER

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.

BRI REERRE D  BREETKRZI

BT B o

Training Management
BRLIEY — EIEE

Development and Training —
Training Management
R M E — B E IR
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs
FEHE EH —R
EENRBRENER it

Description

]

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - g RERRE ()

E}%WA"%F)?%EE’AT@E K
ERERBERESDREES (&)

Section/Declaration

BB

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T 48|

General Disclosure

Information on:
(a) the policies; and

Labour Standards — Prevention of
Child and Forced Labour

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

— PRI EE ﬁ%%tiliﬁ%%l%t B TR — By IEE T KogH|
a) R I BT
b) BFHETABERTZENEAEELR
1
B EFL o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards - Prevention of

FASAR AN IE 15841
KPI B4.2

B 4B I 1RB4.2

practices to avoid child and forced labour.

Child and Forced Labour

i BB EEARRET KaH ST —HIEET kg

R

Description of steps taken to eliminate such

practices when discovered.

T

=7

Labour Standards — Prevention of
Child and Forced Labour

AR RERBRARERBEBBMEKR STER —HIEET KR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs

TEER -BEH- —&
RERBRERER

Description

i

ERBEXZMARDIACRE &

exrEs

BEESDABRRS| (F)

Section/Declaration

B BH

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EmBs : HEEEE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.

Supply Chain Management

— PRI R EIRHESEAIRIE KA SRR B - e E e
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

B 5 45 AR 1385 1

KPI B5.2

B B 45 A5 1385 .2

KPI B5.3

Bl B 45 B 13B5 3

KPI B5.4

B 5 45 A B 13B5 4

miEE D HEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

M AR HEEEEANEN  MERTER
BOINMHEREE - ARBERITRERTE -
Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

R ERAENHEEGERGNIRE T E
R\ Rz B - ARMEEIMITREERTE -
Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

i 7 BRE B B R 2 2% A IRAREE dn M AR
BEVER - LA MAMEBFRIT REER T ©

- Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

HEREER — A REMER
EpEs

Supply Chain Management

— Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

HEREER — A REMER
EpEs

Supply Chain Management

— Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

HEREER — A REMER
EpEs

Supply Chain Management

— Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

HrEgEETE — A E Mt e

51
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs Description
FEHE EH —R
EENRBRENER it

R - g RERRE ()

BERBEXZMARATCERSE -+
aRE’ ﬁ¢h§»ﬁ@?ﬂ@ﬂ

Section/Declaration

BB

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEBe : EmEE

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and

Product Responsibility

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and

services provided and methods of redress.

— PRI EE BRAMRHERNRBNEERLZS  EE - Emaf
SENMALEEE AR AR
a) B - &
b) SFH T ABERTEMMEAER KRN
B EEL -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product Responsibility
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
BA 5248 AR 1EB6.1 EEXRCEXEMRHAPAREREESR EmAME
/R B 7L o
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints Product Responsibility —
received and how they are dealt with. Customer Services
RA B2 4B I 1RB6.2 BEANEMNMRENIRFEB UNEE L - EmEE — TP RG
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and  Product Responsibility —
protecting intellectual property rights. Protection of IP Rights
RASEAE IR 1RB6.3 f il BR A RS A BERE R BRI - EmA T — RERBER
KPI B6.4 Descr|pt|on of quality assurance process and recall  Product Responsibility —
procedures. Customer Services, Advertising
and Labelling
RABE4E BB 1RB64 il E EmEBiE MNEMBKREF EmAET —EPRE  ES
A=
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Product Responsibility —

privacy policies, and how they are implemented Customer

and monitored.
8§12 48 B 1Z2B6.5 iR BEERHMRERALBESR
MITREER L »

Privacy Protection

CUNEE EmET - FPLERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

R - @ RER®RE (E)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

FEHKE -EH - —R
BEERBREXER

Description

i

ERBEXZMARDIACRE &

exrEs

BEESDABRRS| (F)

Section/Declaration

B BH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BHEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

Anti-corruption

laundering.
— R E BREDIEEE - R - MEFFMARER RES
@ BE: &
o) BFHBETABEAZENHEBERZR
B
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption —

B B 45 AR 1387 1

KPI B7.2

FA 2 AR IR 1RB7.2
KPI B7.3

B 5 45 B 1387 3

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

REFARNH ETAIEEERE LD ELE
WBESHLARMTHEE MFRER -
Description of preventive measures and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

et By S fE i S SR RAR - A B REIT X
BRE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
Directors and staff.

il ESE REBRHORETET -

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

RET — S

Anti-corruption -
Whistle-blowing Mechanism

RES — BRES
Anti-corruption — Anti-corruption

Training
R&E" — REFH
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs Description
FEHE EH —R

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE - HERERBME(E)

BERBEXZMARATCERSE -+
ERERBERESDREES (&)

Section/Declaration

WERERERER i 40 1

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEB8 : HEIRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand Community Investment
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

— PRI EE AN RSERTHREEMEHERRTEN HREKEE
BRAEBEDHGZERLENRABUE -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community Investment
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

RA B2 4B IR 1EB8. I EREE (NHE BEFEE  HIFR . HERRE
2R - X{t - B8F) o

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the  Community Investment
focus area.

B B2 48 IR 13882 EEIHBEMBBER (W EHRHE) o HERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBEHRE

SOIR G 3T BR AT A R 2]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

To the Shareholders of Icon Culture Global Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Icon
Culture Global Company Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 143 to 243, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BIED R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS FAREETTEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RBIEFRMINEZHE > BREEFTSEA
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HFIBAANPREGAFHKBRERTZEE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These HJETE - HPIN BB E LGS BHE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the NN BEXREZRFEEZESE MK
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our T E@MZEZEIEEFHREXER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
AR A B RE N L3

The Key Audit Matter
RREITSEE

BRETEE ()
LN

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETNAEEZEE

The principal activities of the Group are rendering
of traditional offline media advertising, online media
advertising, public relations, marketing campaigns and
other services.
EEEVIZEXBARHMEARTERES &
FREES 2 SHIBREMRE -

Revenue from different advertising service projects
have different contract terms and accordingly different
revenue recognition criteria may apply. As such, there
is an increased risk that error may be made in the
recognition of revenue.
TRAEERBEEEHKRAEENEBE LK
Rl L P Be i A AR RO U A BERRARE » [ A
R AR B A BE LH IR SR SR A0 R B 38 A0

130

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
revenue included the following:

B AR A RN EARFEIEATFIA

understanding and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
key internal controls over recognition of revenue;
T R AN T B B A i R AE A B A 52 N BT
HRET - B fET AL

inspecting the terms and conditions set out in the
Group's contracts with customers on a sample
basis and discussing with the management on the
nature of each major type of services to evaluate
the Group’s revenue recognition on these
projects with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

MRt EEEREFONESLOMEIIZ K
RS TEEBEN RS ETEZRER
BROMWME  A2ERITEFERNRET
i EEEHZEFEANRAERBER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HRESSER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B R

BRETEE ()

LN +:4¢ )

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETTNAEEZSE

We identified recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because (i) revenue is a key performance
measure for the Group and a key driver of the gross
margin which increases the risk that revenue may be
manipulated to meet targets and expectations; and (ii)
different contract terms require different accounting
treatments and manual analysis which increases the risk
of errors in the recognition of revenue.
BAERAERBS RERESFE  REROK
AR BEEENBARENEERENENHETZE
B 3= - LN A AT BE 1R 1R AL A 2 AR B R N TR HS
BWER : R TEEQOERER TR TR
MATI M - BN A HERR 88 3R 1 L g o

reconciling revenue records as set out in the
management accounts, on a sample basis, to
service contracts, service confirmation notes,
monitoring reports, and bank-in slips;

S EIRER B E R sk E RS A 4
RISHERE  ERMERRITARSBETH
BE

confirming with the Group's customers directly
on revenue records, balances of trade receivables,
summaries of service contracts signed between
the Group and its customers and the completion
status of the above service contracts as at the year
end on a sample basis;

mEEER SEEEFFPHBRARZE -
BEHRNFIALES - EEBEATFRN
BR#G & KB 2 M E it BRHG& H) 5 R EY 5 B
AR

assessing existence of the Group's advertising
services projects by matching services contents
as set out in the service contracts signed with the
customers to the media resources procurement
contracts signed with the suppliers on a sample
basis; and
MEREPRITNRBEEOMENREAR
HHERRITNERERRBAVETRY
Al BEEEESERBEEREFE &

evaluating whether revenue was recorded in
the appropriate accounting period by assessing
whether the advertising services revenue
recognition progress was consistent with the
terms and advertisement schedule in the service
contracts on a sample basis.

M EESRBEBARIBERE RS ERE
BHAMBERRESKBER -3 FHKkaER
BREE G EIRAR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements
R A RN 14

The Key Audit Matter
RREITSEE

BRETEE ()
B 5 BWRIRRE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETNAEEZEE

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has gross trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB82,795,000 as at 31
December 2024. Impairment losses of RMB80,479,000
were recorded as at 31 December 2024.

HnE e BREMT4MEE - EXER
2024F12A3AME HEWHRIBEBRLELNR/ARE
82,795,0007T ° 7202412 A31 ARG REEEBAR
#80,479,0007T °

Management recognises a loss allowance for lifetime
expected credit losses ("ECLs") on the trade receivables.
EREEMBEZREFENTHENEEERR (A
BEEEBBR) mABEEE -

Management measures the ECL allowance for
credit-impaired trade receivables individually based on
the future cash flows expected to be collected.
EEERBEHWBRNRKB S REREERE
EHRNFIEAERMEEEBERE -

132

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of trade
receivables included the following:

BAFEE SRR RIBERENETEFEFEAT
&IF :

assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
which govern credit control, debt collection and
the estimation of loss allowance;
FHEREEERS - BB E REEEEG
STEVRABE N BB IR R B REER X
M

assessing, on a sample basis, whether items
in the trade receivables aging report were
classified within the appropriate aging bracket by
comparing individual items in the report with the
relevant supporting documents;
EHMEOER L BEHE S RKFIAREK
RE R ERIIE B AR ERA TR
AEEFRERURBRRRETNEERE S
BREENRKRER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HRESSER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B R

BRETEE ()
8 5 BRWRRERE (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETTNAEEZSE

For trade receivables that are not credit-impaired, the
ECL allowance is measured using a provision matrix,
which involves the use of estimated loss rates for
each category of trade receivables which are grouped
according to shared credit risk characteristics. The
estimated loss rates take into account the ageing of
trade receivable balances, historical payment profiles,
the corresponding historical credit losses rate of the
Group’s customers, current market conditions and
forecast of future economic conditions at the end of
each reporting period.
RAEEBEERENEZRWFIENS  AHES
EEBEEBNEARERERETE  ERFRERR
BHREAERRSEEFEENSEE HRWFTIERN
hEtBIEX - L BIEXERE 5 R K KIEE R
WERE - EEERPHNBENRERLAERBE
BEEEBEEX FWEHRNERITR MR ARREH
AR S TER o

Such assessment involves a significant degree of
management judgement and estimation.

BRRHE Y REARE R EIEE A E R bR -

We identified assessing the impairment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of loss allowances for trade receivables
is inherently subjective and requires significant
management judgement, which increases the risk of
error or potential management bias.

BB FEEZEEFTIRBEZRN REARETS
B RAAMNGLESEREFEANEREELRE £
ERXTHME YF2EREFELERHEG il
BINFERFEEERE R NER -

evaluating the future cash flows expected to be
collected for credit-impaired trade receivables;
AHE B E EREE 5 e R IE T8 R R
KIRESME

challenging management'’s estimation of expected
credit losses, taking into consideration the aging
of the balances, credit terms, recent settlement
patterns, historical observed default rate and the
forecast of future economic conditions; and
EREGRKRK FEH THESEER B
THEREBOXRARRLBERAER  ERE
BEHEREEEENMGT &

identifying significant or long overdue trade
receivables by inspecting the trade receivable
aging report and challenging management’s
assessment of the recoverability of these balances,
taking into consideration the aging of the
balances, credit terms, recent settlement patterns,
and current market conditions and forecast of
future economic conditions.

FRREE 5 RN TIERE RS H R E AR
REBHBEHEUGRIE  WERBTEEBHZ
ZEMAIBEMERNRE - BEREREHRDIER
o EEH FHAEER  BRIMAKLK
A EARSLTEA o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of prepayments to suppliers for trading

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
ARG A RN S

The Key Audit Matter
RREITSEE

BRETEE ()
ANHERNE S RENRE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETNAEEZEE

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had made prepayments to
suppliers for trading amounting to approximately
RMB35,701,000 as at 31 December 2024. The carrying
amount of prepayments to suppliers for trading
accounted for approximately 59% of the Group's total
assets as at 31 December 2024. The Group recorded a
total impairment loss of approximately RMB1,082,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024 in accordance with
the impairment assessment for these assets.

BUNER A B IS RR W s 15AT I B8 0 72024 12 A
31 ESEBENHERNEIREBEHNABARE
35,701,0007T ° 2024128310 - B EHEENE
SHERMBEMAEEREEL% - AEERIE
ZEEEMRBENEREE2024F 128318 ILFE
SRS R E BB AR L A R 1,082,0007T °

Management conducts impairment assessment on
these assets if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The impairment
assessment is based on purchase contracts, payments
information, suppliers’ credit profile, default probability
of suppliers, business relationship with suppliers and
other external factors.

EREMHRBANER AL RRE EEE
SYHRFEEETRERG  BEFGIRER
BaK IREM HERNEEMRR  HEHE
MR R RENE - R A XS RIR M E S5 A
=TT

134

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of
prepayments to suppliers included the following:
BPHEEME RO E S FIENRENFE 2
FFEENATEIE :

Understanding the key controls on how the
impairment assessment of prepayments
to suppliers for trading is estimated by the
management;
BRERE ML REMNHEERNE SHRIA
BB E RT 14 B R SR I

Reviewing and assessing the application of the
Group's policy for accounting for prepayments to
suppliers for trading to consider consistency of

application;
e kath EXEEHBENHEFINE SR

HHESRTBRAER - LAZBRAH — 2L

Evaluating the independence, objectivity,
competence and capabilities of the independent

valuer;
FEBUGEMNBLE FHE - BEEX
B2
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of prepayments to suppliers for trading

(Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
ARENER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B R

BRETEE ()
ANHERNE S RENRE (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAPNEF NAEEZEE

The impairment assessment was performed by the
management with reference to valuation performed by
an independent valuer engaged by the Group.
BENETHEEEL2R SEEEFNBELAE
B PTAETTED (R (EETT

The impairment assessment of prepayments to suppliers
for trading is considered to be a key audit matter
as the impairment assessment involves significant
management judgement and estimates.

MR E RS R EANE R A @ LA Bt R
15 & 7 B B 5 R OR RO ORG (B AT M 1R AR S B SR | AT
£IH -

Discussing with the independent external
valuer to understand the valuation approach,
methodology and key assumptions used;

BB 7 SRR AR B AR AT &R - DA T AR PR R A eV fh
ERR - FERTFERE

Assessing the reasonableness of the basis and
judgement of the management in determining
impairment of prepayments to suppliers for
trading;
AEEREEETRNMHENE S FIENRE
MEERHEEEAIE

Testing the key data sources applied in the
computation of impairment on a sample basis
by checking to the supporting information and
external data sources, as applicable; and

BBE R FFER RINBEIER IR (@A)
BB S A ERER PTERA A F ZEUR IR
&4

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures relating
to the impairment assessment in the context of
applicable financial reporting standards.
RIBEAH M B REER] - A BRER
HHREESTH -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of deposits and loan receivables

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter
FAREITSEE

ERESTER (E)
BrEREWEFRE
SHREMBHRERM 5

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMNEFNAERZEE

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had deposits and loan
receivables amounting to approximately RMB14,093,000
and approximately RMB10,075,000 as at 31 December
2024 respectively. The aggregated carrying amount
of deposits and loan receivables accounted for
approximately 11% of the Group's total assets as at 31
December 2024. The Group recorded a total impairment
loss of approximately RMB18,009,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 in accordance with the impairment
assessments for these assets.

WER B M MERM TSR - E5ER2024
FRAMBBEBNRERERERDAINORBARE
14,093,0007T K2 49 % A R #10,075,0007T © 722024412
A3R e REWEZRNEEREG L E5E
BEEN% BEZFEENREN G EF
BB ZE2024F12A310 IEF BB RIEEBEERE
#) A R #18,009,0007T ©

The assessments of impairment of deposits and loan
receivables under the ECL are considered to be a key
audit matter as it requires the application of judgement
to reflect information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future conditions, and use of
subjective assumptions by the management.
BREEHEEFRN GRS MEKEFTRERSR
REAREAFE ADFRE2ERAHUARBLEREA
EEM - BAMKKRBERBANER - UARERE
AR FHERK -
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of
deposits and prepayments included the following:

HPFHE R RERERNETRFEEA TSR

Understanding the key controls on how the
impairment assessments of deposits and loan
receivables are estimated by the management;
BERERENAGRE REKERERE
BREEVE 2

Reviewing and assessing the application of the
Group's policy for calculating ECLs to consider
consistency of application;

et kAL EEESEEHEERRNS
ATBRERRER  UERERN—BIE

Evaluating the independence, objectivity,
competence and capabilities of the independent

valuer;
FEEYEMNBLE  FHEE -EER
BE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of deposits and loan receivables
(Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
ARENER

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B R

BRETEE ()
reRERERRE (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAPNEF NAEEZEE

The ECL was assessed by the management with
reference to valuations performed by an independent
valuer engaged by the Group and other information of
the assets.

BHEEEEREREE2R E£EEFENEY
fERATETT R (B & A R H A B R AT A -

Evaluating the techniques and methodologies in
the ECLs model against the requirements of HKFRS
9,

REBEFBV B HRELENFEIRNBRTE - fHEE
HEEBEEANRIM LA

Assessing the reasonableness of the basis and
judgement of the management in determining
credit loss allowance on deposits and loan
receivables;

AAEREEET R MNEREREEEBR
WHEERABERAIE

Testing the key data sources applied in the ECLs
computation on a sample basis by checking to the
supporting information and external data sources,
as applicable; and

BRE R HFFER RINBEER AR (AEA)

MRS EEREEBERARANTIE
AR - &

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the ECLs.
WEEREEBE G EEREE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B BEERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BIED R

EENAEERGESMBHRRAK
ENEE

EFARERBEABGHMOSRMD
TR B HRE ERREE R ARDH B
BHRERBELEEAAFERNKES
MHHmE UHERSRESRAVBHR
KRB FHEH N RERMER
B AR R A REHI RS -

ERHESEGMBHRRE EFB A
i BERERELENEN LHEER
BATHERFELLEEHENEIE MU
RERFBLERSTER KIFER
BER BSHEEBRHELEE 5
BHOBERNERTER -

ERREEMPEFTRITHER
B BHREIRTFHEE -

=B 4
55
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B BEERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

140 | lcon Culture Global Company Limited 2024 Annual Report

BRBMRET RSN B HRRAARE
HEE

BN ERRYRAM B RAEEES
PEERRNEEFRERMERNEAHE
MRRAMBMGEERE YHABER
MERNZBEMRE -AREER B
TUERER) MAER THEAMAR -
I A A $ A AR E AR A
THAESEHESR -

AEREBEKFAORE BT HRE
BiEESeTERHETHNET TERE

KfﬁéﬁﬁﬁLT—Eﬁ ﬁéiﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂéﬁ%t
AR ECRF S ER AR Wﬂ’TE'Jﬁ%nfkﬁ
abeﬁ%LE/\iﬁE,ﬁﬂl N RI R EE A

%@TE%EZ? AR B B IS R PR BV IR
RER - I B BSERRAER/ERX -

BARBEESSTEAETENNIE
BREMBEZHAHINEEFTBEF
RIFEXEERERE - TAPITF -

ah Bl e FEAR AR B B 75 ¥R R e I HRRF
ﬁﬁaﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁaﬁ?[ﬁLEﬁHM ’
ﬁgr&iﬂﬁ%%ﬁif%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬂ

A RS TEE&L E’J%V’%
ﬁﬁzﬁﬁ’] AR R - AR
a’FT EFRBRBE 11"7L HE

- B BR ult BK 0% B A R R
%'JZJ: H b ReE IR AR MmE
BE K ﬁefﬁkﬁ’]ﬂ RSN N1
I (A $5 AR 1 8 B E K SR AR PRt /9 R
% o

TRREEFT B A RBIES AR
AHEEMESEF BEMYLIFE
H EEBAMEFRNARIEER
BR-



Independent Auditor’s Report
B BIED R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

BRBMRET RSB HRAARE
HEE (&)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwong Kin
Practising Certificate Number P03702

Hong Kong, 20 May 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2024

mEEER

HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mt AR®BTR ARETT

Revenue Wz 3 21,948 25,424
Cost of sales S5 6 B AN (24,103) (21,260)
Gross (loss)/profit (£#8)EF (2,155) 4,164
Other income H AU A 4 200 588
Other net gains/(losses) Hib Wz, (E518) F58 4 304 (378)
Selling expenses HEMRX (2,200) (4,321
Administrative expenses THHAX (9,060) (8,600)
Impairment losses on property, plant  #1% « B M RERE

and equipment E51E 5(c) (299) (226)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets { FA#£ & & il (8 E5 18 5(c) - (918)
Impairment of prepayments to suppliers &1 £ f& & 2 IE R (B 5(c) (1,082) (4,254)
Impairment losses on trade and other  FEER{Z BB BIEN T Y

receivables under the expected credit ‘8 5 [ E b fE Yt sk 1B

loss model, net of reversal AR E R GNkrEm) 5(c) (3,351) (62,955)
Loss from operations KeEBE (17,643) (76,900)
Finance costs MBEH 5(a) (171) (885)
Loss before taxation MFLRTE 18 5 (17,814) (77,785)
Income tax FriS7t 6 - (6,862)
Loss for the year attributable AATERBE

to equity shareholders of the ERERNEE

Company (17,814) (84,647)

(Restated)
(&)

Loss per share (RMB) BERER(ARY)
Basic R 9(a) (0.06) (0.38)
Diluted e 9(b) (0.06) (0.38)

The notes on pages 151 to 243 form part of these financial statements.
BT E23E M ERZEF T B RKRE—E o
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEERkEMAZEINER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE2024%F 12 31 BILEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Loss for the year attributable to equity AR ERERR
shareholders of the Company EBiEFEREE (17,814) (84,647)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) FREMEEMWE (FIX)
for the year

Item that will be reclassified subsequently to HE#ET T EE

profit or loss: BmmEE -
Exchange differences on translation of financial BETMERAARE (AR

statements of entities not having Renminbi MDIEREEEENE

("RMB”) as functional currency RUEHRRNER =58 1,667 (10)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FREMEEmAZE S (FAZ)

for the year 1,667 (10)

Total comprehensive expense fortheyear AR T EZRREMGFER
attributable to equity shareholders of 2HBXAE
the Company (16,147) (84,657)

The notes on pages 151 to 243 form part of these financial statements.
FISTEZ23E M EBRZF T B RKRE—E o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024

e BRI R

72024512 A31H

31/12/2024 31/12/2023
20245 20234
12H31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Kt AR¥Frx ARETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NG 10 652 -
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 1 - -
Total non-current assets IRBEELE 652 -
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables = e 14 2,316 11,190
Other receivables, deposits and EMEW A - FRRTER
prepayments A 15 51,447 1416
Loan receivables A=A 15 = -
Restricted deposits with a bank 7 i — R 1T 2 PR )
EEN 7 7
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREGEEBEY 16 4,070 13,667
Total current assets REBEEHRE 57,840 26,280
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 K EMENFKIE 17 11,079 19,260
Contract liabilities S ON=Kr 18 5,249 12,464
Bank loans IRITER 19 4,500 5,000
Lease liabilities HEAaE 20 = 973
Current taxation BNERFR 18 21(a) 2,796 2,886
Total current liabilities REAEARE 23,624 40,583
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (868 FE 34,216 (14,303)
The notes on pages 151 to 243 form part of these financial statements.
FINE2BENMNFBEKZEMBRERN—ID -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEUBRRE

As at 31 December 2024 202412 A31H

31/12/2024  31/12/2023

20244 20234
12A31H 12A31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

#iE ARB®FR ARETT

Net assets/(liabilities) gE (86 FE 34,868 (14,303)
Capital and reserves BEXR#E

Share capital &N 22(b) 3,906 1,596
Reserves fE 22(c) 30,962 (15,899)
Total equity/(deficit) (B4 2% 34,868 (14,303)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20

May 2025.

1R E e F02555 8208 o N B RE T
% o

Yao Tong
kiE
Director

EF

Liang Wei
2%
Director

EF

The notes on pages 151 to 243 form part of these financial statements.
BT EZ2B3E M EBRZF T B RKRE—E5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEX

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

Share Share Other Statutory Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
s RHEE  BHRE  iRRE  EXRRE  ZRER 3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTz ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR
Note22(b)  Note22(c)(i) Note22(c)(iv)  Note22(c)(ii) ~ Note 22(c)(iii)
Bk K206 W20 BE2206 K20

Balance at 1 January 2024 R0uE1RENES 1,59 91,866 (11907) 8,407 (45) (104,220 (14,303)
Changes in equity for 2024; WAFERET:
Loss for the year EhEE - - - - - (17,814 (17,814
Other comprehensive income Efp2EUA - - - - 1667 - 1667
Total comprehensive (expense)/income 278 (F37) /Wi £ 8 - - - - 1,667 (17,814) (16,147)
Issue of new sharesunderplacing ~ BERER{THRNA 331 15,829 - - - - 16,160
Transaction cost incurred inrespectof  ELEEAHZ AR

placing - (161) - - - - (161)
Issue of new shares under ights issue 1B 5 AL IRE TR 1979 47,486 - - - - 49,465
Transaction cost incurred inrespectof & RELH X AHA

rights issue - (146) - - - - (146)
Balance at31December 2024 1202412731 B 1% 3,906 154,874 (11,907) 8,407 162 (1203 34,868

The notes on pages 151 to 243 form part of these financial statements.
BT E23E M EBRZEF T B RKRE—E5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

Share Share Other Statutory Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium Tesene feserve fesenve losses Total
R RbEE  AbRE  iRE&  EiBR  ZEEE it
RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO000 AMBO00 RMB000
ARBTL  ARETT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
Note 220)  Note22(0))  Note22(c)iv) ~ Note 22(c)ii) ~ Note 22(c)fii)
Wikan W00 WEow  BE200  WE20m

Balance at 1 January 2023 RNBE1R1ENGE 159 91,866 (11907 8407 (39) (19573) 70354
Changes i equity for 2023: WFERET:

Loss for the year ERNEE - - - - - (84647) (84647)
Other comprehensive expense H2ERS - - - - (10) - (10)
Total comprehensive expense AR L% - - - - (10) (84647 (84657)
Balanceat31 December 203 R203F1231R s 1,59 91966 (11907 8407 () (104220 (14303

The notes on pages 151 to 243 form part of these financial statements.
BT EZ2B3E M EBRZF T B RKRE—E5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Braz ARBTR ARBTT
Operating activities KETE
Cash (used in)/generated from 28 (TR R4
operations 16(b) (50,023) 20,880
Interest received 2 A A 86 -
Income tax paid BT 21(a) (90) (56)
Net cash (used in)/generated from &% EE) (FTH) s
operating activities RE&F8E (50,027) 20,824
Investing activities REEE
Loans advanced to borrowers BRTERAZER (9,837) -
Deposits paid for acquisition of WHERE 2 B NiEe
investments (14,093) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BEMEE
plant and equipment Z FiS5I8 66 -
Payment for purchase of property, BEWE BWFEKEE
plant and equipment 2 (1,047) (74)
Net cash used in investing activities REZBHAAREFHE (24,911) (74)

The notes on pages 151 to 243 form part of these financial statements.
BT EZ2B3E M EERZE T B RKRE—E5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
LEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mt it ARBTRT AR¥KTT
Financing activities ALEEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEREESH
BARE D 16(c) (973) (3,207)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B EFH £
MEE D 16(c) (22) (177)
Net proceeds from issue of new shares 1R 35 Bt & 217 ¥ I% (9
under placing Fr 1S s I8 F 88 15,999 -
Net proceeds from issue of new shares 18 % {H I 2% 17 1 A% 19
under rights issue FriS 5 I8 558 49,319 -
Proceeds from bank loans RITE RS IR 16(c) 4,500 5,000
Repayment of bank loans EBIEITER 16(c) (5,000) (20,000)
Interests paid BT F 16(c) (149) (708)
Net cash generated from/(used in) B & FEFTE (FTH)
financing activities HEFE 63,674 (19,092)
Net (decrease)/increaseincashand BRERBELSZEY
cash equivalents G290 ¥iib:-:2- (11,264) 1,658
Cash and cash equivalents at the FNRERBESEEY
beginning of the year 13,667 12,019
Effect of foreign exchange rate IEERSE WS E
changes 1,667 (10)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FREERBESEEY
end of the year 16(a) 4,070 13,667

The notes on pages 151 to 243 form part of these financial statements.

FISVE243 BN ME B ZFM B RERE — D

150 | lcon Culture Global Company Limited 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SREMBHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 1. EAEHHELB R

EREH

(a) Statement of compliance (a)

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financia
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

152

statements

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of
the financial statements, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the Group's cash flow projections
prepared by management based on estimations of
future revenue from integrated multimedia advertising
services and other products, future media costs, cost
of other services and cost of inventories, committed
and planned capital expenditure, and the availability of
financing, which cover a period of at least 17 months
from 31 December 2024. In respect of availability of
financing, a substantial shareholder of the Company
has undertaken to provide financial support to the
Group to the extent of RMB15,000,000 as necessary to
ensure its continuing operation for a period of at least
18 months from the date of issue of the consolidated
financial statements. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due and committed future capital
expenditure within the next twelve months from the
end of the current reporting period and that there
are no material uncertainties in this respect which
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

After due and careful consideration of the above
measures and the other possible downside effect on
forecasting assumptions considered in the cash flow
forecast of the Group, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due for at least next 12 months from
31 December 2024. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company consider that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB"), rounded to the nearest thousand
except share data, which is the functional currency of
the major subsidiary of the Group in Mainland China.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

(Continued)

(c)

154

Application of amendments to HKFRSs and

revised Interpretation (“Int”)

Amendments to HKFRSs and revised Int that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs and revised Int
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
current accounting period for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current (2020 amendments”’) and
amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Non-current liabilities with covenants

(2022 amendments’)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — lease liability in

a sale and lease back

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —

Supplier finance arrangements

HK - Int 5 (Revised), Presentation of financial
statements — classification by the borrower of a
term loan that contains a repayment on demand

clause
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 1. EAEHEBEESH (8)
(Continued)

(c) Application of amendments to HKFRSs and (0 EREAMBHREERNZB

revised Interpretation (“Int”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs and revised Int that
are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. The application of the amendments
to HKFRSs and revised Int in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been
early applied in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

AREBTzRE(RED
(%)

RAFERHERNEBIME
BEREU BT REBT 22
)

AEBEWRERARASHE
132K A R e (R A e AT 22 3l
B -RAFERRBEMBRE
B ZEFT REER <2
HARKEER B EFENY
BIRARRE - U RZFHEE
MBHRERTAIEE  BRE
HEBATE -

EEMESRERZEBUE
HRERZBR]

HEZSUBHmEAZEEE
BEASIMASERMBLZER
B ZE204F 128318 I FE &
REBBWTERZEVBRE
AR T B ET &
Bll e ZEERE(LBIET A
EEIARSE B AAIER -

2024 FFR  RALXAIBAREBERAR | 155



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 1. EAEHEBESH (8)

(Continued)
(c) Application of amendments to HKFRSs and () EAETAMBBREERNZE
revised Interpretation (“Int”) (Continued) AIRRETT2RE (R
(#&)
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet CHEMGEERERZEBUK
effective (Continued) R ER 25T (8)

156

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning

on or after
RELT BHAER
ZEBEN
BHBER

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

BBV BRELENZOR BBV BRMELERE7RET -
T TASERITEEET
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c)

Application of amendments to HKFRSs and
revised Interpretation (“Int”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. Except for
the new HKFRS as disclosed below, so far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements”. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements
in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS
8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors” and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS
7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per
Share” are also made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

158

Application of amendments to HKFRSs and
revised Interpretation (“Int”) (Continued)

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (Continued)

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact
of HKFRS 18 on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(qg)(ii)).
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(f)

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Motor vehicles 4 years
Leasehold improvement Over the
remaining lease

terms

Office equipment and others 2-5 years

Leased assets

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

()

(9)

160

Leased assets (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payment made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Creditlosses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses ("ECL(s)") on financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including cash

and cash equivalents, restricted deposits with a
bank, trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- trade and other receivables: effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Creditlosses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- Life time ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held). The Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

(Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

164

(Continued)

(i) Creditlosses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor's ability to meet its

obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due

status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities
that are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the

fair value reserve (recycling).

Icon Culture Global Company Limited 2024 Annual Report

1.

BEREHBERER (8)

(9 FEBEREERIE (A

(i)

RETMTANEEESSE
(%)

1EFE R B E1E i ()

- BE-m5-gHE%
ERRIZM B AR
HI B YHETS AJBTT
HEAEB S IR

HBEREKRT
%Eo

RESBIANME F
PR R B R S B N0 R A 12
BRI EEKERELE
17 AP AR A E
78 R IAN
KB ERARER (M
3B RAARRE N A5 R R AT AR

BHREEERESERS
HHEHE ARBRE
VIRER R TAREH
RERH (- BEEEES
B2ENTMEHER
PR R R 1B U & 3k
BE - AEEBRAMAS
BT EMRERSELEER
o 2aBBRBEERS
HEEHEFLARAE
MR AR EEAAHEME
| (ATEIE) StEN
BEBRESFRERN  HE
BRI B A 2 s
R WA EERFE (7]
%) Rat o



For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- right-of-use assets; and
- investment in a subsidiary in the Company’s

statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit ("CGU")).
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’'s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the period in
which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(h) Segment reporting

(i)

168

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 1(0)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 1())).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(i)

()

(k)

)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

1(0)(iii)).
Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 1(g)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(g)

(i).
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

170

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
the Group participates in a defined contribution
basic pension insurance in the social insurance
system established and managed by government
organisations. The Group makes contributions
to basic pension insurance plans based on the
applicable benchmarks and rates stipulated
by the government. Basic pension insurance
contributions are charged to profit or loss as the
related services are rendered by the employees.
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(n)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive
income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(n)

172

Income tax (Continued)

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that they
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed
when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 1. EAEHEBEESH (8)
(Continued)
(0) Revenue and other income (o) WamKkHEAMWA

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services and the sales of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Traditional offline media advertising services
and online media advertising services

Revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the performance period for traditional
offline media advertising services or online media
advertising services for which the services are
rendered over the contract period, and require
the Group to transfer of control of the services
over time and/or measure progress towards
completion of contracts in each reporting period
for recognition of appropriate amount of revenue
in the period; or recognised when the Group
fulfilled the specific performance obligation under
the finalised contract terms with customers for
traditional offline media advertising services or
online media advertising services for which the
services are performed and require the Group to
transfer control of the services to the customers
upon satisfaction of the performance obligation.
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(o) Revenue and other income (Continued)

174

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Public relations, marketing campaigns and
other services

Revenue from public relations, marketing
campaigns and other services is recognised when
the Group fulfilled the specific performance
obligation under finalised contract terms with
customers.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised
as deferred income and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 1. EAEHEBEESH (8)
(Continued)
(p) Translation of foreign currencies (p) HEB@E

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised to profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates at the reporting rate. The income and expenses
of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve, except to the extent that the
translation difference is allocated to non-controlling
interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)

(q) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(q) Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(a)

(b)

178

Principal versus agent considerations -
revenue from provision of advertising
services

In determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the provision of advertising
services, judgements and considerations of all relevant
facts and circumstances are required. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group obtains control
of services provided before they are transferred to
customers. If control is unclear, when the Group is
primarily obligated in a transaction, and has latitude
in establishing prices and selecting publishers, or
has several but not all of these indicators, the Group
records revenues on a gross basis. Otherwise, the
Group records the net amount earned as commissions
from services provided.

Loss allowance for trade and other
receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
and other receivables by assessing the ECLs. This
requires the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs
are estimated based on a number of factors which
include ageing of overdue trade receivables, historical
payment profiles and the corresponding historical
credit losses rate of the Group’s customers, current
market conditions and forecast of future economic
conditions at the end of each reporting period. Where
the estimation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade
and other receivables and thus the impairment loss
in the period in which such estimate is changed. The
Group keeps assessing the expected credit loss of trade
receivables during their expected lives while assessing
the expected credit loss of other receivables during 12
months unless there has been significant increase in
credit risk since the initial recognition.

Icon Culture Global Company Limited 2024 Annual Report

2.

St H B R A E
a) FESFAHREZE-R

(b)

RS RS B W

BEAKRERREHES RSB
BPRONAETEZEEAHNE
FhTER THMEAEHEBES
B MBRAE L H R EE o i
AEEERBEBEEFAE
5 5 PTER R AR 75 B0 422 Il 4 - K
SERRSTNEIBEMTLA-
fieh 4% il ¥ T PR i - BIE AR E
EXZPRTREME BAEME
EERMERRMESTEES
BEXE® XABETEFMA
ZEEER  ARESRER
EETHEYs BRI AEH
5 RC &% B P 12 (AR 75 R ER 7O 41
BIFEE

EZREMEBRRENER
e

AEBEFEEHEEEENY
B 5 N E A FE WK IR A 5 18
BT WBRBRERMG
ARAE - EREERERE
REATETHERRETHESE
= s HIR AV E & 5 B YR
THH) IR R B EN IR R AR
SEEPMEERELEFERBR
T BRI SR MR R
AR LR TEOR o i35 1 AT BER
B AEEMTRE AIER
ZRRTEE S LA MBI
TR H) BR A DA & E it A B fh At
EPELE ZHERERE -
AEBENE 5 EWFIAEH
FEMANHERRESEERE
TTRER L - R E120E A
HRE tEURIENEE(EE
R BRIFEBVIFERRER
[l PN



For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Prepayments to suppliers for trading of
goods

The Group determines the impairment of prepayments
to suppliers for trading of goods which involves
estimates and judgements. Management's estimates of
the impairment loss on the prepayments are based on
analyses of terms of the purchase contracts, payments
information, suppliers’ credit profile, default probability
of suppliers, business relationship with suppliers and
other external factors. Management reassesses the
impairment of prepayments to suppliers and related
criteria on a regular basis. If there are events or changes
in facts or circumstances which result in a revision of
estimates, further impairment loss may arise..

Loss allowance for deposits and loan
receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for deposits
and loan receivables by assessing the ECLs. This
requires the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are
estimated based on a number of factors which, where
applicable, include counterparties’ risks, estimated
credit losses rate, repayments pattern, comparable
rate of return of investment, current market conditions
and forecast of future economic conditions. Where the
estimate is different from the original estimate, such
difference will affect the carrying amounts of deposits
and loan receivables and thus the impairment loss
in the period in which such estimate is changed. The
Group assesses the expected credit loss of deposits and
loan receivables for the next 12 months unless there
has been significant increase in credit risk since the
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are rendering
of traditional offline media advertising, online media
advertising, public relations, marketing campaigns and
other services. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group initiated a new business for trading of
goods; however, no revenue has been generated from
this business yet. Further details regarding the Group's
principal activities are disclosed in note 3(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. WakaHHE (&)
(Continued)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (@) W= (&)
Disaggregation of revenue Wz 5l
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEFEANKEEEER
customers by major service lines is as follows: BB DH|MT -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Revenue from contracts with EBMEHREERE155
customers within the scope of BEEANRBEEFEY
HKFRS 15 L&

Disaggregated by major service lines 1% & iR ¥ 4R 79  7|

Traditional offline media BHE T HEESRB
advertising services
— Outdoor platforms —ENNFE(EREE
(acting as a principal) FEA) 10,881 16,915
— Outdoor platforms — =N E (FERRE)
(acting as an agent) 22 -
Subtotal NEF 10,903 16,915

Online media advertising services BEEBES RS

— acting as a principal —1ERETERMRA 3,830 5,501
- acting as an agent — 1EARIE 13 100
Public relations, marketing N EHEE R
campaigns and other services* H AR 5>
— acting as a principal —1ERETERMRA 6,380 2,908
- acting as an agent —1EARIE 822 -
21,948 25,424
* Revenue from public relations and marketing * HZE2024F12A31HIEFE -
campaigns includes revenue from sales of consumer KENENEHEEEA WS
goods of Nil for the year ended 31 December 2024 BIEEEHEERNREA
(2023: RMB612,000). Z (2023%F : AR %612,000
JT) e
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. WakaHHmE (&)
(Continued)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (@ YWz (&)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) Wrzs 5 5 (48)
The Group's total turnover before agency deductions B E2024F12A31REFE -
amounted to RMB28,516,000 (2023: RMB35,504,000) REBNMGAREZHHNE
for the year ended 31 December 2024. Agency X3 e A R285160007T
deductions represented direct costs incurred for certain (20234 : AFR¥E35,504,0007T) ©
service contracts in which the Group is determined, M BEHREMS - REMEIE
for financial reporting purposes, to have acted as AREBWEFIEARERER
agent in providing services to customers and hence RREREHNETRESDESE
the amounts of agency deductions were excluded in MEEKA  AtETELRE
arriving at the amounts recognised as revenue and cost BamikP 256 M IEHEK
of sales presented in the consolidated statement of K MeERBHEREE -
profit or loss.
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with KB R PG DR R AR
customers by timing of recognition of revenue is TR 22 Z A EE3 () () B2 FR ©
disclosed in note 3(b)(i).
The Group's customers from whom revenue earned AEFEFTREBUR A BB AR SE
have exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue in the B A RSB R FE 7T
respective year are set out below: mr
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Customer A EPEA 3,906
Customer B ZFEB - 5,283
Customer C ZHBC 3,410 3,432
Customer D EFD 2,651 3,261
9,967 11,976
Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from Eﬁqﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁfmﬁﬁﬂ B &= R
these customers are set out in note 23(a). FIEE NI EE230)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group's most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following
reportable segments. No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

- Traditional offline media advertising services:
operation of media advertising services on
indoor (such as television and other broadcasting
channels, newspapers and journals) and outdoor
(such as public transports, elevators and lifts)
platforms;

- Online media advertising services: operation of
media advertising services on selected websites,
online social media groups and applications;

- Other services: operation of devising strategies,
formulating advertising solutions, co-ordinating
with media platforms as well as organising and
executing campaigns; and

- Others: Trading of goods including plastic
pellets and electronic consumer products. This
is identified as a new operating segment of the
Group after the Group initiated the new business
of trading of goods during the year ended 31
December 2024.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

184

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Revenue and costs are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the costs incurred by those
segments without allocation of unallocated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, gain on disposal of
property, plant and equipment, loss on write-off
property, plant and equipment, finance costs,
other income, other net gains, other net losses,
selling expenses, impairment losses on current
and non-current assets, and unallocated expenses
(including corporate expenses). Assistance
provided by one segment to another, including
sharing of assets, is not measured.

The Group’s senior executive management is
provided with segment information concerning
segment revenue and profit. Segment assets and
liabilities are not reported to the Group's senior
executive management regularly.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before
finance costs, interest income, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded as
including investment income and “depreciation
and amortisation” is regarded as including
impairment losses on current and non-current
assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA the Group's
earnings are further adjusted for items not
specifically attributed to individual segments,
such as staff costs, directors’ and auditors’
remuneration and other head office or corporate
administration costs.
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3.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

3. WakaHHE (&)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZDEPIFHE (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities ) 7HEEE EEREE
(Continued) (48)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with B £2024F K2023F 124
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, B IEEFE - mERK
as well as information regarding the Group's =NEIENREREFE
reportable segments as provided to the Group's DR ARAREEZ
most senior executive management for the SEBTHEBAEBLES
purposes of resource allocation and assessment AAEE R FREDILHE
of segment performance for each of the years B OAREETERS B
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out ko RIBFTME) @ F1B
below. IR e
Traditional
offlinemedia  Online media
For the year ended HE20uF advertising  advertising Other
31 December 2024 12A31ALEE services services services Others  Unallocated Total
B4
BTRE RLRE
BERE BERE HtRE -4 AR h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR  AR%TR  ARMTr  AR%Tn  AR%Tn  AR%TR
Disaggregated by timingof ~ FBARHE
revenue recognition k]
Point in time s 2,024 3,288 5,942 - - 11,254
QOver time BERBET 8,879 555 1,260 - - 10,694
Reportable segment revenue %5 A& 10,903 3883 7,202 - - 21,948
Reportable segment profit/ %4 H%7,/
(loss) (adjusted EBITDA)  (&i#8) (£ 3%
EBITDA) 3,766 (638) (2,516) - - 612
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A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEBEHE (&)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities THEE - EEREE
(Continued) (48)
Traditional
offinemedia  Online media
For the year ended HE0uE advertising advertising Other
31 December 2024 12ANALEE services services services Others  Unallocated Total
B
5TRE BLEE
BERE EERE R - AAE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT  ARMTR  ARETz  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR
Amountsincludedinthe  STAZEEH (B8
measure of segment EEBITDA) i &
profit (adjusted EBITDA) 4%
Depreciation of property % BEREE
plant and equipment ik = = = - - -
Amounts regularly reported  EHASETHE
to the most senior BAREHETF
executivemanagement 3 ADIEF/
but not included in the (8 (Taz
measure of segment EBITDA) 5t 289
profit/(loss) (adjusted 8
EBITDA)
Gain on disposal depreciation ~ HEWE « BER
of propetty, plant and ZENENE
equipment (66) = - - - (66)
Impairment of property, plant 1% - BE Rkl
and equipment A 299 = - - - 2%
Impairment of prepayments TR EERER
tosuppliersfortradingof B 5
goods HERE = = - 1,082 - 1,082
Reversal of impaiment losseson - A E B i8S,
tradeand other receivables  THIZHREM
under the expected credit ~ EWFUERER
loss model, net EEE (R
) (7,264) (2,560) (4,799) - (35) (14,658)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. KaEkoHmE (E)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) S (4&)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities ) 7HPEBE - EEREE
(Continued) (48)
Traditional

offinemedia  Online media

For the year ended B Z2023F12A31A advertising ~ advertising Other

31 December 2023 ILEE services services services  Unallocated Total
GTHE  HLER
BERE  EERE  HBRE AOR @t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTL  ARETL ARETR ARETL ARETR

Disaggregated by timing of RRAREBEIE

revenue recognition
Point in time AR 1,265 734 2,243 - 4242
Over time FRERRERER 15650 4867 665 - 21,182
Reportable segmentrevenue W& W 16915 5,601 2908 - 25424
Reportable segment profit MHED PR

(adjusted EBITDA) ({8 EEBITDA) 6826 196 1,129 - 8151
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. KakoHmE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) S (M)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities i) 7HWEBE - EEREE
(Continued) (48)
Traditional
offinemedia  Online media
For the year ended B Z2023F12A31R advertising  advertising Other
31 December 2023 LEE services services services Unallocated Total
Ef
BTEE BrEe
BERS BERS HH R NN a5t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTL  ARBTL ARETR ARETL ARETR

Amounts included in the AR TRF (KRR
measure of segment profit EBITDA) s EM & %
(adjusted EBITDA)
Depreciation of property, 0% BERIENE
plant and equipment 213 147 - - 360

Amounts regularly reportedto  EHESSTREEAS
the most senior executive BERE R A D BER
management but not included (£} REBITDA) 5 &
in the measure of segment e
profit (adjusted EBITDA)

Depreciation of property, plantand 1% - BE XA BN E

equipment - - - 158 158
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ (FFIEEENE 2218 - - - 2218
Loss on write-off of property, plant M #¥1% « BE &

and equipment REEE 788 - - - 788
Impairment of property, plantand 9% ~ BE kR ERE

equipment 26 - - - 206
Impairment of right-of-use assets ~ F AR EERE 918 - - - 918
Impairment of prepayments to ENRERTERE

suppliers 4254 - - - 4254
Impairment losses ontradeand ~ EHIEEBEEN TH

other receivables under the BHREMERTE

expected credit loss model, net  HEFEFE 40810 22,863 62 (780) 62,955
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3.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

3. WakaHHE (&)

(b) 2#EHE (&)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit (i) WHRED RN AL IR
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Reportable segment profit BEEE v 612 8,151
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment  — #1% -« =B M &G (96) (158)
— Right-of-use assets — ERERE — (2218)
Gain on disposal/(loss on write HEWE - BFEL&RE
off) of property, plant and 2 Was(MisEEE)
equipment 66 (788)
Finance costs MBER (171) (885)
Other income Ha A 200 588
Other net gains/(losses) Hiles,(E518) F 58 238 (378)
Selling expenses 8 & Bl =2 (2,200) (4,321)
Impairment losses on property, Y% - BB REEBE
plant and equipment &8 (299) (226)
Impairment losses on right-of-use & FA#& & & i (B &5 18
assets - (918)
Impairment of prepayments to TR e B SR IE R E
suppliers (1,082) (4,254)
Reversal of impairment loss/ EHEEBEEERXTH
(impairment loss) on trade and B 5 K& H YR
other receivables under the REEEE R,
expected credit loss model, net CREEE) 258 14,658 (62,955)
Impairment losses on deposits BHEEEEEXTH
and loan receivables under the &k EWE BORE
expected credit loss model E518 (18,009)
Unallocated head office and ROBB AR R
corporate expenses and other TUAREMRAE
expenses (11,731) (9,423)
Consolidated loss before taxation 42 & BrFi A E5 18 (17,814) (77,785)

204FF5 REAXABEBREBARLE

189



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(c)

190

(iii) Geographic information

All of the Group's revenue are generated in the
PRC.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts in existence at
the reporting date

Contracts with customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its service contracts.
Hence the Group does not disclose information about
revenue that it will be entitled to when it satisfies
the remaining performance obligations under those
contracts that had an original expected duration of one
year or less. Excluding these contracts, the aggregated
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations under the Group's
existing contracts is RMB11,502,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB8,527,000). The Group expects to
recognise these revenue within four years when these
services are rendered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET LOSSES

Other income

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

4. HMWAREMERFHE
HlA

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETRT ARETT

Interest income FE YA 86 5
Government grants (note) RS+ Bh (A7 at) 23 441
Others Hi 91 142
200 588

Note: Government grants represent various forms of incentives and
subsidies granted to the Group unconditionally by the local

HiaE - TR # Bh 5 P B 4t 75 R 4% R A
FEHETFTARETRTA 282

government authorities in the PRC. K&EB) -
Other net gains/(losses) Hibuhz /(E518) B85
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Gain arising from derecognition of AR IETER KR IFERE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilites ~ FAEZEENRHEBBEESL
upon early termination of leases ol g = 105
Gain on disposal of property, plantand  HE&EY %  BELEZEZ
equipment & 66 -
Compensation paid for early termination A& IFTHEHE N E
of leases = (456)
Forfeited rental deposit upon early BRI EHEERSKNEE
termination of leases i - (29)
Net exchange gain P& 5 W a5 )5 58 238 -
Others HAh - 2
304 (378)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

5. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

BRBL AT &S 18

BRAEEAT BB TR TS IEEE
2

(a) Finance costs (a) HHBEAR
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 149 708
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 22 177
171 885

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)

(b)) ETHEX(BRESTHE)

2024 2023

20244 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AREEF T

Salaries and wages HehTHE 6,363 7,556
Bonuses TE4T 439 467
Other benefits H b 18 F 483 588
Contributions to retirement schemes R K5t 2|4 50 1,333 1,410
8,618 10,021

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiary are required
to participate in a defined contribution scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal
governments. The Group's PRC subsidiary contributes
funds which are calculated on certain percentages of
the employee salary as agreed by the local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement
benefits of the employees.

The Group has no other material obligations for
payments of pension benefits beyond the contributions
to retirement schemes described above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

5. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 5. BRBIATE R (&)
(c) Otheritems (0 HfbEH
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT ARETT
Media costs (note i) BN (M 73i) 11,615 16471
Costs for public relations, marketing A8 - & /&8 &
campaigns and other services FAth R 75 B AR 9,716 1,777
21,331 18,248
Depreciation charge FEXH
— Property, plant and equipment /e RS 96 518
- Right-of-use assets —FRAEEE = 2,218
96 2,736
(Reversal)/recognition of impairment (¥ [a]) /W R E(EE I8
losses for
— Trade receivables (note i) — 8 B R WRIE (B 22i) (14,623) 63,735
— Other receivables — E b R IE (35) (780)
— Deposits paid for acquisition of B EZEMNEZS
investments 7,934 -
— Loan receivables —ERER 10,075 -
3,351 62,955
- Property, plant and equipment — W% - BB MERE 299 226
~ Right-of-use assets —EREEE - 918
- Prepayments to suppliers — FE A 4 P P SR IR 1,082 4,254
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEN &
- audit services —BZIR 723 620
— over provision in prior year —BREFEEERE (58) -
665 620
Legal and professional expenses REREEESF 2,835 1,239
(Gain on disposal)/loss on write-off of HEWE - MENMEREZ
property, plant and equipment (Yezs), /M sH & 18 (66) 788
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

5. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 5. BRBIAIER (&)
(c) Otheritems (Continued) (0 HAIER (&)
Note: &t
() Amount mainly represented direct costs incurred 0] CPHFERRTESHE
for costs of advertising resources for display of EEBERA [ g E
advertisements, costs of online media platforms, BRAS ~ R AR 75 A AN A
costs of publishing services and costs of promotional o HEBE M B N R 15 R AR E
materials and services. These direct costs are included EREERA ZEEE
in cost of sales. FXANE ET ASHERA ©
(i) For the year ended 31 December 2024, reversal of (ii) HE2024F 128318 1L 5
impairment losses for trade receivables was mainly due E 2 ZEWHRERER
to successful recovery of trade debts during the year. BELDNFZEHNFEAKI
WEE 5 BB -
6. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6. REBBERNAEHR
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) FmEBERIRHBIEE
profit or loss represents:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Current tax expense/(credit) ENHABiER (3K R)
(note 21(a)) (K1a221(3))
Provision for PRC income tax FAFRBIMEHEE
for the year - 235
Deferred tax expense/(credit) EERERS (KR)
Origination and reversal of temporary 2 4 % &8 [0 27 B |4 = 58
differences (note 21(b)) (B zE21(6)) - 6,627
- 6,862
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6.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

6. REBHRNAEH (F)

(b) RBEABRTAENBERS

accounting loss at applicable tax rates: BHEFTEBNEER
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTR ARBTT
Loss before taxation BRTLATE 1R (17,814) (77,785)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, HBREGHAIEENEZE
calculated at the rates applicable to  F{ I8 - 3% i@ A HH R A7)
profits in the jurisdiction concerned  JA#E & 7@ R BT R 5+ &
(note) (K1at) 543 (18,907)
Tax effect of unused tax losses ) AR R AR A A IS E 1R
and other deductible temporary R E A ] A E B E /R
differences not recognised B E 2,991 19,058
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses I~ A] 31§51 5 >k By 52 £ 131 84
Tax effect of reassessment of opening HA ¥k AL 7 18 & &
deferred tax assets EFTEORIEBETE - 8,437
Tax effect of reversal of deductible AEERO RGBT L=
temporary differences not BB LB ERET
recognised for deferred tax ANIERETIE (3,665) .
Others HA - (1,810)
Income tax expense FriE i - 6,862

Note: Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The Group's subsidiary in Hong Kong is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate
regime, and the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).

The statutory income tax rate for the PRC subsidiary is
25% (2023: 25%).

Wiz BRERSEENABRELEEN
RAIRRR REEBANFES
BEREBER RSN ERR
B8 e

KEBREEZWBRRAFE
BHRAG&aEREE B2BE
S TT B SR A 048 A1 A 8.259% (20234 -
825%) OB R EHL - MR T FERR
i & F) BA16.5% (20234 © 16.5% )
ROFR R BHL -

FENBARREAEMESREA
25% (20234 : 25%) °
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A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 2024512 31 BIL&E

7. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 7. EEEE
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIEE A D FHED 5E383(1)IEA KA
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BEM B2 (HEESFZER) I
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EMESEMewT -

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024 B £2024F128318 L FE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
I8 BER RRGTE
EEZHe ENER g it H

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARE®TR AR®TR AR®Tn ARET:R

Executive directors ~ H{TES
(including chairman)  (BEFE)

Mr.Yao Tong (noteii) BB A& (A7:2i) 215 - - - 215
Mr. Chow Eric Tse To EEa=%e 120 - - _ 120
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan (noteiii) ZXBEM} &+ (4 :Zii) 4 = - = 4
Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek BB R 5k 4 (Htitiv)

(note iv) 4 - - - 4
Mr. Liu Biao 2EEE 120 471 - 48 639
Ms. Liang Wei 2ETLT 120 189 - 37 346
Ms. Li Chi Ying (note vi) FRLT (Wfi2vi) 87 - - - 87
Sub-total g 670 660 - 85 1,415

Non-Independent FBUEE

directors
Mr. Chen Zongxian FRELE

(note vi) (Hfizvii) 21 - - = 21
Independent BUFHTES

non-executive

directors
Mr. Lee Siu Hang (notev)  ZEJK$B% 4 (H72#v) 6 - - - 6
Mr. Tian Tao AELE 113 - - - 113
Ms.Tam Hon Shan Celia  :EZ2H &+ 113 = = = 113
Mr. Liu Lihan A En A 116 - - - 116
Sub-total e 348 - - - 348
Total B 1,039 660 - 85 1,784
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 7. EEME (E)
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12A31HLEE
Salaries,

allowances Retirement

Directors'  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total

TE R RINETE
EE ik ENGEH METEL K Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT ARKTT ARETT ARETR

Executive directors HTES
(including chairman) (B )

Mr. Chow Eric Tse To BEFELE 120 - - - 120
Ms. Cai Xiaoshan EEfa+ 120 - - - 120
Mr.Lau Tung Hei Derek ~ ZIREELAE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Liu Biao el 120 564 8 40 732
Ms. Liang Wei 2R L 120 193 17 43 373
Sub-total INEF 600 757 25 83 1465
Independent BUEHTES

non-executive

directors
Mr. Lee Siu Hang ZhBRE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Tian Tao HELE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tam Hon Shan Celia ~ :BEM#=+ 180 - - - 180
Mr. Liu Lihan (note (i) e St

(HI#0) 5 - - _ 5

Sub-total INEF 545 - - - 545
Total @t 1,145 757 25 83 2,010
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

7.

198

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No performance related incentive payments were
determined and paid to any of the directors or and of the
five highest paid individuals set out in note 8 below for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The discretionary bonuses
paid in 2023 were performance related incentive payments.

There were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to
the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
set out in note 8 below as an inducement to join or upon
joining Company or the Group or as a compensation for
loss of office. No directors waived or agreed to waive any
emolument during the year.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Liu Lihan was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect from 15
December 2023.

(i) Mr. Yao Tong has been appointed as an executive director of
the Company and deputy chairman of the board of directors
of the Company with effect from 12 January 2024 and 11
August 2024 respectively.

(i) Ms. Cai Xiaoshan resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 12 January 2024.

(iv)  Mr. Lau Tung Hei Derek resigned as an executive director of
the Company with effect from 12 January 2024.

(v)  Mr. Li Siu Hang Foster resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect from 12
January 2024.

(vi)  Ms. Li Chi Ying has been appointed as an executive director
of the Company with effect from 9 August 2024.

(vii)  Mr. Chen Zongxian has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company and deputy chairman of the board
of directors of the Company with effect from 25 October
2024.

(viii) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
The non-executive director's and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2023: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other three (2023: three) individuals are as follows:

8. EmEHMAL

st mmB AL - 24 (20234 -
22)REE  EHFMRIHA7HEE -
AREHM3E AL (20234 : 38) By
@SR T

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Salaries and other emoluments e M H b B 1,084 1,194
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL - 15
Retirement scheme contributions RORET 2 =0 118 125

1,202 1,334

The emoluments of the three (2023: three) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

3% (20235 3B BmEHEMA T ®H
FENFUTEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A A&

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 3 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

9.

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

200

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
for the year of RMB17,814,000 (2023: RMB84,647,000)
and the weighted average of 322,395,511 ordinary
shares (2023 (Restated): 224,324,324 ordinary shares) in
issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the year ended 31 December 2024 for the purpose
of basic loss per share have been adjusted for the
bonus element of the rights issue of shares during the
year ended 31 December 2024 which was completed
in August 2024. The basic loss per share for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was restated as the
weighted average number of ordinary shares has been
retrospectively adjusted for the bonus element of the
rights issue of shares in August 2024.

Diluted loss per share

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
there were no potential ordinary shares issued.
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

10. Y% MERRME

Office
Motor Leasehold  equipment
vehicles improvement  and others Total
MARER
"E HEEE Hits st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AR®TH ARETT ARETR
Cost: BA
At T January 2023 R2023F1A1H 1123 1277 2,128 4,528
Additions NE - - 74 74
Disposal or written off HE g3y - (1277) (5) (1,282)
At 31 December 2023 and R023F12A318 K
1 January 2024 20241 418 1123 - 2197 3,320
Additions mE 940 - 107 1,047
Disposal or written off & S 3 - - (1430) (1,430)
At 31 December 2024 20245124310 2,063 - 874 2,937
Accumulated depreciationand ~ RitITERFERSE
impairment losses:
At T January 2023 M2023F1A1R (1,112) (276) (1,682) (3,070)
Charge for the year FAMB - (213) (305) (518)
Written back on disposals B (e o 3
or written off - 489 5 494
Impairment losses FEEE (11 - (215) (226)
At 31 December 2023 and R023F12A318 K
1 January 2024 20241 AR (1123) - (2,197) (3,320)
Charge for the year FRMk (58) - (38) (%)
Written back on disposals £ B 135 1ol o 1 £
or written off - - 1430 1430
Impairment losses RERE (299) - - (299)
At 31 December 2024 20245 12A318 (1,480) - (805) (2,285)
Net book value: BEEE:
At 31 December 2024 20245 12A31H 583 - 69 652

At 31 December 2023

R2023FE 128318 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company identified indicator of impairment related to the
unfavorable financial performance of a principal subsidiary
operating in the PRC and conducted impairment assessment
on the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment (2023: property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets). The management of the Group
estimated the recoverable amount as the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use for the assets of the
CGU of the Group’ business for traditional offline media
advertising services.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the recoverable
amounts of the assets were determined based on fair values
less cost of disposal with reference to observable market
prices of similar assets. In estimating the fair value of the
motor vehicles, the highest and best use of the motor
vehicles is their current use. The fair value measurement is
categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy. Based on the
results of the impairment assessment, the relevant assets
were impaired to their recoverable amount of RMB583,000,
which is their carrying values at year end and the impairment
losses of RMB299,000 were recognised for the year ended 31
December 2024 within the relevant functions to which these
assets relate during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, in view of the
unfavorable operating results from that business, the
management of the Group estimated the recoverable
amount for the CGU of the Group’ business for traditional
offline media advertising services. The recoverable amount of
the CGU was determined based on value-in-use calculation.
The discount rate in measuring the amount of value in use
was 19%. Based on the results of the impairment assessment,
the management estimated that the Group's business for
traditional offline media advertising services would not
generate significant amount of positive net cash inflows in
the future and hence the recoverable amount of the relevant
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
belonging to the CGU and the Group's CGU for traditional
offline media advertising services were insignificant.
Accordingly, impairment losses on the assets used in the
Group’s business for traditional offline media advertising
services of RMB226,000 and RMB918,000 were recognised to
write down the carrying amounts of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets respectively.
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11.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is

presented as below:
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BEREAKREELAEBANEEEH

Advertising

spaces and
billboards Office Total
BEMR
BEER WAE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®FTRT ARBTET
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 20231 A1H 9612 6,670 16,282
Termination of leases MEKIE (9,612) (873) (10,485)
At 31 December 2023 and 72023124318 &

1 January 2024 202451 A1H - 5,797 5,797
Termination of leases HE®&IE - (5,797) (5,797)
At 31 December 2024 2024124318 - — -
Accumulated depreciation RiIFITERBERSIE:

and impairment losses:

At 1 January 2023 72023F1 A 1H (4,806) (4,236) (9,042)
Termination of leases HEKIE 5,800 581 6,381
Charge for the year FRMkR (994) (1,224) (2,218)
Impairment losses B E 1B - (918) (918)
At 31 December 2023 and 2023F 12 H31H &

1 January 2024 20241 A1H - (5,797) (5,797)
Termination of leases ME®IE - 5,797 5,797
At 31 December 2024 202412 H31H - - -
Net book value: BRTEFEE ¢
At 31 December 2024 2024512 H31H - - -
At 31 December 2023 72023512 H31H - - -
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REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

11. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 11.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group leased
advertising spaces and billboards and offices, with leases
expiring from 20 to 36 months. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments. All the leases were terminated
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised
in profit or loss is as follows:

EHEEE (K)

HE2023F12A31HILFE - AEH
HHEESMEESBUARBAE
THEI R 2023618 A A g jm o B &
ERSYPHHENK -FIEHELNY
REE2024F12A31H IEFERIE o

EEREZERNEE 2R YEE
DT

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETTET

Depreciation charge of right-of-use REEEERRE LA
assets by class of underlying asset: BEENEER :
Advertising spaces and billboards &AL & E & K - 994
Office I /NE = 1,224
- 2,218
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {8 Fi# & E R B & 18 (A7 7E)
(note) - 918
Expenses relating to short-term leases  E2%5 HAFH & #H B89 5 X 331 125
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) MEBENE (Hits5a) 22 177

Note: Details of the impairment assessment on right-of-use assets
as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 10.
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12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 12. RBLRRRE

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries TREBRFEZEREER2024
which principally affected the results, assets, or liabilities of FR2023F12ANANESE - BEHX
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The class of BENNBRARFS B AETH
shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. N TR R R AT B -

Proportion of ownership interest

FrE R A
Particulars of issued Group's
Place of incorporation share capital/  effective Heldbythe  Heldbya
Name of company and business registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
BEf/  AZEH HELR
Gk LTRSS AfAFE BRER A0AKE KE IEXE
Inspiring Chance Holding British Virgin Islands Us$t 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited (2023:USS1) (2023:100%) ~ (2023:100%) (2023:-)
REBRUES EIp REZKR
(0235 : 1%70)
Shining Glow Limited Hong Kong HKST 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(2023:HKST)  (2023: 100%) (2023:-)  (2023:100%)
i 18T RERR
(20235 - 1% 70)
Icon Cultural Creative Co. Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - Inactive
Limited (note 13) (Q023:NA) - QONA) - 023NA) (2023 N/A)
lcon Cultural Creative Co. &8 1000087 (03F:  (BF:  (3F: EEEX
Limited (#2213 (03 : A8R)  ABR)  TBR) TER)
Guangzhou lcon Culture Media The PRC RIVB81,960,000 100% - 100%  Integrated multimedia
Investment Co, Ltd. * (2023: RMB71,960,000)  (2023: 100%) (2023:-)  (2023: 100%) advertising services
EMRRXICEREE & AR 819600007 GRBEREERE
ERAT (023F - \RH;
71,960,0007)

* Guangzhou Icon Culture Media Investment Co., Ltd. is a * EMN KA L EEIGEBRE RN T
wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC and the official E—ERAPEMIINEEEDE
name is in Chinese. The English translation of the name is for EEHhE&BARh X ELE 2 H®
reference only. NEAEHS2E -

2024FFR  RALXAIBAREBERAR | 205



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

13. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 13. HttERBEE

ACQUISITION OF ASSET THROUGH ACQUISITION
OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 14 October 2024, the Company completed the
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Icon Cultural
Creative Co., Limited from Ms. Li Chi Ying ("Ms. Li"), an
executive director of the Company and the then sole
shareholder of Icon Cultural Creative Co., Limited, at a
consideration of HK$10,000. Ms. Li is the sole director of
lcon Cultural Creative Co., Limited before and after the
acquisition. At 31 December 2024, included in the balance of
other payable of the Group was the amount of consideration
payable to Ms. Li. Icon Cultural Creative Co., Limited was
incorporated on 9 September 2024 and did not have any
business since its incorporation. At the date of acquisition,
the fair values of total asset that entirely represented amount
due from Ms. Li, total liabilities, net assets value of Icon
Cultural Creative Co., Limited were amounting to HK$10,000,
nil and HK$10,000 respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

14. TRADE RECEIVABLES 14. EZEWRE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

it ARBTRT ARBTET

Current T E

Trade debtors H 5 YR 82,795 106,292

Less: Impairment losses B OREEE 23(a) (80,479) (95,102)
2,316 11,190

All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered FMEESEWHRIEFBBEHNR —FERNW

within one year. [@ -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged trade receivable PR2024F 12318 - AEEEHER

with gross carrying amount of RMB12,055,000 (2023: @8 A AN RB12055000t B 5 e

RMB5,600,000) and net carrying amount of nil (2023: nil) for W E K (20234 : AR #5,600,0007T)

the bank loans of the Group (note 19). NMHERAEBMEITERAREF

EAZ (2023F : T) (BFzE19) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

14. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(a) Ageing analysis

As of 31 December 2024, the ageing analysis of carrying
amounts of trade receivables, based on the invoice date
which approximates to the date of revenue recognition
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

14. EZEWFIE ()

(a)

RiER 7 AT

R2024F12A318H B 5 E K
SRIEREEREZERE (B
mERBEAE) WHKREER
BENRRTOT :

2024 2023

20244 2023%

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AREEFIT

Within 1 month — @A 598 1,069
1to 3 months —Z={@A 368 338
310 12 months =Z+={@A8 1,350 9,783
2,316 11,190

Trade receivables are due 90 days to 180 days from the
date of revenue recognition (2023: 90 days to 180 days).
Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
in note 23(a).

As at 31 December 2024, included in the trade
receivables are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB495,000 (2022: RMB8,510,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. These past due
balances have been past due 30 days or more and
are not considered as in default based on the Group’s
assessment of historical credit loss experience of
the existing debtors and available forward-looking
information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected
subsequent settlements. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

As at 31 December 2024, loss allowance of
RMB80,213,000 (2022: RMB92,871,000) has been fully
provided on trade receivables that are credit impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

15. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 15. EMERRE RERASFRK
PREPAYMENTS biz|
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

log=3 ARBTRT ARETT

Prepayments for media costs FLEBE R AN B TE T FRIB 6,949 1,079
Prepayments to suppliers for AT RS FERG X

media services (note 1) I (Haz1) 4,254 4254
Less: Impairment losses B OREEE (4,254) (4,254)
Subtotal INEF - .
Prepayment to suppliers for ENHERNE@mE S

trading of goods (note 2) IE (K1a22) 35,701 -
Less: Impairment losses B OREEE (1,082) -
Subtotal INEF 34,619 -

Deposits paid for acquisition of ~ WEEREH D NFE

investments (note 3) (B15%3) 14,093 -
Less: Impairment losses B OREEE (7,934) -
Subtotal INEF 6,159 -
Others (note 5) H M (H7525) 5,285 1,937
Less: Impairment losses R EEE 23(a) (1,565) (1,600)
Subtotal INEF 3,720 337

Total of other receivables, deposits E fth FEUL X IE ~ 12 & &

and prepayments B FRIB BT 51,447 1416
Loan receivables (note 4) FEME TR (Hit4) 10,075 -
Less: Impairment losses OB EEE (10,075) -
Subtotal NEF - -

51,447 1416
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

15. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

All of the other receivables and prepayments are expected to
be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

Note:

210

This includes RMB4,000,000 (2023: RMB4,000,000) paid to
the supplier of the advertising services in the contractual
arrangement in which the Group acts as agent, details of
which are set out in note 18.

At 31 December 2024, balance mainly represented advance
payments to certain suppliers for purchases of goods for
resale. The carrying amount (net of impairment losses) of
prepayments to suppliers for the trading operation of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 was RMB34,619,000 (2023:
Nil). The carrying amount (net of impairment losses) has
been determined based on a valuation, which adopted
general approach for assessment of ECL, carried out by
an independent valuer not connected with the Group.
Accordingly, an impairment of RMB1,082,000 (2023: Nil) has
been recognised in profit or loss during the year.

Included in the gross balance is an amount of RMB28,185,000
(2023: Nil) for advance payments to a supplier who is a
shareholder of the Company holding approximately 9.26%
(2023: nil) in the issued share capital of the Company as
at 31 December 2024 and the corresponding amount of
impairment loss recognised is RMB855,000 (2023: Nil).

At 31 December 2024, balance mainly represented refundable
deposits paid for potential investments in unlisted equities
in various Hong Kong, non-Hong Kong and PRC entities. The
carrying amount (net of impairment losses) of refundable
deposits paid as at 31 December 2024 was RMB6,159,000
(2023: Nil). The carrying amount (net of impairment losses)
has been determined based on a valuation, which adopted
general approach for assessment of ECL, carried out by
an independent valuer not connected with the Group.
Accordingly, ECL of RMB7,934,000 (2023: Nil) has been
recognised in profit or loss during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

15. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 15. EMERRE RERASFRK
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) 15 (48)

Note: (Continued) MIRE - (BB)

At 31 December 2024, balance mainly represented loans to
various individuals. At 31 December 2024, the entire balance
is unsecured, interest bearing at 2% per month and repayable
within one year. Subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, all loan receivables were defaulted. The carrying
amount (net of impairment losses) of loan receivables as at
31 December 2024 was nil (2023: Nil). The carrying amount
(net of impairment losses) has been determined based on a
valuation, which adopted general approach for assessment
of ECL, carried out by an independent valuer not connected
with the Group. Accordingly, ECL of RMB10,075,000 (2023: Nil)
has been recognised in profit or loss during the year.

At 31 December 2024, included in the balance is an
amount of RMB939,000 for an advance to an individual,
which is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
within one year. Subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, the amount is fully repaid. The carrying amount
(net of impairment losses) of unsecured advance to an
individual as at 31 December 2024 was RMB924,000 (2023:
Nil). The carrying amount (net of impairment losses) has
been determined based on a valuation, which adopted
general approach for assessment of ECL, carried out by
an independent valuer not connected with the Group.
Accordingly, ECL of RMB15,000 (2023: Nil) has been
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

R2024F12831H &% EE A
M) % o 8 A 42 4 B9 B 3R o 182024
F1283M8 2 PEHEEIR
1 AB2%AER—FREE -
WEBRE  TBEKEFEE
iR 7R2024F12A31H 0 IR
BERMEEREEAE IRBERE) B
7 (2023%F - £E) - BRMEE (0B
BB E1R) TR & B AN 5 B W £
BENB L AEMETHHEE
T AR ERAB T A ERET
HIEHREERE AL AR
10,075,0007T (20234F : #) K78 51
EEBECRTAERAEZ -

R2024F12 8318 » & # R B 1E
— 5 AR 89390007 Y B 3K © 3%
FIBAREAREHBE - &R
EAEER 2EHEEAR—FRK
BiE R EBPRE  ZHRED
EHIEEZE - P2024F 128318 ¢
) A HE A 2 9 3 2 50 A BR
HEHBRBEEEBE AARE
924,0007T (20234 : ##) - BRI B
(HBRBEREE) THREEAREE
7 4 B 4 ) S8 L (B R T T RO
BET & HERAT —MAE
REHETEEERBE - Bt - A
R #15,0007T (20234 : ) 9 FaHA
FEEBEERFRERAER -
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 16. RERBEEEEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@ RERBASEEYEE:
2024 2023
20244 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Cash at bank RITIRE 4,066 13,664
Cash on hand FEIRE S 4 3
4,070 13,667
At 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents R2024%F 128318 » =R
placed with banks in the Mainland China amounted REAMIETT RS RIRE
to RMB2,911,000 (2023: RMB13,023,000). Remittance of ZBWA AR®2911,0007T
funds out of Mainland China is subject to the relevant (2023%F : A R #13,023,000
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control To) c R B AMEHE S
promulgated by the PRC government. 78 8 <7 7 B BT 78 45 60 AE R

SN il AR A S AR B
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

16. RERBEEEY (&)

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (b) BRBASEELE (FTA)
(used in)/generated from operations: IERENYER:
2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mt ARSTR ARBTT
Loss before taxation bR 7% A 18 (17,814) (77,785)
Adjustments for: BT &IE
EH AR :
Other net gains H b Yz 58 (86) (76)
Net exchange gain fE 5 W a5 5 58 (238) -
Finance costs B%ER 5(a) 171 885
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment — %1% « F&E &
B 5(c) 96 518
- Right-of-use assets —FREEE 5(c) - 2,218
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BEK
plant and equipment HiE 2 W (66) -
Loss on write-off of property, MisEmE  BE &
plant and equipment HBEzEE 5(c) - /83
Impairment losses on trade and ~ FEHR{E B &5 1B 18 =,
other receivables under the THE S KHA
expected credit loss model JE W SR IER (A
&8 5() 3,351 62,955
Impairment losses on property,  ¥1% - B E K& E
plant and equipment BB EE 5(c) 299 226
Impairment losses on right-of-use {& FA #& & 2 7 (&
assets &5 18 5(c) S 918
Impairment of prepayments to T8 1~ {ft fiE 7 2k 38
suppliers BB 5(c) 1,082 4,254
Changes in working capital: #E&E4£8F) :
(Increase)/decrease in trade B 5 N E th B WK
and other receivables and TH DA K B S 3RIE
prepayments (3 ), (21,422) 30,806
Decrease in other non-current EMIEREBEE
assets VR - 965
Decrease in trade and other g5 & H MR
payables and contract liabilites  IBIAK & X B E
e (15,396) (5,792)
Cash generated (used in)/ & () BB
generated from operations e (50,023) 20,880

2024F FR RALXAIBREBEERAR | 213



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(c)

214

16. RERBEEEY (&)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from () BETBELEENEEK:
financing activities:
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the BaeEREkSAREE
consolidated financial statements, the table below Gh TRANEERE T E
details changes in the Group's liabilities from financing ETHRBEEEHFE BERS
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. FIERcES - EETEBESE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities MNBENAREMEHAKIR
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, EMERAEBGARESRE
classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of X0 BAEREETHREMNEN
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. BE-
Bank Lease
loans liabilities Total
(note 19) (note 20)
RITEN HESE At
(Ktzt19) (Ktit20)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR%®Tn AR%Tx
At 1 January 2024 M2024F1H1H 5,000 973 5,973
Changes from financing MERSRELE !
cash flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid A EREHER
o = (973) (973)
Interest element of lease rentals paid E A EH L HF 2
ik - (22) (22)
Proceeds from bank loans RITERFBHE 4,500 - 4,500
Repayment to bank BRRITHIE (5,000) - (5,000)
Interests paid SANEN S (149) - (149)
Total changes from financing MEREREEY
cash flows 1B (649) (993) (1,644)
Other changes: Hith 8 :
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) FMERX (HiE56) 149 22 171
Total other changes Hip @ Ehiazs 149 22 171
At 31 December 2024 12024124318 4,500 - 4,500
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

16. RERBEEEY (&)

() BMEFBFELRENHR:

financing activities: (Continued) (48)
Bank Lease
loans liabilities Total
(note 19) (note 20)
RITERK HEBE Bt
(Htat19) (Hiet20)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 72023F181H 20,000 8,389 28,389
Changes from financing MERERERE:
cash flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid R HAER L HE R
= - (3,207) (3,207)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 ER S K F &
ikl - (177) (177)
Proceeds from bank loans RITERABRIE 5,000 - 5,000
Repayment to bank BRR1THIE (20,000) - (20,000)
Interests paid BERFIE (708) - (708)
Total changes from financing MEESREEH
cash flows ez (15,708) (3384) (19,092)
Other changes: Hin 25
Decrease in lease liabilities from RIFHEEHHEE
termination of leases BERD - (4,209) (4,209)
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) B (Hitsa) 708 177 885
Total other changes Hih & s)ass 708 (4,032) (3,324)
At 31 December 2023 202312318 5,000 973 5973
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

17. ESRHMENSRIE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Trade payables B 5 eI RIA 4,179 11,918
Other tax payables H b IR 89 160
Payroll payables ERTE 547 513
Receipts in advance (note 18) AW SRIE (H17E18) 4,000 4,000
Other payables and accrued charges HEMENZFIERETEA 2,264 2,669
11,079 19,260

All of the trade and other payables as at 31 December 2024
are expected to be settled within one year or are repayable

on demand.

The credit period granted by the suppliers is between 30 and

180 days (2023: between 30 and 180 days).

As of the end of each of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as

R2024FNANHWATEE S N E
o PR FIBTEHA S R — F R B X

WEREER -

HERBR THEREHN F302180

X (20234 :

BESREHR -

N F30E180K) ©

B 5N RIER

BRR EIHHEI”JEEHA DATEATT

follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Within 1 month —@AAR 816 840
1 to 3 months —Z=1{@A 1,595 744
3to 12 months =Z+=@A8 33 2,582
Over 12 months BeEt+ @A 1,735 7,752
4,179 11,918

216 | lcon Culture Global Company Limited 2024 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

18. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

18. EHAEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Services fees received in advance from  FEWEEHREE
customers 5,249 12,464

Service fees received in advance from customers are
recorded as contract liabilities upon receipt. Revenue
from provision of services is recognised according to the
accounting policy set out in note 1(0). Timing of satisfying
the performance obligations of contracts and typical timing
of payment are set out in note 1(i).

Contract liabilities at 31 December 2024 and 2023, included
an amount of RMB2,500,000 (2023: RMB2,500,000) in
relation to an advance payment received by the Group
from a customer in relation to a service contract amounting
to RMB6,500,000 whereby the Group acts as agent, not
principal, to arrange for the provision of traditional offline
media advertising services for the customer under this
service contract.

A receipt in advance of RMB4,000,000 (2023: RMB4,000,000),
which represents the contract consideration that relates to
the advertising services to be provided by another party to
the contractual arrangement referred to above, is presented
as other payables (note 17) as it does not meet the definition
of a contract liability.

FBWE P ) AR5 8 7 W B RO 8% A
BHEE - RERBAFKRERE
FfEE10)PTE MY & St IR R TER - B
TR HE BRI E e — R R
TG

20244 K2023F12A31E A& &
B8 EBE AR 25000007T (2023
F: AR¥25000007T) © ThAEE
PR E O M — BB PRI A TER
FIE - &8 A AR E,500,0007T
BRIBEZREEL  AEEEARE
(MIFFBEFEAN) BB LHR
HERGTEBEERS -

12 AU 2 &9 Wi A R #64,000,0007T
(B8 Pt & L HE S — A iR H
MESRBEBANEGHORE) 27
REMENFIEMF17) - RER
HAREEHNEENESR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

18. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 18. B A B (&)
Movements in contract liabilities EHEEES
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

At the beginning of the year F) 12,464 10,119
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result E#ER DT AET AL AEE

of recognising revenue during the MFANRZEBNEDNE

year that was included in the contract  f& & 2>

liabilities at the beginning of the year (1,668) (2,060)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities & £ & & GRl4>) 184N

(note) (M5E) (5,547) 4,405

5,249 12,464

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total amount KiaE : B Z=2024F12A831HIEFE - &

of approximately RMB6,506,000 (2023: nil) was refunded to
certain customers due to termination of contracts mutually
agreed by the Group and these customers, which resulted in
a decrease in contract liabilities. The other movements during
the year were amounts received in advance from customers
in relation to the services to be rendered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

19. BANKLOANS

(a)

(b)

The analysis of the repayment schedule of

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

19. SRITER

(a)

RITERERFBRD MW

bank loans is as follows: T
2024 2023
20244 2023%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREFIT
Within 1 year or on demand —FERNHIRERKEER 4,500 5,000

Assets pledged as security and covenants for (b) EMBITEFEFBERR
bank loans RAENEE
2024 2023
20244 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT AR®TT
Secured bank loans BEMIEITERK 4,500 5,000

At 31 December 2024, RMB4,500,000 of the bank
facilities of the Group carrying interest at a fixed rate
of 5% per annum was guaranteed by a director of the
Company and the Company, and was secured by a
pledge of the trade receivables with gross amount of
RMB12,055,000 and net carrying amount of nil.

At 31 December 2023, RMB5,000,000 of the bank
facilities of the Group carrying interest at 5% per
annum was guaranteed by a director of the Company
and the Company, and was secured by a pledge of the
trade receivables with gross amount of RMB5,600,000
and net carrying amount of nil.

R2024%12A831H » Z&EE
1% [& F F F E5%sr B AR
TR & A K %4,500,0007T B
KRANE—RBESBERARFA
BR YAEREHEEARK
12,0550007C X ERENFBE AT
K E 5 W GRIE B o

2023%12831H * A& E
RFF K50zt ERIRTTRLE
A R #£5,000,0007T B A A A
—HREERARAER I
LA 48 88 & A R #5,600,0007T
MEEFEASNESENR
RIBVEETR -
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e UBBRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

20. LEASE LIABILITIES 20. HEEE
At 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable as 2024128318 - JEEENHEES
follows: BT :
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETTET

Within 1 year —FR - 973

21. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 21. ZREMBERRRAEBH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated (a) HEMBEARRFRENHIFEKE :
statements of financial position represents:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETTT

At the beginning of the year F 1) 2,886 2,707
Provision for PRC income tax for the — E AR Bl Fir 15 758 B 4

year (note 6(a)) (Kiite()) - 235
Income tax paid during the year FABENFER (90) (56)
At the end of the year FR 2,796 2,886
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21.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised

Movement of each component of deferred tax

assets/(liabilities)

The component of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised in the consolidated statements of financial
position and the movements during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

21. REMBRRKRAEH ()

b) ERIAEEHEBEBEE (A
&)

ELEREEE (BF SEMK
ik -

REE2024F K& 2023F12A31H
WLFE  EHEEVBRRFE
ROELERBEE(BE)H
HERKER D REEBIT -

Right-

Credit loss of-use
allowance assets Others Total

REBR  ERE

B &g Rt st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARWTR

1 January 2023 031 A18 8437 (1810) . 6627
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (note 6(a) REg (0B /3 A (Hits) -
Current year AEE - 1810 - 1810
Reversal of opening deferred tax assets AEFF A mEDBEL
resulting from reassessment WBEE (8437) - - (8437)
(8437) 1810 - (6,627)

At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024

P003E12B318 ~ 2045
118 R204E12 8311
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

21. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(c)

222

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately RMB36,006,000 (2023:
RMB25,963,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Unrecognised tax losses are all
from the PRC operations that will expire in five years,
from the year the losses were incurred.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax asset in respect of other deductible
temporary differences, mainly related to cumulative
expected credit losses on trade and other receivables
of RMB83,664,000 (2023: 96,702,000), and impairment
of prepayments to suppliers, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets for a total of
approximately RMB5,697,000 (2023: right-of-use assets,
lease liabilities, impairment of prepayments to suppliers,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
for a total of RMB5,293,000). As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to these deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilized.
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R2024F 128318 A& H
EADABEBBHOARK
36,006,0007T (20234 : AR ¥
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| o F A A TE ORI R 3R 5 ) 2R
R ERZEBIERRIE
ERBEE - AERTIEE B
HREPEER  SREEE
HEERARFERNTE -

202412 8318 - AEEINE
BEE M AT N E L R E R R R IE
ERBEE TEHBFRE
fhEBGRIEH Rt TEEEE
1B A R #83,664,0007T (20234 :
A R #£96,702,0007T) ~ A £ fE
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BEREBAREAEEERE
& H 4 A R ¥5697,0007T (2023
F - HRABEEE HEBE-
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

According to the Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") Law
and its implementation rules, dividends receivable
by non-PRC corporate residents from PRC enterprises
are subject to withholding income tax at 10%, unless
reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for profits
earned since 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2024, there was no temporary
differences relating to the undistributed profits of the
Group's PRC subsidiary (2023: nil).

21. REMBRRKRAEH ()

(d REDELEHEER

BECEMSH ([EEMB
B EREBBEERD - FEPE
TEFER B2008F1H1H
FRER % A iy U A AR BT (b %
B - BIEI0%E MBI TS
M BRIFEM B IR KL FER,
%o

M2024FE128318 - L& A 8

REBFRHRMERATNEAD K
AR ERE (203F 1 &) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 2024512 31 BIL&E

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 22. BF - mERKRSR
(a) Share capital (@ B=A
Authorised share capital of the Company RRTREERAE
2024 2023
20245 2023F
Number of Shares Number of Shares
shares capital shares capital
gy 4= MR 1 8B R AR
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Ordinary shares of SR EE01
HK$0.01 each BT
TR 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Issued and fully paid share capital of the Company ADRAEBRITRAZRAE
At 1 January MA1H 180,000,000 1,800,000 180,000,000 1,800,000
Issue of new shares RIS 1T
under placing R 19
(note (i) (Htt0)) 36,000,000 360,000 - -
Issue of new shares BIE MM EETT
under rights issue A0
(note (ii)) (Bt i) 216,000,000 2,160,000 - -
432,000,000 4,320,000 180,000,000 1,800,000
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22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(a) Share capital (Continued)

Notes:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

22, EX - RERRKRE (8)

(a)

(i On 31 January 2024, the Company and the placing
agents entered into the placing agreement pursuant
to which the placing agents agreed to place, on a best
effort basis, up to 36,000,000 placing shares at a placing
price of HK$0.471 to not less than six independent

placees who are independent third parties. On 23

February 2024, the Company and the placing agents
entered into the supplemental placing agreement
pursuant to which the placing price was amended
from HK$0.471 to HK$0.488. and the long stop date of
the placing agreement was changed from 23 February

2024 to 8 March 2024.

On 15 March 2024, a total of 36,000,000 placing
shares have been successfully placed to not less
than six independent placees. The gross proceeds
from the placing was approximately HK$17.2 million

(equivalent to approximately RMB16.2 million). The

net proceeds from the placing, after deducting
direct expenses of approximately HK$0.2 million
(equivalent to approximately RMBO0.2 million), amount
to approximately HK$17.0 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB16.0 million), which is intended to
be utilised for working capital of the Group’s operating

business.

R (&)

0]

M20245E1 A31H - AAA F)H
EEREILRE RS &
I EEREREEENE
AR E(B0471E T | D
NAREBBIAREA (BB
8 = 77) B & & %36,000,000
[i% Be & M 19 o 7202452 H23
B AAaEEERERL
WrRESHE Bt BE
B 04718 T8 5] /3048878
JC A& B m =B L
B M202452 A3 E W A
20243 A8H -

R2024F3 8150 &
36,000,0000% Fi2 & % 15 B AX 1D
R =R N NN - RVIPE )
A BEMBRBREBENA
72B8B T (HERHAR
Bie2E &8 L) cBEMBE/K
EFBENBKEERIYA
WEBBT(HERHAR
¥o2E B IL) % - X9 RB1708
BT (HERHARKI60
BEL)  BAELAEEL
BEBNEEES -
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HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(a) Share capital (Continued)

226

Notes: (Continued)

(i) On 13 August 2024, the Company raised gross
proceeds of approximately HK$51.8 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB49.4 million) before expenses
by way of a rights issue together with a compensatory
arrangement for a total of 216,000,000 new shares at a
price of HK$0.25 per rights share on the basis of one (1)
rights share for every one (1) existing share held by the
qualifying shareholders on the record date. The placing
price under the compensatory arrangement is HK$0.25
per share which is the same as the subscription price
under the rights issue. Details of the results of the
rights issue were set out in the announcement of the

Company dated 13 August 2024.

The net proceeds from the rights issue, after deducting
direct expenses of approximately HK$0.2 million
(equivalent to approximately RMBO.1 million) for the
rights issue, were approximately HK$51.6 million

(equivalent to approximately RMB49.3 million).

(i) As of 31 December 2024, ordinary shares of the
Company with a total number of 432,000,000 shares

(2023: 180,000,000 shares) were issued.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of
the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with

regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 22. EX - RERRKRE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Movements in component of equity (b) ERARTDEH
The reconciliation between the opening and AEBEGEAEESSARTD 2
closing balances of each component of the Group's FU R FREE S 72 HBRENER
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated EREBFEHHER A ANFINEF
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes EFERMEREZARI D&
in the Company’s individual components of equity B)FEIEE 0T
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Share Share Accumulated  Exchange
capital premium losses reserves Total

Bx  R#eE  RAER  EXRRE @it
RMB'000  RMB‘000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARMTR ARBTR AR®TR ARRTZ

At 1 January 2023 ROBEIRIA 1,59 91,866 (22374) (251) 70837
Loss for the year ENEE - - (83,101) - (83,101)
Other comprehensive income LurEls - - - 319 319
Total comprehensive expense PHRTER - - (83,101) 319 (82782)

At 31 December 2023 RNBENA3E 15% 91866 (105475) 68 (11.945)
At 1 January 2024 04F1 A18 15% 91,866 (105475) 68 (11945)
Loss for the year ERER - - (29852) - (29852)
Other comprehensive income LAl - - - 1,368 1,368
Total comprehensive expense PHRXEE - - (29852) 1368 (28484)
Issue of new shares under placing BERERTHRN

(note 2(a) (Wi#226)) 31 15,668 - - 15,999
Issue of new shares underrights issue IR B AR BT HT R

(note 22(a)) (Hrit226) 1979 47340 - - 49319
At 31 December 2024 0045128318 3906 154874 (135,327) 1436 24889
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HE204F12A3NHILEEFE

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

228

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The share premium at 31 December 2024
represented premium arising from capital
injection made by shareholders to the Company.

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the
funds in the Company's share premium account
are distributable to the equity shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.

(ii) Statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required
to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation,
as determined under the PRC accounting
regulations, to statutory reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of the registered capital.
The transfer to this reserve must be made before

distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve can be used to reduce previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into
capital in proportion to the existing equity

interest of investors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations
with functional currencies other than the RMB
presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 1(p).

(iv) Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between
(1) the total consideration of RMB48,731,000 due
from the Company’s shareholders arising from
reorganisation; and (2) the aggregate amount of
share capital and share premium of Icon Media of
RMB36,824,000 prior to reorganisation.

(d) Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amounts of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company was RMB20,983,000 (2023: nil) which
comprises of share premium offset by accumulated loss
and exchange reserve of the Company.

22, EX - RERRKRE (8)

() REAMERAZEE)
(iii) EREHE

[E R FREERERERE
AARBZIIEEUINE
BIERINEEENEINE
5 2 9 %% R B P A S
PE = 2 - T IRIB P i
(DFTEE TR EEE ©

(iv) EAfF#E

Hub R0 EAME
WARRNBREBREA
R #48,731,0007C : M(2)E
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36,824,0007T 7 FEIH) Z 58 ©
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22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(e) Capital management

230

The Group'’s primary objective when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt,
including bank loans (note 19), cash and cash
equivalents (note 16) and equity attributable to the
owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves as set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions. The Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is
calculated as bank loans divided by total equity of the
Group.
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22. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ek

For the year ended 31 December 2024  #EZE 2024F 12 A31 BIEFE

(Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued)

(f)

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the
reporting period was as follows:

22, EX - RERRKRE (8)

(e) BEAXEE (&)

AEERREHROERLL K

wm
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETET

Bank loans RITER
Total equity/(deficit) W, (AL 1858
Gearing ratio EiFL &

4,500 5,000
34,868 (14,303)
12.9% (35.0%)

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

Dividends
The directors have resolved not to declare any

dividends for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil).

ARRRHEN B QR HBAEST
SMNERRE NV B AR E K o

n KE
EFEREITTEIREZE2024

FNRANBIEFE ZEMRKRE
(20234 : 4#) -
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, currency and interest rate
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

232

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents and restricted deposits with a
bank is limited because the counterparties are banks
with high-credit-quality, for which the Group considers
to have low credit risk. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade and other receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due 90 days to 180 days
(2023: 90 days to 180 days) from the date of revenue
recognition. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Creditrisk (Continued)

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 28%
(2023: 22%) and 88% (2023: 75%) of the total gross
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest
customer and the five largest customers. Five (2023:
four) out of the five largest customers were determined
as credit impaired as at 31 December 2024.

The Group performs collective assessment of ECLs by
measuring loss allowances for trade receivables which
are not individually assessed as credit impaired at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer segments.

For other receivables, the Group makes periodic
individual assessment at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs on the recoverability of those other receivables
which have significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 23. ¢REKRERE (&)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EHE (&)
Trade and other receivables (Continued) BES R HEHMERTRIE ()
Collective assessment ER L

TREIIAEEE 5 UK
HASHNERRRNRBEREER

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

receivables whose ECLs were assessed on a collective EBEER
basis:
2024
20244
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rates amount allowance
FEHEER RE&AE EERE
Approximate
% RMB’000 RMB’000
BHAED AR® T AR® T
Current (not past due) BHER (R#EH7) 6 1,944 124
Less than 3 months past # 2R A 31E A
due 19 304 57
Over 3 months but less than 381 BA31& A LA E
6 months past due B 6@ A 26 334 85
2,582 266
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

23. SREAREE (/E)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (@) ERARR(E)
Trade and other receivables (Continued) B REMEBEWRRIE (&)
Collective assessment (Continued) TG ()
2023
20234
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rates amount allowance
TEHAES1E X FRE&E B E
Approximate
% RMB'000 RMB'000
BB ST AREFTT AREET T
Current (not past due) BNER (R Ef) 5 2,818 138
Less than 3 months past 81 5B D R 31E A
due 18 5,303 929
Over 3 months but less than 83 #A31&E A LA
6 months past due B> riefE A 22 5,300 1,164
13,421 2,231
Individual assessment 1E 512
In addition to above provision matrix, the Group has Br Fui B SRR SN  REED

recognised ECL loss allowances for certain customers
which were individually assessed as credit impaired. As
at 31 December 2024, the accumulated individual loss
allowance was RMB80,213,000 (2023: RMB92,871,000)
with the carrying amounts before loss allowance of

RMB80,213,000 (2023: RMB92,871,000).

20244 F F R

SERFHREERENE T
EPHBREHEEEERE-
R2024%F 128318 © 25H1E R
&5 18 B B A R 80,213,0007T
(2023%F : AR¥92,:871,0007T)
MEEREINEEEAAR
#80,213,0007T (2023%F : AR#&
92,871,0007T) °
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

236

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The Group used judgement in assessing the expected
credit loss rate and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, mainly based on the ageing of
overdue trade receivables, historical payment profiles
and the corresponding historical credit losses rate of
the Group's customers, current market conditions and
forecast of future economic conditions at the end of
each reporting period.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

23. SREAREE (/E)

(a)

= ARk (&)
B 5 K E W E (&)

AEEDRFEEBEEBE
B E ) T 30 5 BB RORUE
AENBAE DETERES
BERRAEERZFPNEBRE
Z RMGRIARR &L ~ B 2 ST
MNERELEEBEE M
SIRMN SR KA A S TER

FAREEZRYGKABBENE

trade receivables during the year is as follows: BEREREEHOT :
Loss
allowance
EERE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2023 202341 B1H A 4 64 31,367
Impairment losses recognised during the year N B FER R B E B 63,735
Balance at 31 December 2023 and PR2023F12A31H &
1 January 2024 20241 A1 E R 95,102
Net reversal of impairment losses recognised 4 A 2 # 72 8k (B /&5 18 % [0 /5 58
during the year (14,623)
Balance at 31 December 2024 2024512 A31 B 0 & 84 80,479
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
other receivables during the year is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR ME
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

23. SREAREE (/E)

(a)

= ARk (&)
B 5 K E W E (&)

£ 77 B LA R OB B0 5 1R
BEEZBNT :

Loss
allowance
BiEEE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2023 202341 B1H M & 64 2,380
Net reversal of impairment losses recognised  £F ) 2 #E 32 6l (B J&5 18 % [0 % 58
during the year (780)
Balance at 31 December 2023 and PR20235F12 31 H k202451 A1H
1 January 2024 B 45 g4 1,600
Net reversal of impairment losses recognised — 4F A 2 F& 72 6l (B /&5 18 % [0] % 58
during the year (35)
Balance at 31 December 2024 2024512 H31 B BB R 1,565
Liquidity risk (b) REESREM

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

AEBEHNBRRSERERER
BHESFRLEETRERY
EIE S - A BEIR B A 4 8 R 3R
TfERHNMNETZYHREEAR
REZTHOREBEAENE
RELRERRBESHR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

23. SREAREE (/E)

(b)

The following tables show the remaining contractual

maturities at the end of the reporting period of

the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

payments computed using contractual rates) and the

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

REBE SRR (&)

TRERAEENSRAGBRN
BEHRNBRTAOEHB
o RFERTDERA KR
AReRE(BRERAOFN
FHENNENR) RAKHE
WESK ) RF B -

As at 31 December 2024

72024%12H31H
Within
1 year or Carrying
on demand Total amount
—FRH
RER At IREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR%®Tx AR¥TxR
Bank loans IRITER 4,614 4,614 4,500
Trade and other payables B 5 K
H i &~ RIR 11,079 11,079 11,079
15,693 15,693 15,579
As at 31 December 2023
202312 A31H
Within
1 year or Carrying
on demand Total amount
—FRK
RER #ET ARMEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®FTT ARBTET
Bank loans RITE R 5,031 5,031 5,000
Lease liabilities HE&E 993 993 973
Trade and other payables &5 K
H fth JE A IR 19,260 19,260 19,260
25,284 25,284 25,233
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Currency risk

Individual companies within the Group have limited
foreign currency risk as most of the transactions are
denominated in the same currency as the functional
currency of the operations in which they relate.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
short-term bank borrowings. Borrowings issued at fixed
rate expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider appropriate
hedging policy when necessary.

24, MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Key management personnel compensation

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in note 7, is as follows:
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23. SREAREE (/E)

()

(d)
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A& B A E R 785 R
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MHEE®EE -

R 2= @b

MExRER SR T EMARRE
TRENAABESETSH
REPMEBHER - AEH
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RoAM AEEEEEER
MEREE IHROEREE
R RSP ER o

24, EXBEHARS

(a)

FTEEEASRM

FEEFZEBASNFM(E
RSB T ARAE
EORB) AT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARETT

Salaries and other benefits FehHMmER 1,983 3,106
Retirement scheme of defined TF BB FORIKET B

contribution 202 208

2,185 3,314

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note
5(b)).

20244 F F R

FiMemEst AT TRk A (B
FE5(0)) ©
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24. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Other material related parties transactions

240

and balances

() The Group rendered media services to related
parties that included companies that were
owned or under significant influence by a close
family member of the substantial shareholder
and chairman of the Group. The service
revenue for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB6,819,000 (2023: RMB6,403,000)
and the amount of trade receivables and
contract liabilities at 31 December 2024
were RMB1,771,000 (2023: RMB314,000) and
RMB687,000 (2023: RMB6,438,000) respectively.

(i)  The Group purchased media resources from
related parties that included companies that were
owned or under significant influence by a close
family member of the controlling shareholder
and chairman of the Group. The resource
procurement for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB2,220,000 (2023: RMB2,359,000) and
the amount payables at 31 December 2024 were

RMB528,000 (2023: RMB606,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

24. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Other material related parties transactions
and balances (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

The Group leased office premises from
related parties that included companies that
were owned or under significant influence
by a close family member of the controlling
shareholder and chairman of the Group. The
rental and management fee for the year ended
31 December 2024 was RMB1,572,000 (2023:
RMB1,704,000) and the deposit receivables at
31 December 2024 were RMB293,000 (2023:
RMB293,000).

As at 31 December 2024, included in the trade
receivables is a balance with a related company,
which is owned as to 50% of its equity interest
indirectly by a company controlled by the
chairman of the Company and his close family
member, with carrying amount of RMB847,000
(2023: Nil). The Group rendered services for
advertising solutions and traditional offline media
advertising services to this related company
and recognised revenue of RMB2,525,000 (2023:
RMB919,000) during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMKRRMETE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE 20245 12 31 BILFE

25. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 25. ARIEEMBMRR R
POSITION

(Expressed in Renminbi) (U B #57)
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

g3 ARBTRT ARETT

Non-current assets ERBEE

Investment in a subsidiary RH B A RRIRE 12 - ¥

Current asset RBEE

Other receivables H b fE R IB 41,849 -

Cash and cash equivalents e LIRS EEBY 1,110 27
42,959 27

Current liabilities RBEE

Other payables H A fE - 5R18 112 86

Other current liabilities HEtmEas 17,958 11,886
18,070 11,972

Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (868 FE 24,889 (11,945)

Net assets/(liabilities) BE(8E) 2E 24,889 (11,945)

Capital and reserves EXR#EE

Share capital A& s 22(b) 3,906 1,596

Reserves g 20,983 (13,541)

Total equity/(deficit) (B4 #%E 24,889 (11,945)

* As the amount of share capital is less than RMB1,000, it is * R A £ R AR E1,0007T

represented as nil for presentation purpose. MEYMms HIRAEZ -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In respect of the contractual arrangement involving the
service contract whereby the Group acts as agent as
disclosed in notes 15 and 18, as at 31 December 2024 and
2023, the directors of the Company estimated that the
possibility of legal claims from the supplier and possible
obligation of the Group for an outflow of cash for an
additional amount of RMB4,000,000, representing the
balance of the contract sum with the supplier under the
contractual arrangement, may or may not materialise in
future and are subject to one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control by the Group, even though
the Group considered that the supplier to the contractual
arrangement had not satisfied all its performance obligations
under the contract arrangement.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

published audited financial statements, is set out below:

B E AR E

Year ended 31 December

TXEHINAEERBERETRFELZ
XEUMEEMBEMRE  IREAE

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFTr ARETT AREFTRT ARETTT
Revenue Urzs 21,948 25,424 68,969 175,360 268,612
(Loss)/profit before BE A (B51E)

taxation & A (17,814) (77,785) (46,551) 7,620 85,683
Income tax FTigHt - (6,862) 7,363 (2,749) (22,952)
(Loss)/profit for theyear ZAQAFEHRE

attributable to equity EEER

shareholders of the (B8E),/

Company s F (17,814) (84,647) (39,188) 4871 62,731
Total assets BEALRE 58,492 26,280 138,965 194,055 199,495
Total liabilities EEHEE 23,624 40,583 68,611 81,798 92,070
Total equity/(deficit) B (B4

R 34,868 (14,303) 70,354 112,257 107,425
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